## Georgia State University

# ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

**Biomedical Sciences Dissertations** 

Institute for Biomedical Sciences

Fall 12-13-2021

# Broad cross-protection by recombinant influenza viruses expressing conserved M2e- hemagglutinin chimera and virus-like particles in young and aged mice

Bo Ryoung Park bpark9@student.gsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/biomedical\_diss

## **Recommended Citation**

Park, Bo Ryoung, "Broad cross-protection by recombinant influenza viruses expressing conserved M2ehemagglutinin chimera and virus-like particles in young and aged mice." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2021.

doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/26827412

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Institute for Biomedical Sciences at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biomedical Sciences Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Broad cross-protection by recombinant influenza viruses expressing conserved M2e-

hemagglutinin chimera and virus-like particles in young and aged mice

by

Bo Ryoung Park

Under the Direction of Sang-Moo Kang, Ph.D.

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the Institute for Biomedical Sciences

Georgia State University

2021

#### ABSTRACT

Current influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA)-based vaccines leave a significant gap to improve the vaccine effectiveness against mismatched strains and for the elderly. The goal of my dissertation research projects was to develop influenza vaccination strategies for inducing more effective cross-protection in mouse animal models.

In chapter one, I investigated whether enhanced cross-protection would be induced after vaccination with recombinant influenza H3N2 virus expressing extra conserved M2e epitopes in a chimeric HA molecule (rgH3N2 4xM2e). Intranasal vaccination of BALB/c mice with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus induced humoral and cellular immune responses to M2e and conferred broad cross-protection against the different subtypes of influenza viruses. These findings provide evidence that new recombinant virus vaccination can enhance the cross-protective efficacy by inducing immunity to HA and M2e.

The concerns about negative impacts on the efficacy of repeated influenza vaccination have been raised. In the second chapter, I studied the impact of heterologous prime-boost vaccinations on cross-protection utilizing recombinant H1N1 and H3N2 subtype influenza viruses expressing chimeric HA (4xM2e-HA) in C57BL/6 mice known to be a lower responder than BALB/c mice. I demonstrated that heterologous prime-boost immunization with recombinant 4xM2e-HA viruses was more effective in inducing cross-protective M2e and HA stalk specific IgG antibodies and cross-protection than homologous prime-boost immunization. The research outcomes from project two support the positive impacts of a heterologous prime-boost strategy on conferring more effective cross-protection. In the last chapter, I determined whether influenza HA virus-like particle (HA VLP) vaccination would induce homologous and heterologous protection in aged (18-month-old) BALB/c mice, in comparison with young adult (6-8 weeks old) mice. I found that higher doses of HA VLP were required in aged mice to induce homologous and heterologous protection. Aged mice displayed a lower capacity to induce IgG antibodies cross-reactive to different viral antigens and HA stalk domains, suggesting limited diversity of de novo B cell repertoire. Notably, incorporation of cytokine molecular adjuvants onto HA VLP enhanced protective efficacies as evidenced by more effective lung viral controls in aged mice. These findings provide insights into developing an effective vaccination strategy in the elderly.

INDEX WORDS: Influenza virus, vaccine, live-attenuated virus (LAIV), virus-like particle (VLP),

M2e, cross-protection

Copyright by Bo Ryoung Park 2021 Broad cross-protection by recombinant influenza viruses expressing conserved M2e-

hemagglutinin chimera and virus-like particles in young and aged mice

by

Bo Ryoung Park

Committee Chair: Sang-Moo Kang

Committee: Timothy Denning

**Baozhong Wang** 

Electronic Version Approved: December 9, 2021

Office of Academic Assistance – Graduate Programs

Institute for Biomedical Sciences

Georgia State University

November 2021

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this to my husband, Park/Kwon families, and three aunts from the Chi family

who inspire me to be the best version of myself.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my Ph.D. mentor Dr. Sang-Moo Kang, for his generous supports and valuable scientific expertise. I truly appreciate Dr. Kang for putting in the extra time and effort to help me grow and succeed as an independent scientist.

I would also like to thank my committee, Dr. Timothy Denning and Dr. Baozhong Wang for their support and guidance on this long journey of PhD studies and scientific career. The scientific guidance I have received through my study years has been invaluable to me.

I wholeheartedly appreciate former and current members in the Kang laboratory for their valuable reagents, great help, and co-operation throughout my whole Ph.D. studies.

Personally, I thank my parents and brother for all your love, support, and tireless encouragement during my Ph.D. studies and throught my whole life. Also, I would like to thank the Kwon family for their love and continuous prayers. I would like to give special thanks to my three incredible aunts who were/is very strong, intelligent, wise, and independent.

Lastly, it is my privilege to thank my husband, Howard. Thank you for being there for me. I cannot put into words how much I truly appreciate your love, trust, understanding, and support. Without you, none of this would indeed be possible. Thank you for everything.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSV
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESXIV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSXVIII
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Influenza virus1
1.2 Influenza virus life cycle2
1.3 Targets for influenza vaccines
1.3.1 Hemagglutinin (HA)
1.3.2 Neuraminidase (NA)4
1.3.3 Matrix Protein 2 (M2)5
1.4 Reverse genetics
1.5 Immune responses of intranasal vaccination versus intramuscular vaccination7
1.6 Immunosenescence in the elderly9
1.7 Hypothesis and Research Objectives 11
2 BROAD CROSS-PROTECTION BY RECOMBINANT LIVE ATTENUATED INFLUENZA H3N2
SEASONAL VIRUS EXPRESSING CONSERVED M2 EXTRACELLULAR DOMAIN IN A
CHIMERIC HEMAGGLUTININ 14

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.1 Abstract 14
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Materials and Methods17
2.3.1 Cells and viruses17
2.3.2 Generation of recombinant reassortant rgH3N2 virus containing 4xM2e-HA 17
2.3.3 Characterization and pathogenicity of reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e-HA virus 18
2.3.4 Immunizations and virus challenge of mice19
2.3.5 Antibody ELISA and hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) assays
2.3.6 In Vivo T-Cell depletion21
2.3.7 Intracellular cytokine staining of T cells21
2.3.8 In vivo efficacy tests of immune sera21
2.3.9 In vitro IgG antibody detection and cytokine ELISA assays
2.3.10 Statistical analysis22
2.4 Results 22
2.4.1 Generation of reassortant influenza H3N2 virus vaccine containing 4xM2e in an HA
conjugate22
2.4.2 Reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus is attenuated in mice but does not compromise
replication capacity in egg substrates25

2.4.3 Prime dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus induces M2e specific IgG isotype antibody
responses
2.4.4 Prime dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccination provides broad cross-protection 28
2.4.5 Priming with rgH3N2 4xM2e virus results in enhanced responses of M2e specific
IgG and IgA antibodies in mucosal respiratory and systemic sites upon challenge
2.4.6 Depletion of CD4 and CD8 T cells results in differential cross-protection between
rgH3N2 4xM2e and rgH3N2 prime vaccination
2.4.7 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e further enhances M2e antibodies
2.4.8 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection and correlates with higher
M2e specific IgG levels and lower inflammatory cytokines in the respiratory sites
2.5 Discussion 42
2.6 Acknowledgement 47
3 ENHANCED CROSS-PROTECTION BY HETERO PRIME-BOOST VACCINATION WITH
RECOMBINANT INFLUENZA VIRUSES CONTAINING CHIMERIC HEMAGGLUTININ-M2E
EPITOPES
3.1 Abstract 48
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Cells and viruses51
3.3.2 Construction of attenuated A/PR8 backbone H1N1 and H3N2 viruses expressing
chimeric 4xM2e-HA 51
3.3.3 Characterization and pathogenicity assessment of recombinant viruses
3.3.4 Immunization and influenza virus challenge in mice
3.3.5 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)54
3.3.6 Hemagglutination Inhibition (HAI) Titers
3.3.7 Preparation of lung samples54
3.3.8 Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) analysis
3.3.9 Statistical analysis55
3.4 Results 56
3.4.1 In vitro and in vivo virological characterization of recombinant influenza viruses
containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA56
3.4.2 H1N1 virus prime and heterologous boost with recombinant viruses carrying
4xM2e-HA induces enhanced M2e specific IgG and differential levels of HA stalk
specific IgG antibodies59
3.4.3 Strain specific HAI titers were induced by heterosubtypic prime boost chimeric
recombinant influenza virus vaccination63
3.4.4 Hetero boost with recombinants 4xM2e-HA viruses in H1N1 M2e primed mice
improves cross protection against rgH5N1 virus

3.4.5 Hetero boost in H3N2-primed mice with attPR8 M2e virus effectively induce M2e
IgG antibodies67
3.4.6 Hetero boost vaccination in H3N2-primed mice induces effective protection
against heterologous H3N2 virus70
3.5 Discussion
3.6 Acknowledgements
4 HEMAGGLUTININ VIRUS-LIKE PARTICLE IS IMMUNOGENIC AND PROVIDES HETEROLOGOUS
PROTECTION AGAINST INFLUENZA VIRUS IN YOUNG ADULT AND AGED MICE
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and Methods 80
4.3.1 Preparation of influenza virus-like particles (VLPs)
4.3.2 Immunization and virus challenges
4.3.3 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)82
4.3.4 Hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers
4.3.5 Assays of lung viral titers and inflammatory cytokines
4.3.6 Intracellular cytokine staining of T cells83
4.3.7 Statistical analysis
4.4 Results

4.4.1 PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy vaccines are immunogenic in aged mice at a higher
dose compared to young adult mice84
4.4.2 Aged mice induce low levels of cross-reactive IgG antibody responses after HA VLP
or HA-Cy VLP vaccination88
4.4.3 HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP induces hemagglutination inhibition activity against
homologous at higher levels in young adult than those in aged mice
4.4.4 A low dose HA VLP confers homologous protection in young adult mice whereas
higher dose HA VLP is required for protection in aged mice
4.4.5 HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccine even at low dose provides heterologous cross-
protection against A/WSN in young adult mice
4.4.6 Aged mice require a higher dose HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccine to induce
heterologous cross-protection93
4.4.7 PR8 HA VLP vaccine provides heterologous cross-protection against antigenically
distant A/California/2009 virus in young adult mice
4.4.8 Male BALB/c mice induce comparable immune responses and cross-protection
after PR8 HA VLP vaccination96
4.5 Discussion
5 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION 102
5.1 Enhanced cross-protection by a single intranasal dose of recombinant influenza virus
vaccine inducing M2e and HA immunity102

5.2 Improvement of cross-protection by inducing both HA and M2e immunities with
heterologous prime-boost immunization with recombinant influenza virus vaccines
5.3 Influenza vaccination for the elderly109
5.4 A new platform of mRNA-based next generation influenza vaccines 112
6 REFERENCES 112
7 VITAE 129

xii

## LIST OF TABLES

# Table 1.1 M2e sequences utilized for rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccine and reassortant challenge

/iruses	24
---------	----

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Reassortants rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e virus expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA are
attenuated in vivo
Figure 2 ELISA assays to characterize 6:2 reassortants rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses
generated by reverse genetics (rg) using the A/PR8 backbone
Figure 3 . Growth kinetics for rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e in MDCK cells
Figure 4 Intranasal prime inoculation of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus induces M2e specific serum
IgG isotype antibody responses27
Figure 5 IgG antibody responses to humanM2e, swine M2e, and avian M2e peptides after
prime or prime boost vaccination with rgH3N2 4xM2e
Figure 6 A single dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus provides enhanced heterosubtypic cross-
protection against different subtype influenza A viruses
Figure 7 A single dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus provides enhanced heterosubtypic cross-
protection against A/PR8 (H1N1) reassortants containing avian M gene or rgH9N2
virus
Figure 8 Body weight changes in BALB/c mice after challenge with A/California virus
containing swine M2
Figure 9 Prime dose rgH3N2 4xM2e provides enhanced protection against heterologous H3N2
A/Phil virus and M2e specific IgG and IgA antibodies in mucosal sites
Figure 10 Single inoculation of rgH3N2 4xM2e virus effectively primes M2e and virus specific
immune responses
Figure 11 Measurement of M2e specific CD8 <sup>+</sup> cells secreting IFN-γ by flow cytometry

Figure 12 The efficacy of CD4 and CD8 T cell depletion in vaccinated mice after CD4 and CD8 T
cell depleting antibody treatment37
Figure 13 The roles of CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells in cross-protection by reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e
prime inoculation
Figure 14 Depletion of CD4 and CD8 T cells results in differential cross-protection between
rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice
Figure 15 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection against A/Phil (H3N2)
challenge, correlating with M2e specific IgG levels and lower inflammatory cytokine 39
Figure 16 Intranasal boost vaccination with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus further enhances rgH3N2
virus specific IgG and HAI antibodies40
Figure 17 Boost with rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection against heterosubtypic A/Viet
rgH5N1 virus by vaccination and immune sera42
Figure 18 In vitro characterization of recombinant influenza viruses containing M2e epitopes
(4xM2e) in chimeric HA conjugates
Figure 19 Pathogenicity of recombinant influenza viruses in mice
Figure 20 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, different viruses, and HA stalk domains after hetero
boost with recombinant viruses in H1N1 primed61
Figure 21 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, viruses, and HA stalk domains after prime dose
immunization with attPR8 or attPR8 M2e62
Figure 22 IgG antibody responses in 1-year-old mice after attPR8 or attPR8 M2e vaccination 62
Figure 23 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, different viruses, and HA stalk domains in 1 year old
C57BL/6J mice after attPR8 M2e prime and H3N2 M2e boost

Figure 24 HAI titers against hetero prime and boost viruses
Figure 25 Hetero boost immunization with 4xM2e-HA chimeric virus enhances cross
protection against A/Viet rgH5N1 virus
Figure 26 Heterosubtypic attPR8 M2e prime H3N2 M2 boost intranasal vaccination protects
one-year-old C57BL/6J mice against A/Viet rgH5N1 virus challenge67
Figure 27 Intranasal heterosubtypic boost with chimeric 4xM2e-HA A/PR8 virus enhances
M2e IgG responses in H3N2 primed mice69
Figure 28 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, viruses, and HA stalk domains after prime
vaccination with H3N2 or H3N2 M2e70
Figure 29 H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e prime-boost vaccination provides effective lung viral
control after heterologous A/Phil H3N2 virus challenge71
Figure 30 Heterosubtypic sequential immunization with recombinant influenza A viruses
carrying 4xM2e-HA induces ADCC activity74
Figure 31 Preparation of PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy VLP vaccines
Figure 32 Intramuscular immunization of PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy VLP induces IgG
antibodies specific for homologous A/PR8 virus in young and aged mice
Figure 33 A/PR8 specific serum IgG isotype antibody responses after boost dose of PR8 HA
<b>VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP</b>
Figure 34 IgG antibody reactivities to A/WSN, A/Cal and group 1 stalk domain induced by
vaccination with PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP in young and aged mice
Figure 35 Serum hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers against homologous and
heterologous viruses

Figure 36 Aged mice need a higher dose of PR8 HA-Cy VLP to induce protection against
homologous A/PR8 virus than young adult mice91
Figure 37 Aged mice require a higher dose of PR8 HA-Cy VLP to provide cross-protection
against A/WSN virus than young adult mice93
Figure 38 PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP vaccination reduced inflammatory cytokines and
induced T cell responses in young and aged mice
Figure 39 PR8 HA VLP vaccination induces survival protection against heterologous A/Cal
virus in young mice
Figure 40 Comparable levels of serum IgG antibody responses are induced in female and male
young adult mice after PR8 HA VLP immunization97
Figure 41 Male young adult mice vaccinated with PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP are protected
against heterologous A/WSN or A/Cal virus challenge

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

аа	amino acid
ADCC	Antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADP	antibody-dependent phagocytosis
ADP	antibody-dependent phagocytosis
BALF	bronchoalveolar lavage fluid
са	cold adapted
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium media
EID50	50% egg infectious doses
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GPI	glycosylated phosphatidylinositol
HA	hemagglutinin
HAI	hemagglutination inhibition
HAU	hemagglutination activity unit
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
i.m.	intramuscular
i.n.	intranasal
IFN	Interferon
lgA	immunoglobulin A
lgG	immunoglobulin G
IIV	inactivated influenza virus vaccine
IL	Interleukin
ISM	immunostimulatory molecule
LAIV	live-attenuated influenza virus vaccine
LD50	median lethal dose
LRT	lower respiratory tract
M2e	extracellular domain of Matrix 2
MALT	mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue
MDCK	Madin-Darby Canine Kidney
MDV	master donor virus
NA	neuraminidase
NAe	100% conserved epitope in the NA (aa222–230)
OAS	original antigenic sin
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
rBV	recombinant baculovirus
RDE	receptor destroying enzyme

rg	reverse genetic
SA	sialic acid
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SHM	somatic hypermutation
slgA	secretory immunoglobulin A
TCID50	Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose
TM	transmembrane
ТМВ	tetramethylbenzidine substrates
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
URT	upper respiratory tract
VE	vaccine effectiveness
VLPs	virus-like particles

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Influenza virus

Influenza virus causes a contagious respiratory disease accompanied by moderate to severe symptoms that can lead to death. The CDC estimates 12,000 to 61,000 annual deaths since 2010 in the U.S. Out of 4 genera of influenza (types A, B, C, and D), influenza A and influenza B are clinically related in human disease and cause seasonal influenza epidemics annually. Influenza A has been evolving faster and more diverse than influenza B accompanied by changes in their amino acid and antigenic properties (Nobusawa and Sato, 2006). Influenza A belonging to the Orthomyxoviridae family possesses eight segmented genomes of negative-sense single-stranded RNA in the form of viral ribonucleoprotein particles (polymerase basic protein 2 (PB2), polymerase basic protein 1 (PB1), polymerase acidic protein (PA), hemagglutinin (HA), nucleoprotein (NP), neuraminidase (NA), matrix (M), and nonstructural (NS)). Influenza A viruses are subdivided into antigenically different subtypes based on the two major surface glycoproteins, hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA). 16 HAs and 9 NAs have been described to involve influenza A reassortment from a total of 18 HAs (H1-H18) and 11 NAs (N1-N11) that include bat influenza A-like viruses (Krammer et al., 2018b). Influenza A is solely responsible for a pandemic that occurs due to the emergence of novel strains/subtypes of viruses with its broad variety of animal species reservoirs (Long et al., 2019). Prior history of pandemic records includes 1918 H1N1,1957 H2N2, 1968 H3N2, and 2009 H1N1 influenza A viruses (Taubenberger et al., 2019). The 1918 H1N1 pandemic caused an estimate of 50 million deaths worldwide, while the 1957 H2N2 pandemic and the 1968 H3N2 pandemic each reported approximately one million lives (Taubenberger et al., 2019). The most recent 2009 H1N1

pandemic claimed about 284,000 deaths (Nickol and Kindrachuk, 2019). The influenza A viruses can be divided into two groups based on the phylogenetic differences in HA proteins. H1, H2, H5, H6, H8, H9, H11, H12, H13, H16, H17, and H18 belong to Group 1 and group 2 comprises H3, H4, H7, H10, H14, and H15 (Sutton et al., 2017).

## 1.2 Influenza virus life cycle

Influenza virus infects respiratory tracts and mainly replicates in epithelial cells. Virus infection starts with binding to the host epithelial cells in the upper respiratory tracts. HA plays a role for this attachment by recognizing sialic acid on the cellular surface with host specificity. HA proteins from human adapted influenza viruses bind preferentially to  $\alpha$ -2,6 sialic acid (SA) that abundant in the human upper respiratory tract (URT) while the avian influenza viruses tend to bind to  $\alpha$ -2,3 SA that found on epithelial cells of the human lower respiratory tract (LRT) and birds' intestinal tract (Shao et al., 2017, Krammer et al., 2018b). Viruses are then internalized into the cells by endocytosis. The conformational change of HA induced by acidification involves the fusion between the viral envelop and cellular membrane. Released eight viral genetic materials: PB2, PB1, PA, HA, NP, NA, M, and NS in the cytoplasm are imported into the nucleus of the host cells for transcription and replication. The RNA polymerase complex composed of three subunits such as PB2, PB1, and PA is responsible for both transcription and replication. The 8<sup>th</sup> RNA gene segment, NS encodes two proteins including NS1 and NS2, and RNA segment 7 (M) carrying to open reading frames encodes M1 and M2 proteins. Budding of new virions from the host plasma membrane is facilitated by NA that separates and release the viruses through SAs removal following the hydrolysis of the glycosidic linkage (Dou et al., 2018).

#### **1.3 Targets for influenza vaccines**

Vaccine components are annually updated by WHO with the prediction of virus strains that would be circulated for the upcoming influenza season. However, the influenza vaccine effectiveness was estimated between 10% and 60% during 2004-2020 season (CDC, 2021e). Current hemagglutinin (HA)-based seasonal vaccines are suboptimal in providing crossprotection against antigenically distinct influenza viruses due to the hypervariability of HA. If the vaccine strains mismatch with circulating viruses, the vaccine effectiveness can be dramatically reduced. The shortcoming of current influenza virus vaccines necessitates the development of more effective and universal vaccines such as by targeting highly conserved viral epitopes to confer cross-protection against newly emerging influenza viruses.

#### 1.3.1 Hemagglutinin (HA)

Hemagglutinin (HA) is most abundant surface glycoprotein of influenza virus (Wu and Wilson, 2020) with 300-400 HA spikes. HAO is a HA precursor and must be cleaved into HA1-HA1 dimer form that is linked by single disulfide bonds for viral infection. The presence of a polybasic HA cleavage site is associated with high virulence. Immunodominant head domain located central part of HA1 is the primary target of the antibody response (inducing neutralizing antibodies) but antigenically highly variable. All antigenic sites are presented in the globular head domain in H1 and H3 HAs. By contrast, immunosubdominant HA stalk found in HA2 is the highly conserved (Nachbagauer and Palese, 2020). Antibodies specific to highly conserved HA stalk domain have been described to confer broad protection with neutralizing activity and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC). To enhance the immunogenicity of the HA stalk domain, headless HA constructs have been generated (Impagliazzo et al., 2015, Yassine et al., 2015). Also,

a sequential chimeric HA (HAs carrying identical stalk domain but antigenically different HA subtype head domains) immunization strategy has been developed (Hai et al., 2012, Chen et al., 2016). A phase I clinical study reporting the safety and ability of chimeric HA-based vaccines to induce cross-reactive anti-HA stalk domain antibodies suggested the potential as a universal vaccine development (Nachbagauer et al., 2021). Recently, a conserved protective determinant in the HA head domain from the interface of the HA trimer has been newly found. The antibodies to the conserved head domain showed inhibition of cell-to-cell virus spread (Bangaru et al., 2019).

### 1.3.2 Neuraminidase (NA)

Neuraminidase (NA) is the second major glycoprotein (10- 20%) on the virion surface, with about 40-50 NA spikes (McAuley et al., 2019). NA is less variable and shows lower antigenic mutation rates compared to HA (Sandbulte et al., 2011). Antibodies to NA are mostly nonneutralizing and have been known to inhibit virus budding from the host cells. Moreover, anti-NA antibodies induce cross-protective immunity within a subtype and confer protection against lethal infection in animal models. In research performed with guinea pigs showed that NA-based vaccination prevented the transmission of the virus (McMahon et al., 2019). An independent role in the protection of antibodies to viral NA has been suggested (Monto et al., 2015, Walz et al., 2018). Almost 100% conserved epitope in the NA (NAe, NA amino acids 222–230, located close to the enzymatic active site) was demonstrated in all influenza A subtypes and influenza B viruses (Stadlbauer et al., 2019, Gravel et al., 2010). This universally conserved NA epitope has been suggested as a potential cross-protective target for vaccine design. The current vaccines including inactivated virus and live attenuated virus vaccines, are poorly immunogenic to induce NA2e specific antibodies. To enhance the immunogenicity of NAe, recombinant influenza virus carrying chimeric HA conjugates with NAe epitope was generated, and the contribution of NAe for cross-protection was recently reported (Kim et al., 2020).

## 1.3.3 Matrix Protein 2 (M2)

Matrix protein 2 (M2, 97 amino acids) found in influenza A virus is an integral transmembrane protein that consists of the N-terminal ectodomain (M2e, aa2-24), transmembrane (TM) domain (aa25-46), and amphiphilic C-terminal cytoplasmic tail (aa47-97) (Du et al., 2021). The M2 protein is a proton-selective ion channel responsible for internal acidification (by fluxing of H<sup>+</sup> ions) of the influenza virus, which is crucial for viral entry and egress (Liang et al., 2016). The low pH of the endosome induces the HA-mediated membrane fusion. The extracellular domain M2e is evolutionary highly conserved, contains its eight N-terminal residues (aa2-9, SLLTEVET) which co-translated with matrix protein and thus exhibit more than 99% similarity in all influenza A viruses (Liu et al., 2005). The antibodies specific for M2e were detected during virus infection (Nachbagauer and Palese, 2020) and M2e antibodies have been shown to be protective in animals including mice and ferrets (El Bakkouri et al., 2011, Mezhenskaya et al., 2021b, Wise et al., 2012). M2e-based immunity is infection permissive that does not neutralize the virus, while reducing the clinical symptoms. (Schotsaert et al., 2013). The mechanism of protection is known to rely on Fc-mediated antibody functions such as antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP) and antibodydependent complement activation (Vanderven and Kent, 2020). Also, T cell responses of M2especific CD4+ and CD8+ have been found to contribute to protection (Wu et al., 2007, Eliasson et al., 2018). The M2 protein is abundantly expressed on the infected cell surface, however, natural

influenza virus infection induces a weak anti-M2e antibody response (Feng et al., 2006). A possible reason for this low immunogenicity can be the small size of M2e with its low number of copies incorporated into the virion compared to other large surface glycoproteins such as HA and NA (Hutchinson et al., 2014). Therefore, M2e based vaccines have been focusing on improving the reactivity of M2e, for example M2e presenting virus-like particles (VLPs), flagellin-linked M2e, or DNA or RNA vectors are used (Schepens et al., 2018). M2e-based vaccines are not available yet, but they have been undergoing extensive trials in preclinical animal models and also clinical trials (Mezhenskaya et al., 2019). Although the induced antibodies specific for the conserved domains have been suggested to contribute to cross-protection, their protective efficacy tends to be weak. Antibodies against these conserved domains are relatively rare in humans because those epitopes are immunosubdominant. M2e- or NA-based vaccines induce non-neutralizing immunity that is less effective for protection compared to neutralizing immunity elicited by conventional HA globular head-based vaccines. Although HA stalk-based vaccine induces neutralizing antibodies, it is insufficient to confer strong protection possibly due to the poor accessibility of the antibodies to the HA stalk domain on the virus and inability to block the entry of virus infection. In contrast to the HA head specific antibodies, the antibodies against M2e, HA stalk, and NA do not inhibit the viral entry into the host cells and this might be able to provide a higher chance of allowing virus replication (Jang and Seong, 2014).

#### **1.4 Reverse genetics**

The nature of the influenza virus allowing the reassortment due it its segmented genomes has been utilized in the laboratory to generate reassortant viruses for their use as vaccines (either inactivated or live-attenuated influenza vaccines). The reverse genetics system using eight plasmids (encoding influenza viral RNA segments) enabled to creation of recombinant influenza viruses (Neumann et al., 1999). The cold-adapted (ca) A/Ann Arbor/6/60 (USA/Canada, and Europe) and ca A/Leningrad/134/17/57 (in Russia, India, and China) have been approved as a master donor virus (MDV) for human usage.

The PR8-based (A/PR/8/34) reverse genetics technique is widely used in the laboratory to generate reassorted virus strains. The mutations in polymerase genes (PB1 and PB2) have been known to be critical for attenuation of A/PR8 (He et al., 2013).

#### 1.5 Immune responses of intranasal vaccination versus intramuscular vaccination

Route of vaccination can affect immune responses. While intramuscular (i.m.) vaccination mainly induces a systemic immune response, intranasal (i.n.) vaccination can elicit both mucosal (at the local/distal mucosal sites) and systemic immune responses. The muscle blood rapidly takes the intramuscularly administered vaccine antigens and travels to the draining lymphoid tissues of the body (Oberdan Leo, 2011). However, non-invasive intranasal vaccines spread into the body at a relatively slower rate. Conventionally, i.m. vaccination mainly induces the secretion of IgG and IgA antibodies into the systemic blood systems. Meanwhile, i.n. vaccination induces systemic IgG (at relatively low levels) and IgA antibodies at local mucosal sites where are considered as frontline immunity by protecting respiratory or mucosal pathogens at the initial infection sites. Mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) is a specialized tissue for the mucosal immune system (Mohn et al., 2018). Mucosal IgA shows cross-reactivity against virus variants. In mucosal immunity, dimeric secretory IgA (sIgA) fulfills a crucial role as a significant immunoglobulin on mucosal surfaces, which confer local protection against bacterial and viral pathogens in the nasal mucosa. Polymeric sigA is more effective than monomeric serum such as

IgA or IgG since it can transfer to the mucous actively by transcytosis, and it is protected against degradation by the secretory components. sIgA recognizes commensal microbes and inhibits their overgrowth. Also, sIgA binds to luminal microbes and toxins to protect them from attaching to mucosal epithelial cells (Corthesy, 2013). Mucosal IgG also plays essential role in neutralizing the pathogens or mediating opsonization. The most common route of vaccination for the influenza vaccine is i.m. with an inactivated influenza virus vaccine (IIV). After vaccine administration, antigens are picked up by antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages. APCs move towards lymph nodes draining the site of injection. Upon the antigen encountering, the adaptive immune system is initiated and effector cells, including CD4 T cells, cytotoxic T cells and antibodies are generated. These effector cells circulate the bloodstream and back to the site of injection. Systemic IgG antibodies and local mucosal IgG antibodies diffused from systemic IgG play a critical role in protection after IIV application via an intramuscular route (Sridhar et al., 2015). Whereas licensed live-attenuated influenza virus vaccine (LAIV) administration via i.n. can induce cross-reactive mucosal IgA and CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) in addition to IgG. Once LAIV is delivered intranasally mimicking natural infection, antigens taken up by DCs are transferred to the tonsils/adenoids. At this location, activation and proliferation of T and B cells are initiated by CD4 T cells. Also, affinity maturation and isotype switching of antibodies are carried out. Activated T and B cells back to the site of vaccination or infection and then enter the circulation system. Plasma cells secret specific mucosal antibodies and local antigen specific antibodies spread into circulation. Antibody secreting cell response remains longer with LAIV than IIV, and this can be explained by the extended duration of stimulation with LAIV due to its local administration and virus replication

(higher antigen content) in the nasal mucosa (Mohn et al., 2018). Also, LAIV induces lung tissueresident memory T cells, which provides long-term protection. LAIV can induce innate immune responses more intensively by providing multiple pathogen-associated molecules including viral RNAs which can be detected by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLR7 and TLR8 which are recognizing single-strand RNA. In children, LAIV induces higher immunogenic responses and better efficacy than IIV. LAIV elicits a T-cell response in children. Since pre-existing immunity in adults might inhibit virus replication of LAIV, immunologically naïve children allow better replication of LAIV and induce more protective immune responses. The status of preexisting immunity might influence the efficacy of influenza vaccination.

#### 1.6 Immunosenescence in the elderly

Annually, influenza results in approximately 650,000 deaths globally and people 65 years and older are at overwhelmingly higher risk with occupying 70 – 85 percent of seasonal flurelated deaths (CDC estimation in the United States) (CDC, 2021b). Annual vaccination is known to be the most effective strategy to reduce the risk of influenza in the elderly by decreasing the risk of influenza from 6% to 2.4% (Tanner et al., 2021). However, the vaccine effectiveness (VE) in over-65 years (17-53%) is disproportionately dropping compared to young adults (70-90%) (Goodwin et al., 2006). Conventional influenza vaccine is less immunogenic (only 30-40%) in the elderly, and this results in at least 20% of failure in elderly recipients to induce hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) antibodies (Keren et al., 1988) known to be correlated with protection (Dunning et al., 2016). The low overall effectiveness is believed mainly due to an altered immune response that is different from children and young adults who are the primary targets for designing influenza vaccine (Ciabattini et al., 2018). The age-associated deleterious changes in the immune system including immunosenescence and inflammaging are responsible for low vaccine effectiveness (Tanner et al., 2021). Immunosenescence refers an age-related immunological dysfunction accompanied by gradual deterioration in innate and adaptive immune responses. For example, downregulation of primary lymphoid organs causes decreased production of B and T cells progenitors; reduction of phagocytosis and chemotaxis and increased production of proinflammatory cytokines and dysfunctional memory cells (Ciabattini et al., 2018). Inflammaging is the state of chronic hyperinflammation. The constantly increased basal levels of inflammation interfere with detecting and generating truly protective inflammatory responses to pathogens. Therefore, inflammaging substantially contributes to increased susceptibility in the elderly to infection (Lambert et al., 2012).

Recipients' viral history of influenza infection and vaccination would be considered for the vaccine effectiveness in the elderly. This can be described by the concept of original antigenic sin (OAS) proposing that an individual's immune response is imprinted by previously encountered influenza viral antigens (Ranjeva et al., 2019). OAS could be beneficial and harmful in immunity against influenza. The elderly showed a lower infection rate compared to young people during the 2009 pandemic (swine flu, A/H1N1). It is believed that previous exposure to H1N1 viruses that were circulated in the late 1970s in older people conferred the protection by inducing the cross-immunity to conserved antigens. However, the increased susceptibility of the elderly to influenza virus infection in the 2013-2014 H1N1 season was observed while the young population with immunity to nonmutated antigens displayed enhanced protection (Tanner et al., 2021). In research investigated the effect of repeated vaccination (RV) in ferrets (Music et al., 2019) after A/Hong Kong H3N2 challenge, the ferrets immunized once (current season only) showed lower viral shedding, less body weight loss and relatively faster recovery of body weight compared to another group of ferrets repeatedly immunized with commercial vaccines twice (10 months apart). One explanation for reduced vaccine effectiveness in the RV group can be related to OAS. Suboptimal antibodies (to the conserved domains between two vaccines) for protection are amplified by repeated vaccination.

To overcome the reduced vaccine effectiveness in the elderly, high-dose or adjuvanted vaccines have been developed to elicit more robust immunogenicity.

#### **1.7 Hypothesis and Research Objectives**

Chapter1: Broad cross-protection by recombinant live attenuated influenza H3N2 seasonal virus expressing conserved M2 extracellular domain in a chimeric hemagglutinin.

The objective of project 1 was to determine whether intranasal immunization with live recombinant H3N2 virus expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA would induce broadly cross-protective immunity against different subtypes of influenza A viruses in a mouse model. In recent years, antigenic drifts have severely limited the effectiveness of the H3N2 component of seasonal influenza vaccines. Here, using the reverse genetic (rg) technique, we generated reassortant seasonal influenza rgH3N2 4xM2e virus containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA in which the HA and NA genes were derived from A/Switzerland/9715293/2013 (H3N2) and the remaining 6 genes from the A/PR8 backbone. Reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA was found to retain comparable growth properties but displayed highly attenuated phenotypes in mice. Cross-protective efficacy against different subtypes (H1N1, H3N2, H5N1, H7N9, H9N2) of influenza A virus was tested in intranasally immunized BALB/c mice with rgH3N2 4xM2e. This

study implicates a strategy of improving cross-protection by utilizing currently licensed recombinant influenza vaccine platforms.

Chapter2: Enhanced cross-protection by hetero prime-boost vaccination with recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric hemagglutinin-M2e epitopes.

The goal of project 2 was to test whether a strategy of hetero prime-boost vaccination with recombinant influenza viruses expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA would induce more effective cross-protection than homologous prime-boost vaccination. The impact of heterosubtypic vaccination with recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccines and pre-existing immunity on cross-protection against influenza viruses remains unknown. In this study, I investigated the efficacy of cross-protection by heterosubtypic prime- boost vaccination with live recombinant 4xM2e-HA H1N1 and H3N2 influenza virus vaccines in C57BL/6 mice known to be a low responder to immune-subdominant conserved epitopes. The experimental outcomes of project 2 demonstrated that hetero prime-boost strategies using recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccination induced more effective cross-protection against antigenically different viruses than homologous repeat vaccination in C57BL/6 mice. The roles of M2e and stalk immunity in conferring cross-protection were explored and discussed in this study.

Chapter 3: Hemagglutinin virus-like particle is immunogenic and provides heterologous protection against influenza virus in young adult and aged mice.

The goal of project 3 was to investigate immune responses and homo and crossprotective efficacy in aged mice after vaccination with a platform of virus-like particles (VLP) presenting H1 HA with and without molecularly anchored cytokine adjuvants incorporated, in comparison with those in young adult mice. Vaccine effectiveness is inferior in the aged population at high risk of severe illness from influenza virus infection. For the elderly, safe and highly immunogenic vaccines need to be developed. In project 3, host immune responses and homo and cross-protective efficacy was determined, after vaccination with a VLP vaccine platform which expresses H1 HA from A/PR8/34 (PR8 HA VLP) in young adults and aged (18month-old) BALB/c mice. In addition, I investigated the adjuvant impact of cytokines (GM-CSF and IL-12) engineered to be incorporated into HA VLP vaccines on inducing IgG antibodies, hemagglutination inhibition titers, and homo and hetero protection in aged mice, compared to those in young adult mice. Higher doses of vaccination with H1 HA VLP and cytokines incorporated onto H1 HA VLP were found to be more effective in inducing protective immunity against homo and hetero viruses in aged mice.

# 2 BROAD CROSS-PROTECTION BY RECOMBINANT LIVE ATTENUATED INFLUENZA H3N2 SEASONAL VIRUS EXPRESSING CONSERVED M2 EXTRACELLULAR DOMAIN IN A CHIMERIC HEMAGGLUTININ

Copyright © 2021, Scientific Reports, DOI:10.1038/s41598-021-83704-0

## 2.1 Abstract

Hemagglutinin (HA)-based current vaccines provide suboptimum cross-protection. Influenza A virus contains an ion channel protein M2 conserved extracellular domain (M2e), a target for developing universal vaccines. Here we generated reassortant influenza virus rgH3N2 4xM2e virus (HA and NA from A/Switzerland/2013/62/H3N2) expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA fusion proteins with 4xM2e epitopes inserted into the H3 HA N-terminus. Recombinant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus was found to retain equivalent growth kinetics as rgH3N2 in egg substrates. An intranasal single inoculation of mice with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus was effective in priming the induction of M2e specific IgG antibody responses in mucosal and systemic sites as well as T cell responses. The rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice were protected against a broad range of different influenza A virus subtypes including H1N1, H3N2, H5N1, H7N9, and H9N2. The findings support a new approach to improving current vaccine platforms' efficacy by recombinant influenza virus inducing immunity to HA and cross-protective M2e antigens.

## 2.2 Introduction

Influenza virus causes one of the most common respiratory diseases in humans, resulting in significant public health concerns and deaths annually worldwide (Krammer et al., 2018b, Iuliano et al., 2018). Influenza A virus is a negative-sense single-stranded RNA virus containing eight segmented genomes, belonging to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, and has an antigenic
variety from 18 subtypes (H1-H18) of hemagglutinin (HA) and 11 subtypes (N1-N11) of neuraminidase (NA) (Tong et al., 2013). Antigenic diversity is a challenging difficulty in preventing influenza. Vaccination has been the most effective preventive measure against influenza virus infection. The most common licensed platforms are inactivated influenza and live-attenuated influenza vaccines (LAIV).

The overall vaccine effectiveness during the 2005-2018 seasons is a wide range of low efficacy between 10 and 60% as estimated in the US Flu Vaccine Effectiveness Network (CDC, 2021e). Due to the emergence of drifting mutations in circulating H3N2 strains, the vaccine effectiveness against H3N2 was estimated to be 6% during the 2014–2015 season (Zimmerman et al., 2016, Shim et al., 2016). To overcome continued antigenic changes, universal vaccination strategies have been focused on inducing immunity to conserved epitopes and domains present in all influenza A viruses, including the M2 extracellular domain epitopes (M2e) (Saelens, 2019, Kolpe et al., 2017) and the HA stalk domains (Krammer and Palese, 2019, Nachbagauer et al., 2015).

Different platforms and vaccine adjuvants have been investigated to overcome the low immunogenicity of M2e epitopes. M2e-based vaccine candidates include Hepatitis B virus core protein conjugates (M2e-HBc) with adjuvants (Neirynck et al., 1999, De Filette et al., 2006), viruslike particles (VLP) presenting M2e tandem repeats (5xM2e VLP) (Kim et al., 2013b), and flagellin conjugates (4.M2e-tFliC) (Wang et al., 2012) and fusion with oligomer stabilizing domains (M2etGCN4) (De Filette et al., 2008). M2e expressing viral vectored vaccines were reported using adenovirus (Zhou et al., 2010), modified vaccinia virus Ankara (Hessel et al., 2014), and a T7bacteriophage (Hashemi et al., 2012). These previous strategies inducing M2e immunity alone were insufficient for conferring optimum protection and incompatible with current vaccine platforms. No universal vaccine against influenza is on the market.

Vaccination of combined M2e VLP and inactivated influenza vaccines induced both crossprotective M2e and strain specific HA immunity (Song et al., 2011, Kim et al., 2014). To enhance the cross-protective efficacy by a strategy of utilizing current vaccine platforms, recombinant influenza H1N1 virus A/Puerto Rico/8/1934 (A/PR8) was engineered to express chimeric 4xM2e-HA where tandem M2e epitopes were inserted in the N-terminus HA (Kim et al., 2017a). A chimeric HA with a single M2e in the head site Ca was tested in inactivated recombinant A/PR8 virus inducing cross-protection (Sun et al., 2019). However, the protection was not tested against a wide range of different subtypes.

In recent years, antigenic drifts have severely limited the effectiveness of the H3N2 component of seasonal influenza vaccines. Here, using the reverse genetic (rg) technique, we generated reassortant seasonal influenza rgH3N2 4xM2e virus containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA in which the HA and NA genes were derived from A/Switzerland/2013/62 (H3N2) and the remaining 6 genes from the A/PR8 backbone. Reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA was found to retain comparable growth properties but display highly attenuated phenotypes in mice. An intranasal single inoculation of mice with rgH3N2 4xM2e virus could effectively induce a broad range of enhanced cross-protection against different influenza A virus subtypes including H1N1, H3N2, H5N1, H7N9, and H9N2. This study implicates a strategy of improving cross-protection by utilizing currently licensed recombinant influenza vaccine platforms.

### 2.3 Materials and Methods

### 2.3.1 Cells and viruses

For DNA transfection to generate reassortants, 293T cells obtained from ATCC were used and maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium media. Embryonated chicken eggs for influenza virus amplification were obtained from Hy-Line N.A. LLC (Mansfield, GA) and confirmed free of influenza virus. A/Puerto Rico/8/1934 (A/PR8, H1N1), A/Philippines/2/82 (A/Phil, H3N2), and rgH5N1 A/Vietnam virus which contains HA (polybasic residues removed) and NA from A/Vietnam/1203/2004 and six internal genes from A/PR8 were previously described (Song et al., 2011). Reverse genetics (rg) H3N2 (A/Switzerland/2013, A/SW) is a reassortant virus X-247 with A/PR8 backbone (CDC influenza resources) containing HA and NA genes from A/Switzerland /9715293/2013 (H3N2) and 6 remaining genes from A/PR8. The viruses were inactivated using formalin (37%) at 1:4000 dilutions in purified virus concentrations (1 mg/ml) (Ko et al., 2018). The rgH7N9 is a reassortant virus containing HA and NA derived from A/Shanghai/2/2013 (H7N9) and the A/PR8 backbone genes (Deng et al., 2018). The reassortant H9N2 virus is A/chicken/Hong Kong/G9/1997 x PR8-IBCDC-2 (CDC influenza resources). The rgPR8 Ms, rgPR8 Mm and rgPR8 Mg reassortant viruses containing avian M2 were generated using the A/PR8 backbone genes by replacing an M gene from A/Shanghai/2/2013 (H7N9), A/Mandarin duck/Korea/PSC24-24/2010 (H5N1) and A/Chicken/Korea/Gimje/2008 (H5N1) respectively.

### 2.3.2 Generation of recombinant reassortant rgH3N2 virus containing 4xM2e-HA

A full-length copy of the HA gene from A/SW (H3N2) was used to insert a cloning site for BsmBI restriction enzyme between the signal peptide (SP) sequence and N-terminus in the ectodomain of HA by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) primers. The two PCR products of SP fragment and HA full-length with each BsmBI site were linked together by overlapping reactions of PCR products, resulting in the SP-BsmBI-HA construct with an H3 HA full length ectodomain and transmembrane domain. The 4xM2e encoding gene is composed of heterologous M2e sequences derived from human (2x hM2e), swine (1x sM2e), and avian (1x aM2e) influenza A viruses (Figure 1A) as described (Kim et al., 2017a). This 4xM2e gene was amplified using PCR primers with BsmBI sites for insertion into the SP-BsmBI-HA H3 construct in dual promoter pCI plasmid (Figure 1A). The inserted 4xM2e gene contains flexible linkers AAAGGAA or AAAPGAA between each M2e domain as well as between the 4xM2e sequence and the N-terminus H3 HA (Figure 1A). The correct insertion of 4xM2e into the full-length H3 HA was confirmed by DNA sequencing of the construct.

To generate reassortant rgH3N2 virus containing 4xM2e-HA (rgH3N2 4xM2e), 293T cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding 4xM2e-HA (H3) and N2 NA from A/SW (H3N2) and six other plasmids encoding the A/PR8 backbone genes. Two days after transfection, the supernatants were inoculated into 10-day-old embryonated chicken eggs. The rescue of replication-competent recombinant viruses was initially screened in allantoic egg fluids by a hemagglutination activity assay and the genetic identity of the reassortant vaccine virus was confirmed by sequence analysis.

### 2.3.3 Characterization and pathogenicity of reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e-HA virus

The expression of 4xM2e-HA of the rescued reassortant viruses was characterized by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using influenza A virus M2e specific monoclonal antibody (14C2 mAb) (Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA) or polyclonal antisera specific for the H3N2

virus. Growth capability and kinetics of rescued rgH3N2 4xM2e virus were compared with rgH3N2 virus in embryonated eggs.

To verify pathogenicity of recombinant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus compared to A/PR8 pathogenic WT virus, BALB/c mice were intranasally (IN) inoculated with 1x  $10^5$  or 1x  $10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub> (50% egg infectious dose) of rgH3N2 4xM2e, rgH3N2, or  $10^4$  EID<sub>50</sub> WT A/PR8 pathogenic viruses. At three days after IN infection, nasal turbinates and lung tissue samples were collected and homogenized in DMEM. The supernatants clarified by centrifugation were used to determine virus titers by limiting dilutions in the embryonated eggs and the limit of detection was 1.2 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml. Another set of mice (n=5 /group) infected with recombinant and WT viruses was monitored daily for 14 days to record body weight changes.

### 2.3.4 Immunizations and virus challenge of mice

BALB/c mice (n=30 /group, 6- to 8-week-old age, Jackson Laboratories) were IN inoculated with 10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> for a prime single dose of recombinant rgH3N2 4xM2e or rgH3N2 virus. Another set of primed mice (n=15 /group) was boosted with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of recombinant rgH3N2 4xM2e or rgH3N2 virus at four weeks after priming. Blood samples were collected at two weeks after each inoculation for serological immune assays. After three weeks of prime or prime-boost dose inoculation, rgH3N2 4xM2e, rgH3N2 immune, or unvaccinated (mock) mice were challenged with different subtype viruses as indicated. LD<sub>50</sub> dose causing 50% lethality in mice was predetermined. Differential challenge doses were used depending on the pathogenicity and subtype of virus and experimental conditions (prime, prime-boost, T cell depletion). All animal experiments in this study were approved by the Georgia State University IACUC review boards. Mouse animal experiments including virus infection, blood and tissue collections were performed in accordance with the approved IACUC protocol (A21004) and regulations. The study was carried out in compliance with the ARRIVE (Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments) guidelines.

### 2.3.5 Antibody ELISA and hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) assays

Virus-specific antibody responses were determined by ELISA using inactivated H1N1 (A/PR8), H3N2 (A/SW, A/Phil), or rgH5N1 viruses as a coating antigen (4µg/ml). M2e-specific antibody responses were determined using human, swine, and avian M2e peptide antigens of chemically synthesized 23 amino acids (aa) polypeptides as described (Kim et al., 2013b, Kim et al., 2014). IgG isotypes and IgA antibodies were measured using horse-radish peroxidaseconjugated goat anti-mouse IgG1, IgG2a, and IgA secondary antibodies (Southern Biotechnology), color reactions developed with tetramethylbenzidine substrates (TMB, Invitrogen). Antibody levels are presented as optical density absorbance values at 450nm (BioTek ELISA plate reader) or concentrations as calculated using standard IgG and IgA (Southern Biotech). Bronchoalveolar lavage fluids (BALFs) were obtained by infusing 1.5 ml of phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) into the lungs (Kim et al., 2013b). HAI assays were determined against homologous, heterologous, and heterosubtypic influenza viruses using chicken red blood cells (Quan et al., 2009, Kim et al., 2014). Briefly, 1:4 ratios of sera and receptor destroying enzymes (RDE, Sigma) were mixed and incubated for 18 hours at 37°C. After inactivation, the RDE-treated sera were serially diluted and mixed with a virus (8 HA units). HAI titers were determined as the highest dilution factor inhibiting the formation of buttons with 0.5% chicken red blood cells.

#### 2.3.6 In Vivo T-Cell depletion

For *in vivo* systemic T-cell depletion prior to challenge, primed mice with rgH3N2 4xM2e or rgH3N2 received treatment with anti-CD4 (CD4 clone GK1.5) and/or anti-CD8 (CD8 clone 53.6.7) mAbs. Antibodies (BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH) were injected into the mice with intraperitoneal (IP) and IN sequential delivery at two days interval (anti-CD4 200µg /mouse (IP) and 10 µg/mouse (IN), anti-CD8, 150 µg /mouse (IP), 10 µg/mouse (IN)). The levels of CD4 and CD8 T cells were below the detection after treating with CD4 and CD8 depleting antibodies as confirmed by flow cytometry of blood (Figure 12). All groups (n=4) were challenged with a lethal dose of A/PR8 H1N1 (1.5 LD<sub>50</sub>), rgPR8 Mg (3 LD<sub>50</sub>), rgPR8 Ms (10 LD<sub>50</sub>) or A/Phil H3N2 (17 LD<sub>50</sub>) influenza virus. Mice were monitored daily to record weight changes and mortality.

### 2.3.7 Intracellular cytokine staining of T cells

BALF and lung cells were stimulated with M2e peptides (SLLTEVETPIRNEWGSRSN) (5  $\mu$ g/mL) for 5 h at 37 °C in the presence of brefeldin A (BFA) (20  $\mu$ g/mL). After stimulation, lymphocytes were stained with T cell marker mAb for CD4 (CD4-PE/Cy5, BD Biosciences) and CD8 (CD8 $\alpha$ -PE, Biolegend) by following a procedure of BD Cytofix/Cytoperm Plus Kit. Intracellular staining of the permeabilized lymphocytes was conducted with IFN- $\gamma$  cytokine mAb (anti-mouse IFN- $\gamma$ -APC/Cy7, BD Biosciences). All samples were analyzed using LSR-II/Fortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA) and analyzed using the FlowJo software (FlowJo V10, Tree Star, Inc.).

### 2.3.8 In vivo efficacy tests of immune sera

Immune sera collected at 4 weeks after boost inoculation were heat-inactivated at 56°C for 30 min, 4 folds diluted, and then mixed with 2 LD<sub>50</sub> of influenza virus rgH5N1 (A/Vietnam) and

incubated at room temperature for 1 hour as previously described (Kim et al., 2014, Song et al., 2011). The rgH5N1 virus mixed with immune sera was used to IN infect naive mice (n = 3) and body weight and survival rates were daily monitored for 8 days.

#### 2.3.9 In vitro IgG antibody detection and cytokine ELISA assays

Secreted IgG antibodies specific for M2e, rgH3N2 and A/Phil were determined from mediastinal lymph nodes (MLN) from BALB/c mice. The cells from MLN were isolated at day 6 after challenge and cultured for 6 days in the plate pre-coated with M2e, rgH3N2 or A/Phil. The combined levels of IgG antibodies secreted into the culture supernatants and captured on the plate were analyzed by ELISA and presented. The inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6 from bronchoalveolar lavage fluids (BALF) and lung extracts were measured by cytokine ELISA as described in the previous study (Lee et al., 2016b). Cytokines were detected using Ready-SET-Go kits with TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-6 specific antibodies (eBioscience, San Diego, CA).

### 2.3.10 Statistical analysis

Two-way or one-way ANOVA were used to determine the statistical significance when comparing two different conditions. *P*-values of less than or equal to 0.05 were considered significant. Data analysis was performed using Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

### 2.4 Results

# 2.4.1 Generation of reassortant influenza H3N2 virus vaccine containing 4xM2e in an HA conjugate

The current strain specific HA-based influenza vaccine is less effective in conferring crossprotection. M2e has been targeted to induce broad but weak cross-protection. To induce immunity against both HA and highly conserved M2e epitopes, a seasonal A/Switzerland/2013 H3 HA gene conjugated with four tandem M2e (4xM2e) repeat was constructed (Figure 1A and Table 1). Rescued viruses expressing wild type (WT) HA (rgH3N2) or chimeric HA (rgH3N2 4xM2e) were amplified in eggs and harvested. Antigenic characterization by ELISA showed that rgH3N2 4xM2e virus was highly reactive to M2e specific mAb 14C2 whereas rgH3N2 and A/PR8 virus controls did not show such M2e reactivity (Figure 1B). Both rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses displayed high antigenic reactivity to mouse antisera of rgH3N2 infection and goat antisera of A/Indiana/2011 (H3N2) immunization (Figure 2). These results support that 6:2 reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus displays high reactivity to M2e specific 14C2 mAb and retains similar antigenicity to antisera of H3N2 viruses as compared to rgH3N2 virus.



### Figure 1 Reassortants rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e virus expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA are attenuated in vivo

(A) Diagram for chimeric 4xM2e-HA (H3) structures. The sequence H3 HA was derived from A/Switzerland/2013 (H3N2). SP: signal peptide, tandem repeat 4xM2e is composed of human, swine, and avian influenza A viruses. hM2e: SLLTEVETPIRNEWGSRSNDSSD, sM2e: SLLTEVETPTRSEWESRSSDSSD, aM2e: SLLTEVETPTRNEWESRSSDSSD. L and C represent linker (AAAGGAA) and connector (AAAPGAA) respectively. (B) 14C2 M2e specific mAb ELISA assays were performed to characterize 6:2 reassortants rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses (4 μg/ ELISA plate well) generated by reverse genetics (rg) using the

A/PR8 backbone. (C) Infectious virus titers (EID<sub>50</sub>) of rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e virus preparations in egg substrates. (D) Hemagglutination activity units (HAU,  $\log_2/50 \mu$ l) for rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses using chicken red blood cells. (E) Growth kinetics of reassortant viruses in embryonated chicken eggs at 33°C infected with 10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e. c-e: A representative out of 2 repeats. (F) Body weight changes in BALB/c mice (n=10, too small variations to be shown) IN inoculated with reassortant rgH3N2 viruses (10<sup>5</sup>-10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) or A/PR8 (10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). (G) Infectious virus titers (EID<sub>50</sub>) in nasal turbinates and lung extracts from mice (n=3, pooled) at 3-day post infection with A/PR8 (10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>), rgH3N2 (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and rgH3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>).

Vaccine virus (rgH3N2 4xM2e)		
	Conserved M2e	M2e sequences
	Human M2e	SLLTEVETPIRNEWGSRSNDSSD
	Swine M2e	SLLTEVETPTRSEWESRSSDSSD
	Avian M2e	SLLTEVET <b>PTRNEW</b> ESRSSDSSD

Challenge virus		
M2 gene from	M2e sequences	
A/Puerto Rico/8/1934 (H1N1)	SLLTEVETPIRNEWGCRCN GSSD	
A/California/07/2009 (H1N1)	SLLTEVETPTRSEWECRCSDSSD	
A/Philippines/2/82 (H3N2)	SLLTEVETPIRNEWGCRCN DSSD	
A/Madarin duck/Korea/PSC24-24/2010 (H5N1)	SLLTEVETPTRNEWECRCSDSSD	
A/Chicken/Korea/Gimje/2008 (H5N1)	SLLTEVET <b>PTRHEW</b> ECRCSDSSD	
A/Shanghai/2/2013 (H7N9)	SLLTEVETPTRTGWECNCSGSSE	

Table 1.1 M2e sequences utilized for rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccine and reassortant challenge viruses.



# Figure 2 ELISA assays to characterize 6:2 reassortants rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses generated by reverse genetics (rg) using the A/PR8 backbone

(A) ELISA (4 μg/ ELISA plate well) using anti-rgH3N2 (A/Switzerland/9715293/2013 (H3N2)) mouse sera as primary antibody. (B) ELISA using anti-A/Indiana/2011 (H3N2) goat sera as primary antibody.

### 2.4.2 Reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus is attenuated in mice but does not compromise

### replication capacity in egg substrates

We determined whether rgH3N2 4xM2e virus would retain the comparable replication capacity in egg substrates, compared to WT rgH3N2. Both chimeric rgH3N2 4xM2e and WT rgH3N2 viruses displayed similarly high levels of egg infectious titers (EID<sub>50</sub>/mI) and hemagglutination activity units (HAU) (Figure 1C, D). Next, at designated time points after incubation of embryonated chicken eggs with 10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e, *in vitro* growth kinetics of infectious titers (EID<sub>50</sub>) were determined (Figure 1E). The results showed that rgH3N2 4xM2e virus exhibited approximately equivalent growth kinetics in egg substrates as WT rgH3N2 virus. The reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e virus does not compromise replication capacity in egg substrates. Consistent, the overall trends in the growth patterns of rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e virus at different culture times and temperatures (Figure 3). Therefore, rgH3N2 4xM2e virus does not compromise replication capacity in egg substrates at different culture times and temperatures (Figure 3). Therefore, rgH3N2 4xM2e virus does not compromise replication capacity in egg substrates.

As an indicator of pathogenicity, weight changes and activity were monitored in mice after intranasal inoculation with rgH3N2 4xM2e and rgH3N2 viruses. Both mouse groups infected with rgH3N2 (10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and rgH3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>5</sup> and 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) did not show body weight loss (Figure 1F) while the mice with A/PR8 even at a 100-fold lower dose (10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) consistently displayed severe weight loss and died of infection. Consistent, mice inoculated with WT A/PR8 virus showed highest levels of replicating viral titers in the lower respiratory tracts of lungs, which is at approximately 100 folds higher than those in the upper respiratory nasal turbinates at day 3 post inoculation (10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) (Figure 1G). In contrast, rgH3N2 (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and rgH3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) viruses showed approximately 10<sup>5</sup> magnitudes lower lung viral titers than WT A/PR8 virus (Figure 1G). Instead, 100 folds higher viral replications were observed in the nasal turbinates than those in the lungs after inoculation of mice with rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e virus (Figure 1G). These results suggest that reassortant rgH3N2 and chimeric rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses are highly attenuated in mice with restricted replication in the upper respiratory tracts but retains replication capacity in egg substrates.



Figure 3. Growth kinetics for rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e in MDCK cells Virus replications of rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e were determined in MDCK cells at different time points at 33°C and 37°C culture temperature as indicated after inoculation. The titers were determined and presented in TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml (A) at 33°C and (B) at 37°C.

### 2.4.3 Prime dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus induces M2e specific IgG isotype antibody

#### responses

Intranasal prime inoculation of mice with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus (10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) induced M2e specific IgG1 and IgG2a antibody responses at significantly higher levels than rgH3N2 (Figure 4A, B). IgG antibodies specific for human M2e were induced at higher levels in prime sera from rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccination than those specific for avian M2e or swine M2e (Figure 5A), suggesting possible contribution of the extra 2x hM2e in the rgH3N2 4xM2e construct. Both rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e immunized groups showed similarly high levels of IgG isotype

antibodies specific for H3N2 virus (Figure 4C, D). Both sera from rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e immune mice exhibited vaccine strain specific HAI activities against rgH3N2 (A/Switzerland) virus (Figure 4E) but not against A/PR8 (H1N1), A/Philippines (A/Phil H3N2) and A/Vietnam (A/Viet rgH5N1). Therefore, prime dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e but not rgH3N2 virus could induce M2e specific IgG isotype antibodies in mice.



Figure 4 Intranasal prime inoculation of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus induces M2e specific serum IgG isotype antibody responses

(A) M2e specific IgG1 antibodies. (B) M2e specific IgG2a antibodies. (C, D) Virus rgH3N2 specific IgG1 and IgG2a antibodies. Serum samples were collected at 2 weeks after prime dose intranasal inoculation of mice (n=15 /group). (E) Serum HAI titers against the viruses (A/PR8, A/Phil, rgH3N2 and A/Viet) were determined 14 days after immunization. rgH3N2: 6:2 reassortant with WT HA and NA of A/Switzerland/2013. rgH3N2 4xM2e: 6:2 reassortant with 4XM2e-HA and NA of A/Switzerland/2013. Each individual mouse animal is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



### Figure 5 IgG antibody responses to humanM2e, swine M2e, and avian M2e peptides after prime or prime boost vaccination with rgH3N2 4xM2e

Mouse sera were collected 2 weeks after intranasal prime or prime boost inoculation of rgH3N2 4xM2e. Total IgG antibody specific for human M2e (hM2e), avian M2e (aM2e) and swine M2e (sM2e) were measured from (a) prime and (b) boost sera. Error bars show mean  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances between hM2e detection versus sM2e and aM2e were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

### 2.4.4 Prime dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccination provides broad cross-protection

Intranasally prime vaccinated mice with 10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e were challenged with different subtype influenza viruses including H1N1 (A/PR8), rgPR8 with avian M2 (rgPR8 Mm, rgPR8 Mg), H3N2 (A/Phil), rgH5N1 (A/Viet), rgH7N9 (A/Shanghai), and rgH9N2 (A/Hong Kong). The rgH3N2 4xM2e group showed higher survival rates (100%) and a trend of less weight loss against A/PR8 challenge, compared to the rgH3N2 group with 60% survival rates (Figs. 6A, E). Next, we tested PR8 reassortants containing avian M2 (rgPR8 Mm, rgPR8 Mg, Figs. 7A, B, D, E) as a challenge virus, following single-dose vaccination with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e. The rgH3N2 4xM2e group tends to show less weight loss against rgPR8 Mm (M gene from A/Mandarin duck/Korea/PSC24-24/2010, H5N1) or rgPR8 Mg (M gene from A/Chicken/Korea/Gimje/2008, H5N1), compared to those in the rgH3N2 control group. When challenged with a wild type 2009 H1N1 pandemic A/California/04/09 virus containing swine M2, similar trend was observed. The

rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice showed a pattern of less weight loss and quicker recovery than the rgH3N2 group (Figure 8). However, the difference between these two groups was not statistically significant.

To test the breadth of cross-protection, different subtypes of PR8 reassortants were used as a challenge virus. The rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice exhibited significantly less weight loss (~5%) than rgH3N2 primed mice (~16%) at day 5 after challenge with rgH5N1 (Figs. 6B, F). Similarly, when challenged with rgH7N9 virus, the rgH3N2 4xM2e group displayed average weight loss 6% compared to 19% weight loss in rgH3N2 prime mice and the mock control with over 20% weight loss and 0% survival rates (Figs. 6C, G). After a high lethal dose (100 LD<sub>50</sub>) challenge with rgH9N2 virus, rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice showed 75% survival protection whereas rgH3N2 immune and mock control mice all died of infection (Figs. 7C, F). When challenged with rgH9N2 at 20 LD<sub>50</sub> dose, rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice showed better protection as evidenced by significantly preventing weight loss (average 11% day 6) and enhancing survival rates than rgH3N2 immune mice displaying 25% weight loss (day 6) and 25% survival rates (Figs. 6D, H).



## Figure 6 A single dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus provides enhanced heterosubtypic cross-protection against different subtype influenza A viruses

Weight changes and survival rates in primed mice after challenge with (A, E) H1N1 A/PR8 (3 LD<sub>50</sub>), (B, F) rgH5N1 A/Vietnam (5 LD<sub>50</sub>), (C, G) rgH7N9 virus (reassortant A/Shanghai, 6 LD<sub>50</sub>) and (D, H) rgH9N2 virus (reassortant A/Hong Kong, 20 LD<sub>50</sub>). Differential challenge doses were used depending on the pathogenicity and HA phylogenic distance of virus. Groups of mice (n=5 or 6) were intranasally primed with rgH3N2 ( $10^5$  EID<sub>50</sub>) or rgH3N2 4xM2e ( $10^5$  EID<sub>50</sub>) and then challenged 3 weeks later. Two independent repeat of mouse challenge experiments confirms the reproducibility of data. rgH3N2: 6:2 reassortant with WT HA and NA of A/Switzerland/2013. rgH3N2 4xM2e: 6:2 reassortant with 4XM2e-HA and NA of A/Switzerland/2013. Each individual mouse animal is analyzed. Error bars show mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



Figure 7 A single dose of live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus provides enhanced heterosubtypic cross-protection against A/PR8 (H1N1) reassortants containing avian M gene or rgH9N2 virus (A-C) Weight changes and (D-F) survival rates after challenge with rgPR8 Mm (M gene from A/Mandarin duck/Korea/PSC24-242010, H5N1, 1 LD<sub>50</sub>), rgPR8 Mg (M gene from A/Chicken/Korea/Gimje/2008, H5N1, 3 LD<sub>50</sub>) and high dose of rgH9N2 virus (reassortant A/Hong Kong, 100 LD<sub>50</sub>), respectively. Groups of mice (n=3 or 4) were intranasally primed with rgH3N2 ( $10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}$ ) or rgH3N2 4xM2e ( $10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}$ ) and then challenged 3 weeks later. Error bars show mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



### Figure 8 Body weight changes in BALB/c mice after challenge with A/California virus containing swine M2

The groups of BALB/c mice were infected with A/California/04/09 (6 LD<sub>50</sub>) containing swine M2 at 3 weeks after single dose intranasal immunization with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> each).



### Figure 9 Prime dose rgH3N2 4xM2e provides enhanced protection against heterologous H3N2 A/Phil virus and M2e specific IgG and IgA antibodies in mucosal sites

The mice primed with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e were challenged with heterologous A/Phil H3N2 virus (50 LD<sub>50</sub>). A relatively high challenge dose was used because of the same subtype virus. (A) Body weight changes after A/Phil challenge. Two independent repeat of mouse challenge experiments confirms the reproducibility of data. (B) Lung viral titers (TCID<sub>50</sub> x100/ml) at 5-day post challenge with A/Phil. (C-F) IgG and IgA antibody responses specific for M2e or viral (rgH3N2, A/Phil) antigens in BALF and lung extracts at 5 days after challenge. ELISA viral antigens are rgH3N2 and A/Phil. Error bars indicate mean value  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA (a, c-e) or one-way ANOVA (b) and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

After challenge with A/Phil (H3N2), 3% weight loss was observed with rgH3N2 4xM2e

primed mice in contrast to 12% weight loss was observed with rgH3N2 primed mice (Figure 9A).

Collectively, these results suggest that single dose intranasal priming of mice with rgH3N2 4xM2e

could provide enhanced cross-protection against diverse subtypes of influenza A viruses

containing human or avian M2.

#### 2.4.5 Priming with rgH3N2 4xM2e virus results in enhanced responses of M2e specific

#### IgG and IgA antibodies in mucosal respiratory and systemic sites upon challenge

Consistently, the mice that received a single dose (10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) of rgH3N2 4xM2e showed more effective cross-protection against A/Phil H3N2 virus as evidenced by less weight loss compared to the mice with rgH3N2 (Figure 9A). At day 5 post infection with A/Phil, naive mice showed the highest levels of lung virus titers (~10<sup>6</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub>) as determined in MDCK cells (Figure 9B). Approximately 100 folds lower lung viral titers (8x10<sup>3</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub>) were observed in the rgH3N2 group than those in naïve mice, which are approximately 3.5-fold higher titers than those (2.3x10<sup>3</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub>) in the rgH3N2 4xM2e group (Figure 9B). There was no statistical significance in lung viral titers between the rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e group (Figure 9B) and a similar pattern of viral titers was detected when determined by EID<sub>50</sub> in egg substrates.

Significantly higher levels of M2e specific IgG (Figs. 9C, D) and IgA (Figs. 9D, F) antibodies were induced in BALF (Figs. 9C, D) and lung extracts (Figs. 9E, F) from the rgH3N2 4xM2e group compared to the rgH3N2 group at 5 days after infection with A/Phil. Meanwhile virus (rgH3N2, A/Phil) specific IgG and IgA antibodies were similarly induced in BALF and lung extracts at high levels in the both rgH3N2 4xM2e and rgH3N2 groups (Figs. 9C-F).

We determined recall immune responses by measuring M2e and virus specific IgG at day 5 or 7 post challenge with heterologous A/Phil virus (Figure 10). The rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice showed significantly increased M2e specific IgG levels in sera (3-fold in OD values) (Figure 10A) and draining lymph nodes MLN after challenge (Figure 10D) while the other groups did not. The increased IgG levels specific for vaccine rgH3N2 (Figure 10B) and challenge virus A/Phil (Figure 10C) were similarly observed in post-challenge sera from both groups. Intracellular cytokine staining results indicate the induction of M2e-stimulated CD4 T cells secreting IFN- $\gamma$  at high frequencies (Figs. 10E, F) and relatively low numbers of IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells (Figure 11) in BALF and lung cells from the rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice. These results suggest that the levels of M2e specific antibodies and T cell immunity induced by priming rgH3N2 4xM2e in mucosal (BALF, lungs) and systemic (sera, MLN) sites might have contributed to cross-protection.



### Figure 10 Single inoculation of rgH3N2 4xM2e virus effectively primes M2e and virus specific immune responses

Sera after rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e immunization (day 14) and challenge with A/Phil H3N2 virus (50 LD<sub>50</sub>, day7) were collected respectively to determine IgG antibody response specific for (A) M2e (1:100 sera), (B) rgH3N2 (1:10,000 sera), and (C) A/Phil (H3N2) (1:10,000 sera) antigens. (D) In vitro production of M2e, rgH3N2, and A/Phil specific IgG antibodies in mediastinal lymph node (MLN) cell cultures. (E-F) Flow cytometry of intracellular cytokine staining for detection of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for M2e from BALF (E) and lung cells (F) at day 5 (D-F) or 7 (A-C) following A/Phil challenge. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



**Figure 11 Measurement of M2e specific CD8**<sup>+</sup> **cells secreting IFN-** $\gamma$  **by flow cytometry** BALB/c mice were intranasally inoculated with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> each). IFN- $\gamma$  secreting CD8<sup>+</sup> cells specific for M2e were detected 5 days after A/Phil challenge (50 LD<sub>50</sub>) in BALF (A) and lung cells (B) from immunized mice. IFN- $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were presented from total BALF (1 ml) and Lung (1 ml) cells from individual mouse. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using one-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05.

### 2.4.6 Depletion of CD4 and CD8 T cells results in differential cross-protection between

### rgH3N2 4xM2e and rgH3N2 prime vaccination

We observed substantial cross-protection by priming rgH3N2 virus even without the induction of M2e specific antibodies and cross HAI activities, suggesting the roles of cross-protective T cells. Also, to determine whether M2e specific antibodies would significantly contribute to cross-protection, rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice were treated with T cell depleting anti-CD4 or anti-CD8 antibodies prior to challenge with 25 LD<sub>50</sub> of A/Phil (H3N2). As shown in Figure 12, T cells in the groups immunized with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e were effectively depleted by delivering either anti-CD4 or anti-CD8 or both antibodies prior to infection with A/Phil (H3N2, 17 LD<sub>50</sub>). Anti-CD4 (Figs. 13A, C) or anti-CD8 (Figs. 13B, D) antibody treatment resulted in significant weight loss (24% or 16% respectively) in the rgH3N2 group, lowering the survival rate (50% with anti-CD4, Figure 13C), compared to moderate weight loss (9.5 to 13%) in the rgH3N2 4xM2e group. When both CD4 and CD8 were depleted, the rgH3N2 group displayed significant weight loss and all mice reaching the humane endpoint (Figs. 14A, E). In contrast, 100%

mice from the rgH3N2 4xM2e group survived with 8% body weight loss (Figs. 14A, E). These results suggest that M2e antibodies contribute to cross-protection by a prime dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e regardless of T cells at the time of challenge whereas CD4 and CD8 T cells particularly CD4 T cells might play a significant role in cross-protection by rgH3N2.

We extended the impact of both CD4 and CD8 depletion on cross-protection against A/PR8 (H1N1) and PR8 reassortants with avian M2 (Figure 14). Treatment of rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice with CD4 and CD8 depleting antibodies resulted in 100% survival rates and approximately 13% weight loss after A/PR8 (H1N1) challenge whereas rgH3N2 primed mice showed over 20% weight loss and 0% survival rates (Figs. 14B, F). With CD4 and CD8 T cell depletion, the significant differences in weight changes and survival rates between the groups were observed after rgPR8 Mg challenge (Figs. 14C, G). While rgH3N2 4xM2e mice lost 9% of body weight with 100% survival rate, rgH3N2 mice had 20% weight loss with 20% survival rates. In consistent, the rgH3N2 4xM2e group showed significantly enhanced survival protection with less weight loss against a high lethal dose (20 LD<sub>50</sub>) of rgPR8 Ms virus (M gene from A/Shanghai/2/2013, H7N9) compared to the rgH3N2 group with 0% survival (Figs. 14D, H). The weight recovery was delayed in surviving mice with CD4 and CD8 T cell depletion after challenge, suggesting an important role of T cells in recovery or preventing severe viral pathology. These results support the differential roles of CD4 and CD8 T cells and M2e specific IgG antibodies in conferring cross-protection by rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e prime immunization.



### Figure 12 The efficacy of CD4 and CD8 T cell depletion in vaccinated mice after CD4 and CD8 T cell depleting antibody treatment

(A) Schematic diagram for CD4 and CD8 T cell depleting antibody treatment schedule. (B) Flow cytometry profiles of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells out of total CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells in peripheral blood mononucleocytes (PBMC). (C) Percentages of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells out of CD3<sup>+</sup> cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells out of total CD3<sup>+</sup> cells in PBMC. rgH3N2: the group of mice vaccinated with rgH3N2 (n=3). rgH3N2 4xM2e: the group of mice vaccinated with rgH3N2 4xM2e (n=3).



Figure 13 The roles of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in cross-protection by reassortant rgH3N2 4xM2e prime inoculation

The rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice (n=4 /group) with were treated with (A, C)  $\alpha$ -CD4 or (B, D)  $\alpha$ -CD8 antibodies for T cell depletion prior to A/Phil (H3N2) challenge (25 LD<sub>50</sub>). Weight changes and survival rates were monitored after A/Phil challenge. Error bars indicate mean value ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group and rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



### Figure 14 Depletion of CD4 and CD8 T cells results in differential cross-protection between rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice

The rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice (n=4 or 5/group) were treated with  $\alpha$ -CD4/ $\alpha$ -CD8 antibodies for T cell depletion prior to influenza virus infection. (A-D) Weight changes and (E-H) survival rates were

monitored followed by A/Phil (H3N2) (17 LD<sub>50</sub>), A/PR8 (1.5 LD<sub>50</sub>), rgPR8 Mg (3 LD<sub>50</sub>) and rgPR8 Ms (10 LD<sub>50</sub>) challenge, respectively. Differential challenge doses were used depending on the subtype, pathogenicity, and T cell-depletion. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

### 2.4.7 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e further enhances M2e antibodies

Boost inoculation (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> rgH3N2 4xM2e) induced significantly higher levels of M2e specific IgG1 and IgG2a isotype antibodies (Figs. 15A, B) than post prime IgG antibody levels (Figs. 4A, B). Consistent with post prime, hM2e IgG antibody levels post boost with rgH3N2 4xM2e were significantly higher than those of swine M2e or avian M2e antibodies (Figure 5B). Both rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e groups increased IgG isotype antibodies and HAI activity against vaccine strain rgH3N2 but not against heterologous viruses including A/PR8, A/Phil, and rgH5N1 (Figs. 16A-C) compared to prime sera.



Figure 15 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection against A/Phil (H3N2) challenge, correlating with M2e specific IgG levels and lower inflammatory cytokine Sera were collected at 2 weeks after boost immunization of primed mice with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e. (A) IgG1 or (B) IgG2a antibody responses to M2e peptide. The rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e boosted mice (n=4 /group) were treated with α-CD4/α-CD8 (10µg/10µg per individual) antibodies for T cell depletion prior to A/Phil (H3N2) challenge. (C) Weight changes of rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e prime-boost mice after challenge with A/Phil (200 LD<sub>50</sub>). (D) IL-6 levels in BALF or lung extracts at day 5 post challenge with A/Phil. ELISA of IgG or IgA antibodies specific for M2e peptide and inactivated virus antigens (rgH3N2 or A/Phil) in (E, F) BALF and (G, H) lung extracts at day 5 post challenge with A/Phil. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



### Figure 16 Intranasal boost vaccination with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus further enhances rgH3N2 virus specific IgG and HAI antibodies

Sera were collected at 2 weeks after boost immunization of primed mice with rgH3N2 or rgH3N2 4xM2e. (A) IgG1 or (B) IgG2a antibody detection specific for rgH3N2. (C) Boost serum HAI titers against A/PR8, A/Phil, rgH3N2 and A/Viet. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

### 2.4.8 Boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection and correlates with higher

### M2e specific IgG levels and lower inflammatory cytokines in the respiratory sites

At 3 weeks after boost dose, rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e immunized mice were treated with T cell depleting anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 antibodies and then challenged with A/Phil H3N2 at a high dose. The rgH3N2 4xM2e group showed 100% protection without weight loss whereas the rgH3N2 group displayed substantial weight loss (15%) after A/Phil challenge (Figure 15C). Consistent with efficacy of cross-protection, inflammatory cytokine IL-6 levels were low in BALF and lung extracts from the rgH3N2 4xM2e group (Figure 15D). Significantly higher levels of M2e specific IgG and IgA antibodies in BALF and lung extracts were induced in the rgH3N2 4xM2e group than those in the rgH3N2 group after A/Phil challenge (Figs. 15E-H). Also, the levels of IgA antibodies specific for rgH3N2 and A/Phil viruses were higher in lung extracts from the rgH3N2 4xM2e group (Figure 15H).

Consistently, boost dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e also enhanced cross-protection against heterosubtypic rgH5N1 virus, as shown by less weight loss (~4% versus 13% in rgH3N2 control) and undetectable lung viral loads (Figs. 17A, B). Particularly IgG levels specific for M2e were induced at significantly higher levels in BALF and lung extracts from the rgH3N2 4xM2e group than those in the rgH3N2 group or naïve group (Figure 17C). IgG levels to vaccine (rgH3N2) and challenge virus (rgH5N1) were similar in both groups. As expected, the rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e group after infection with rgH5N1 (Figure 17D). Moreover, rgH3N2 4xM2e vaccine group exhibited lower levels of proinflammatory cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$ ) compared to the rgH3N2 group.

To determine the role and capability of immune sera in inducing cross-protection against heterosubtypic rgH5N1 virus, naïve mice were intranasally infected with A/Vietnam virus (2 LD<sub>50</sub>) after mixing with boost immune sera from the rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e group, and naïve sera respectively (Figure 17E). The group with rgH3N2 4xM2e immune sera displayed significantly less weight loss (~3%) compared to the rgH3N2 serum group with substantial weight loss (~15%) similar to the naïve serum group (Figure 17E). At day 8 post challenge with rgH5N1 virus, the rgH3N2 group started to recover (Figure 17E). Taken together, these results indicate that M2e specific antibodies in mucosal and systemic sites provide cross-protection by restricting viral replication and preventing inflammation.



### Figure 17 Boost with rgH3N2 4xM2e enhances cross-protection against heterosubtypic A/Viet rgH5N1 virus by vaccination and immune sera

(A, B) Heterosubtypic cross-protective efficacy of boost immune mice after challenge with rgH5N1 (A/Vietnam, 50 LD<sub>50</sub>). (A) Weight changes of boost immunized mice (n=5 /group) after rgH5N1 challenge. (B) Lung viral titers (TCID<sub>50</sub> x100/ml) at 6-day post challenge with rgH5N1. (C) ELISA of IgG antibodies specific for M2e, rgH3N2, or rgH5N1 in BALF and lung extracts at day 6 post challenge with A/Viet rgH5N1. ELISA viral antigens are M2e peptide, rgH3N2 or A/Viet. (D) Inflammatory cytokines in BALF and lung extracts at day 6 post challenge with A/Viet rgH5N1. (E) Roles of boost immune sera in cross-protection against rgH5N1 virus as determined by monitoring weight changes. Naïve mice (n=3 /group) were intranasally inoculated with rgH5N1 (2 LD<sub>50</sub>) virus mixed with boost immune sera (rgH3N2, rgH3N2 4xM2e) or unvaccinated naïve sera. Error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances between rgH3N2 group versus rgH3N2 4xM2e group were determined using two-way ANOVA (A, C-E) or one-way ANOVA (B) and indicated in \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001; ###, P < 0.0005.

### 2.5 Discussion

The induction of strain specific neutralizing antibodies is the main immunity by current influenza vaccination, which is suboptimal for providing cross-protection. M2 is incorporated into influenza virions at a very low level (Zebedee and Lamb, 1988) and poorly immunogenic after vaccination or even with live virus infection (Zhong et al., 2014, Feng et al., 2006). Several strategies were reported in an attempt to overcome the poor immunogenicity of M2e, including fusion of M2e peptides to immunogenic carrier proteins and use of adjuvants (Neirynck et al., 1999, Fan et al., 2004, De Filette et al., 2005) or delivery of VLPs containing M2e epitopes (Bessa

et al., 2008, Hashemi et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2013b). M2e fusion protein vaccines (M2e-HBc, M2eflagellins) were tested in Phase I/II clinical trials, resulting in high seroconversion inducing M2e specific antibody responses (Mezhenskaya et al., 2019, Deng et al., 2015). Intramuscular vaccination with M2e fusion protein vaccines was well tolerated except for the high doses (3  $\mu$ g or 10 µg) of M2e-flagellin conjugates in healthy individuals (Turley et al., 2011). However, there has been no further clinical advancement of M2e based vaccines probably due to low efficacy of M2e immunity alone (Subbarao and Matsuoka, 2013, Jegerlehner et al., 2004, Song et al., 2011). One drawback might be short-lived M2e antibodies. Another disadvantage is the nonneutralizing nature of M2e immunity conferring low efficacy. An approach to overcome these drawbacks of M2e fusion protein vaccines would be to develop chimeric influenza virus vaccines where multi M2e epitopes are fused to the HA molecules in a way retaining HA functional and immunogenic integrity. It is expected that the tolerability and protective efficacy of chimeric influenza virus vaccines would be compatible with seasonal vaccines in addition to providing extra M2e immunity. In this approach, we generated recombinant seasonal H3N2 influenza A virus expressing chimeric H3 HA molecules with heterologous tandem repeat 4xM2e epitopes. This recombinant H3N2 virus with chimeric 4xM2e-HA was found to be highly attenuated, effective in inducing both M2e and HA immunity, conferring cross-protection against different viruses H1N1, reassortants with avian M2, H3N2, H5N1, H7N9, and H9N2 subtypes in mice with a single dose.

The comparable *in vitro* growth kinetics of rgH3N2 4xM2e viruses suggest the integrity of HA functions in recombinant H3N2 virus containing chimeric H3 4xM2e-HA. The pathogenicity of rgH3N2 reassortants (up to  $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub>) with the PR8 backbone was highly attenuated in mice by

1,000 to 10,000 folds in the aspects of weight changes and viral replication ( $10^3$  versus  $10^8$  EID<sub>50</sub> titers) in the lungs compared to the WT A/PR8 (H1N1) virus ( $10^4$  EID<sub>50</sub>). The attenuated rgH3N2 phenotypes might serve as an appropriate platform to test vaccine candidates in mice. Owning to the attenuated phenotypes, a single prime dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e within a typical range ( $10^5 - 10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub>) for LAIV vaccination (Kotomina et al., 2019, Isakova-Sivak et al., 2017) could mimic vaccination without displaying pathogenic phenotypes. Chimeric rgH3N2 4xM2e was not defective in inducing immunity to virus.

It is significant to observe substantial levels of IgG isotype antibodies specific for M2e after prime with recombinant seasonal rgH3N2 4xM2e virus compared to WT rgH3N2 virus. The rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice were protected against H1N1 A/PR8 and rgH9N2 virus as shown by 100% survival rates and relatively quicker recovery than the rgH3N2 group with 0 to 30% survival rates. Also, prime dose of rgH3N2 4xM2e provided higher protection with minimum weight loss against lethal challenge with H3N2 A/Phil, rgH5N1, and rgH7N9 virus although rgH3N2 primed mice survived in the absence of inducing cross reactive HAI activity. The efficacy of cross-protection by priming with rgH3N2 4xM2e appears to be correlated with enhanced levels of M2e IgG antibodies in sera and mucosal (BALF, lungs) sites as well as IFN-γ secreting CD4 T cells (Figs. 10E, F).

The rgH3N2 control group showed substantial protection against H1N1, rgH5N1, rgH7N9, and rgH9N2 virus and A/Phil (H3N2) virus in the absence of cross-reactive HAI titers, lowering 100 folds in lung viral titers compared to mock control mice after infection. With CD4 or CD8 T cell depletion, the differences in cross-protection against H3N2 A/Phil and H1N1 A/PR8 viruses were more evident between the rgH3N2 and rgH3N2 4xM2e primed mice. Also, the survival rates were lower particularly in the rgH3N2 group and recovery was delayed under a condition of both CD4 and CD8 T cell depletion even after low challenge doses with group 1 H1N1 virus A/PR8 and reassortants. These results support the significant roles of cross protective T cells particularly during a recovery phase. It is also possible that HA stalk specific antibodies induced in both chimeric 4xM2e-HA and WT rgH3N2 virus groups would contribute to cross-protection against group 2 viruses with relatively high doses. This cross-protection observed in the control rgH3N2 group, despite significantly lower efficacy than rgH3N2 4xM2e, indicates a caveat in testing vaccine efficacy of live recombinant influenza viruses in mouse models. Consistent, the mice surviving pathogenic influenza virus infection were reported to confer heterosubtypic cross-protection (Kim et al., 2017a, Guo et al., 2011, O'Neill et al., 2000).

The levels of M2e specific IgG antibodies were significantly increased post boost with live rgH3N2 4xM2e virus, indicating effective priming of B cells by the first dose. In line with this outcome, enhanced cross-protection against A/Phil H3N2 virus was observed in the rgH3N2 4xM2e group displaying no apparent weight loss after boost compared to the rgH3N2 control. Use of higher dose (50 LD<sub>50</sub>) challenge is because of prime-boost vaccination and the same subtype as the rgH3N2 vaccine strain. When challenged with heterosubtypic rgH5N1 virus, the increases in M2e specific IgG responses in BALF and lungs but not IgG responses to rgH5N1 were higher than those with homosubtypic A/Phil H3N2 challenge. Consistently, BALF and lungs showed highly enhanced levels of IgG and IgA antibodies specific for M2e, compared to the control group.

A recent study reported that inactivated chimeric influenza viruses containing an M2e epitope in the immunodominant head site of HA could induce IgG antibodies to M2e and stalk domains after intramuscular vaccination, conferring cross-protection (Sun et al., 2019, Kim et al., 2020). The size of foreign epitopes or fragments to be inserted into the N-terminus of HA appears to be highly flexible as large as 246 residues while maintaining HA functional (Hatziioannou et al., 1999). Whereas recombinant influenza viruses containing the only a limited length of foreign epitopes less than 18 residues in the HA head domain could be rescued to generate replication-competent viruses (Lee et al., 2016a, Garcia-Sastre and Palese, 1995). The location of inserting foreign epitopes in HA molecules should be considered in the size of epitopes and routes of vaccination.

The non-neutralizing immune mechanisms of protection by M2e antibodies were reviewed (Deng et al., 2015, Mezhenskaya et al., 2019, Lee et al., 2015a) in addition to M2e T cell contributions. Previous studies reported that M2e vaccine immune sera did not exhibit neutralization activity by plaque reduction or tissue culture infectivity assays (Deng et al., 2018, Jegerlehner et al., 2004). Mechanisms of protection by passive transfer of M2e antibodies include antibody dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity and antibody dependent cell-mediated phagocytosis, which involves Fc receptors, complements, natural killer (NK) cells, and macrophages. Passive transfer of M2e vaccine immune sera prior to virus infection provides survival advantages (Wang et al., 2014). The infection of naïve mice with a mix of challenge virus and sera required smaller amounts of sera than the passive transfer of sera prior to infection. Our current and previous studies indicate that both simultaneous mix and prior-to-infection passive transfer approaches produced similar outcomes. We previously reported that the efficacy of M2e immune sera was significantly reduced or abrogated in Fcy receptor knockout mice, suggesting a critical role of Fcy receptors in mediating M2e antibody mediated protection (Kim et al., 2013a, Kim et al., 2017b, Lee et al., 2014a). M2e antibody-dependent NK cell activity was reported to be important for M2e immune mediated protection (Jegerlehner et al., 2004).

In summary, recombinant seasonal influenza rgH3N2 4xM2e virus containing tandem repeat 4xM2e epitopes in the N-terminus of HA molecules retains comparable growth properties *in vitro* and LAIV-like attenuation phenotypes *in vivo* in mice. Intranasal prime vaccination with rgH3N2 4xM2e virus could provide broad and enhanced cross-protection against different subtypes H1N1, H3N2, rgH5N1, rgH7N9, and rgH9N2 as well as reassortant viruses with avian M2. *In vivo* limited replication of recombinant influenza virus containing foreign epitopes in the N-terminus HA appears to be an attractive strategy to induce systemic and mucosal immune responses to the inserted epitopes. This study provides insight into developing broad cross-protective recombinant influenza virus vaccines. This approach of recombinant influenza virus vaccine platforms with a licensed master backbone should be further tested in ferrets, a more relevant animal model in future studies.

#### 2.6 Acknowledgement

This research was supported by NIH/NIAID grants AI093772 (S.M.K.), AI147042 (S.M.K), AI152800 (S.M.K.), and by Russian Science Foundation grant 19-15-00015 (I. I.-S., L.R.). Authors express thanks to Dr. A. Garcia-Sastre for providing plasmids pDZ with genes encoding H7 HA and N9 NA derived from A/Shanghai/2/2013.

### 3 ENHANCED CROSS-PROTECTION BY HETERO PRIME-BOOST VACCINATION WITH RECOMBINANT INFLUENZA VIRUSES CONTAINING CHIMERIC HEMAGGLUTININ-M2e EPITOPES

Copyright © 2021, Virology (Accepted 8 December 2021)

### 3.1 Abstract

Annual repeat influenza vaccination raises concerns about protective efficacy against mismatched viruses. We investigated the impact of heterologous prime-boost vaccination on inducing cross-protection by designing recombinant influenza viruses with chimeric hemagglutinin (HA) carrying M2 extracellular domains (M2e-HA). Heterologous prime-boost vaccination of C57BL/6 mice with M2e-HA chimeric virus more effectively induced M2e and HA stalk specific IgG antibodies correlating with cross protection than homologous prime-boost vaccination. Induction of M2e and HA stalk specific IgG antibodies was compromised in 1-year old mice, indicating significant aging effects on priming subdominant M2e and HA stalk IgG antibody responses. This study demonstrates that a heterologous prime-boost strategy with recombinant influenza virus expressing extra M2e epitopes provides more effective crossprotection than homologous vaccination.

### 3.2 Introduction

Influenza A virus belongs to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, a negative-sense singlestranded RNA virus containing eight segmented genomes. It has a wide variety, originating from 18 hemagglutinin (HA) subtypes (H1-H18) and 11 neuraminidase (NA) subtypes (N1-N11), with antigenically diverse strains isolated in each subtype (Tong et al., 2013). Hundreds of millions of people are infected yearly with influenza viruses, which leads to 290,000 to 646,000 deaths globally, with young children and the elderly being the most vulnerable (Iuliano et al., 2018, Lee et al., 2018, Thompson et al., 2003).

Due to the emergence of drifting mutations and pandemics, overall vaccine effectiveness is in a wide range of low efficacy between 10 % and 60 % (CDC, 2021e). Low vaccine effectiveness comes from multiple factors such as aging, health and pre-existing immune status, antigenic mismatches, and poor immunogenicity of vaccines. Vaccine strains are annually updated to reflect better the circulating influenza strains and vaccination is recommended every year. While annually repeated influenza vaccination was effective with variable efficacy (Casado et al., 2018, Mastalerz-Migas et al., 2015a, Beyer et al., 1999, Smith et al., 1999, de Bruijn et al., 1999, Keitel et al., 1997), several recent studies have indicated that repeated annual vaccination did not result in improving vaccine effectiveness particularly when circulating strains are mismatched (McLean et al., 2014, Leung et al., 2017, Morimoto and Takeishi, 2018, Song et al., 2020). It has been a high priority to enhance the vaccine efficacy and develop broadly cross-protective vaccines.

Influenza virus HA proteins consist of the immune-dominant but highly variable head domain, which provides a strain-specific neutralizing target, as well as the relatively conserved stalk domain, which mediates the viral membrane fusion (Krammer et al., 2018a). To overcome the immune-subdominant nature of HA stalk domains, influenza viruses were reverse-genetically engineered to contain chimeric HA where the variable head domain was replaced with a corresponding domain from the antigenically far distant strains without changing the stalk domain (Nachbagauer et al., 2021, Liao et al., 2020). Recombinant chimeric HA influenza virus vaccines were reported to induce high levels of stalk specific IgG responses leading to enhanced cross-protection in animal models (Krammer et al., 2013). In phase I clinical studies, AS03adjuvanted chimeric HA-based influenza virus vaccine induced durable IgG responses to the HA stalk domain (Nachbagauer et al., 2021, Bernstein et al., 2020). While these results provide a proof-of-concept for developing stalk-based cross-protective vaccines, they would not confer sufficient protection against currently circulating strains due to their antigenically unrelated HA head domain.

Influenza A virus contains ion channel protein M2 extracellular epitopes (M2e) which are highly conserved but poorly immunogenic, despite being a promising universal antigenic target (Saelens, 2019). To induce immunity to both M2e and circulating HA, replication-competent influenza viruses were genetically modified to retain and express chimeric HA molecules with tandem repeat 4xM2e in the N-terminus HA (4xM2e-HA) from H1N1 (Kim et al., 2017a), H3N2 (Park et al., 2021), and H7N9 virus (Mezhenskaya et al., 2021a). The live recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccines were immunogenic in inducing strain specific neutralizing antibodies and M2e immunity, conferring differential cross protection in BALB/c mice. However, the efficacy of homologous prime-boost vaccination would likely be limited due to pre-existing immunity.

The impact of heterologous prime-boost vaccination with recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccines and pre-existing immunity on inducing cross-protection against influenza viruses remains unknown. In this study, we investigated the efficacy of cross-protection by heterosubtypic prime-boost vaccination with live recombinant 4xM2e-HA H1N1 and H3N2 influenza virus vaccines in C57BL/6 mice that are known to be a less responder to low immunogenic conserved epitopes. Heterologous prime-boost strategies using recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccines were found to be more effective in inducing cross-protection
against antigenically different viruses in C57BL/6 mice compared to homologous prime-boost vaccination strategies. M2e and HA stalk immunity might have played a role in cross-protection.

#### 3.3 Materials and Methods

#### 3.3.1 Cells and viruses

293T cells (ATCC) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium media (DMEM) and used for plasmid DNA transfection. Influenza viruses were amplified in embryonated chicken eggs (Hy-Line N.A., Mansfield, GA) and confirmed to be free of the influenza virus. A/Puerto Rico/8/34 (A/PR8, H1N1), A/California/04/09 (A/Cal, H1N1), A/Philippines/2/82 (A/Phil, H3N2), and A/Vietnam rgH5N1 (A/Viet, rgH5N1) virus were used, which possesses HA (polybasic residues removed) and NA from A/Vietnam/1203/2004 and 6 other backbone genes of A/PR8 as previously described(Song et al., 2011). H3N2 recombinant virus was a reassortant virus with A/PR8 backbone (X-247 rgH3N2, International Reagent Resource, FR-1366) carrying HA and NA genes from A/Switzerland/9715293/2013. The influenza viruses were propagated in 10-day-old embryonated chicken eggs and inactivated by treatment of 37% formalin at 1:4,000 (v/v) dilutions as described previously (Quan et al., 2008).

# 3.3.2 Construction of attenuated A/PR8 backbone H1N1 and H3N2 viruses expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA

Recombinant influenza viruses carrying wild type or chimeric hemagglutinin (HA) were generated using reverse genetics with PR8 backbone genes within the pHW2000 plasmids (kindly provided by Dr. Robert G. Webster, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital). The attenuated PR8 backbone (attPR8) was generated by introducing mutations in the PB1 (K391E, E581G, A661T) and PB2 (N265S) polymerase genes granting temperature-sensitive (ts) attenuation as described (Jung et al., 2020). Reassorted H3N2 virus contained HA and NA genes derived from A/Switzerland/9715293/2013 (H3N2). The chimeric 4xM2e-HA genes encoded for four tandem repeats of M2e (4xM2e composed of 2x human M2e, swine M2e and avian M2e) inserted into the N-terminus of A/PR8 H1 HA (4xM2e-HA H1) (Kim et al., 2017a) or A/Switzerland H3 HA (4xM2e-HA H3, Figure 18A) as previously described (Park et al., 2021). The 4xM2e-HA<sub>Cal head</sub> construct contained A/Cal HA head domain (Cys<sub>52</sub>-Cys<sub>277</sub>) in the 4xM2e-HA H1 context replacing the A/PR8 HA head domain (Figs. 18A, B). Eight plasmids encoding A/PR8 backbone plus each gene segment, including the desired subtype 4xM2e-HA construct and NA were co-transfected into 293T cells and incubated for 2 days. Chicken embryonated eggs were inoculated with transfection supernatants to rescue different subtype chimeric 4xM2e-HA recombinant viruses. The rescue of recombinant influenza virus was initially confirmed by measuring hemagglutination activity of egg allantoic fluids.

#### 3.3.3 Characterization and pathogenicity assessment of recombinant viruses

Recombinant viruses rescued were characterized by measuring replication titers in embryonated chicken eggs (50% egg infectious dose, EID<sub>50</sub>) and hemagglutination activity using 0.5% chicken red blood cells (RBC, Lampire Biological Laboratories). The existence of 4xM2e in HA was confirmed with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using M2e specific monoclonal antibody (14C2 mAb) (Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA). To assess the pathogenicity of recombinant viruses, C57BL/6J mice were intranasally infected with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8, attPR8 with 4xM2e-HA H1 (attPR8 4xM2e) or 5x10<sup>5</sup> of EID<sub>50</sub> of H3N2 or H3N2 with 4xM2e-HA H3 (H3N2 4xM2e), and body weight changes were monitored. Moreover, nasal turbinates and lung tissue samples were collected and homogenized in RPMI media at 3 days after intranasal infection with 10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of A/PR8, PR8 with 4xM2e-HA<sub>Cal head</sub> (Cal 4xM2e) or 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8, attPR8 4xM2e H3N2 or H3N2 4xM2e. Serially diluted supernatants were inoculated in the embryonated eggs to determine virus titers.

#### 3.3.4 Immunization and influenza virus challenge in mice

C57BL/6J mice received sequential prime-boost intranasal immunizations with recombinant live viruses in an interval of 3 weeks. The first set of mice groups (n = 20 /group, 6-8 weeks old, Jackson Laboratories) were intranasally primed with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8 or attPR8 4xM2e H1N1 viruses and boosted with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8, attPR8 4xM2e, H3N2, H3N2 4xM2e or 10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of Cal 4xM2e H1N1 viruses. One-year-old C57BL/6J mice (n =5) were primed with attPR8 4xM2e (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and boosted with H3N2 4xM2e (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). For reverse order immunization, mice (n = 20 /group, 6-8 weeks old, Jackson Laboratories) were intranasally vaccinated with 5x10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of H3N2 or H3N2 4xM2e and boosted with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of H3N2, attPR8 or attPR8 4xM2e H1N1 viruses. Mouse blood samples were collected through retro-orbital bleeding 2 weeks after each immunization. Mouse groups, including naïve group (unvaccinated mice) from the H1N1 primed set and H3N2 primed another set of hetero prime-boost immunizations, were challenged with A/Viet rgH5N1 (10 LD<sub>50</sub>, 1.6 x 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) and A/Phil (100 LD<sub>50</sub>, 1.4 x10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) respectively. All animal experiments in this study were approved by the Georgia State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) review boards. Mouse animal experiments including virus infection, blood collection, and tissue collections were performed in accordance with the approved IACUC protocol (A21004) and regulations.

#### 3.3.5 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

IgG antibodies specific for the viruses were measured by ELISA with coating antigens (4 µg/ml) from inactivated A/PR8 H1N1, A/Cal H1N1, A/SW H3N2, A/Phil H3N2, and A/Viet rgH5N1 viruses. M2e-specific IgG antibody responses were determined using M2e peptide antigen (23 amino acids) as described previously (Kim et al., 2013b, Kim et al., 2014). Construction and preparation of the consensus group 1 stalk and group 2 stalk proteins were previously reported (Chae et al., 2019) and used as coating antigens for measuring HA stalk specific IgG antibodies. To determine IgG antibodies to both M2e and HA stalk domains, chimeric M2e-H1 HA stalk protein (aa1-117 of HA2 domain from A/PR8 virus) and M2e-H3 stalk protein (aa1-117 of HA2 domain from A/PR8 virus) and M2e-H3 stalk protein (aa1-117 of HA2 domain from A/PR8 virus) were expressed in *E. Coli* and purified (Jeeva at al., unpublished data) and used as an ELISA coating antigen. HRP (Horseradish Peroxidase) conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Southern Biotechnology) was used as a secondary antibody. 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate (Invitrogen<sup>™</sup>) was utilized for color development. IgG antibody levels were read by BioTek ELISA plate reader at 450nm.

#### 3.3.6 Hemagglutination Inhibition (HAI) Titers

Mouse sera were treated with receptor destroying enzymes (RDE, Sigma) with a 1:4 ratio, incubated at 37 °C overnight, and inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes. RDE-treated serum samples were serially diluted (two-fold) and incubated with an equal volume of viruses (4 hemagglutination activity units). HAI titers were measured with 0.5% RBC.

#### 3.3.7 Preparation of lung samples

Lung lysates and bronchoalveolar lavage fluids (BALFs) were collected on day 5 after the challenge. Lung extracts were obtained from the lung homogenates in 1.5ml of RPMI media after

centrifugation and used to determine virus titers in embryonated chicken eggs, IgG antibody responses specific for M2e, M2e-H1 stalk and M2e-H3 stalk were measured. BALFs were harvested by infusing 1ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) into the trachea. IL-6 cytokine levels from BALFs and lung extracts were determined by Ready-SET-Go kits with IL-6 specific antibodies (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 3.3.8 Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) analysis

ADCC in immune sera was quantified by ADCC Reporter Bioassay Kit (Promega Life Sciences). The target MDCK cells  $(4\times10^4/100ul/well)$  on the 96-well Optical-Bottom plates (Thermo Scientific<sup>TM</sup>) were infected with 100x TCID<sub>50</sub> of A/Viet rgH5N1 or A/Phil H3N2 virus one day prior to assay. Infected cells were washed with 200 µL RPMI medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and supplemented with 25 µL assay buffer (containing 4% low IgG serum in RPMI medium provided by assay kit). Heat-inactivated immune sera (25 µL) diluted in assay buffer were added to the cells and then further incubated for 6 h at 37 °C following the treatment of mouse effector Jurkat cells (Promega Life Sciences, 75,000 cells/well). Fluorescence was read by a Cytation 5 imaging reader (BioTek) after 5-min incubation at room temperature with 75 µL /well of Bio-Glo luciferase assay substrate (Promega Life Sciences). The fold induction was calculated after subtracting the culture medium background as suggested in the technical manual. The measurements were conducted in triplicate using three replicate wells.

#### 3.3.9 Statistical analysis

Statistically significant differences were determined among groups using two- or one-way ANOVA. A p-values that were less than or equal to 0.05 were considered statically significant. Data were analyzed using Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

## 3.4.1 In vitro and in vivo virological characterization of recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA

The rescued recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric HA where foreign gene fragments were genetically linked to the N-terminus of HA were reported to be highly stable even after 10 passages (Kim et al., 2017a, Park et al., 2021, Lee et al., 2015b, Mezhenskaya et al., 2021a). The rescued recombinant live attenuated influenza viruses H1N1 (A/South Africa/3626/2013), H3N2 (A/Switzerland/9715293/2013), and H7N9 (A/Anhui/1/2013) containing 4xM2e-HA were confirmed by sequencing the full-length HA in previous studies (Kotomina et al., 2020, Mezhenskaya et al., 2021a). To determine the impact of heterologous prime-boost vaccination on cross-protection, we generated three different recombinant influenza A viruses containing tandem repeat 4xM2e-HA (Figure 18A). The attPR8 4xM2e is an A/PR8 reassortant virus with an attenuated backbone and chimeric 4xM2e-HA H1 of A/PR8. The Cal 4xM2e virus contains the A/PR8 wild type backbone and 4xM2e-HA where the head domain (C<sub>52</sub>-C<sub>277</sub>) of A/PR8 H1 HA was replaced with that of A/California/2019 (A/Cal). The reassortant H3N2 and H3N2 4xM2e viruses contain HA and 4xM2e-HA respectively, H3 HA and N2 NA genes from A/Switzerland/2013 (A/SW, H3N2) and the internal and A/PR8 wild type backbone as previously described (Park et al., 2021). The prediction of structural modeling of 4xM2e-HA chimera indicates similarity in displaying the globular head domain, stalk domain, and tandem repeat 4xM2e linked to the N-terminus of HA and juxtaposed to the bottom of the stalk (Figure 18B). These recombinant viruses propagated in embryonated chicken eggs retained high infectious titers (Figure 18C). The Cal 4xM2e, A/SW H3N2, and H3N2 4xM2e viruses showed

approximately 4 folds lower hemagglutination activity units (HAU), compared to those of A/PR8, attPR8, and attPR8 4xM2e viruses respectively (Figure 18D). M2e epitopes in attPR8 4xM2e, H3N2 4xM2e, and Cal 4xM2e viruses were detected at significantly higher levels compared to those of corresponding viruses with unmodified HA (Figure 18E).



## Figure 18 In vitro characterization of recombinant influenza viruses containing M2e epitopes (4xM2e) in chimeric HA conjugates

(A) Constructs of chimeric hemagglutinin (HA) carrying 4xM2e in its N-terminus. 4xM2e-HA H1: A/PR8 H1 HA containing 4xM2e, 4xM2e-HA<sub>Cal head</sub>: A/PR8 4xM2e-HA head domain (Cys<sub>52</sub>-Cys<sub>277</sub>) was replaced with A/Cal HA head domain, 4xM2e-HA H3: A/SW H3 HA carrying 4xM2e. SP: signal peptide, tandem repeat 4xM2e is composed of human M2e (SLLTEVETPIRNEWGSRSNDSSD), swine M2e (SLLTEVETPTRSEWESRSSDSSD), and avian M2e (SLLTEVETPTRNEWESRSSDSSD). L and C represent linker (AAAGGAA) and connector (AAAPGAA). (B) Predictive three-dimensional structure of the chimeric HA monomers for 4xM2e-HA H1, 4xM2e-HA<sub>Cal head</sub> and 4xM2e-HA H3 respectively, utilizing PyMol program. (C) Titration of infectious viruses in allantoic fluids of embryonated eggs inoculated with A/PR8, attPR8, attPR8 4xM2e, Cal 4xM2e, H3N2, or H3N2 4xM2e virus. (D) Hemagglutination activity in recombinant virus stocks using chicken RBC. (E) Reactivity of recombinant virus to M2e specific mAb 14C2. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

To test the pathogenicity of recombinant viruses, body weight changes were monitored in C57BL/6J mice after intranasal inoculation with attPR8 (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>), attPR8 4xM2e (10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>), H3N2 (5x10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) or H3N2 4xM2e (5x10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) at the doses used as prime vaccination. No body weight loss was detected in all groups (Figure 19A). In addition, no weight loss was observed in the mice intranasally primed with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8 or attPR8 4xM2e and homo- or heterologous boost with 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8, H3N2, attPR8 4xM2e, or H3N2 4xM2e, or 10<sup>5</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> of Cal 4xM2e (Figure 19B).

Infectious titers of virus replication in upper (nose) and lower (lung) respiratory tracts were determined at 3 days after intranasal inoculation of mice with A/PR8, attPR8, attPR8, 4xM2e, Cal 4xM2e, H3N2 or H3N2 4xM2e (Figure 19C). The wild type A/PR8 and Cal 4xM2e viruses replicated at higher titers in lung lysates than in nasal turbinates by 10<sup>2</sup> and 10<sup>6</sup> folds, respectively. In contrast, attPR8, attPR8, 4xM2e, H3N2, and H3N2 4xM2e viruses were detected at higher virus titers in the nasal turbinates than in the lung by approximately 10<sup>4</sup>, 10<sup>2</sup>, 10 and 10<sup>2</sup> folds respectively (Figure 19C), confirming their attenuated phenotypes.





(A) Body weight changes of C57BL/6J mice (n = 8-24/group) after intranasal inoculation with live attPR8 ( $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub>), attPR8 4xM2e ( $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub>), H3N2 ( $5x10^{5}$  EID<sub>50</sub>) or H3N2 4xM2e ( $5x10^{5}$  EID<sub>50</sub>). (B) Body weight changes in C57BL/6J mice (n = 5-9/group) prime boost immunized with attPR8/attPR8, attPR8/H3N2, attPR8 4xM2e/attPR8 4xM2e, attPR8 4xM2e/H3N2 4xM2e and attPR8 4xM2e/Cal 4xM2e.  $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub> of these viruses were inoculated except for Cal 4xM2e ( $10^{5}$  EID<sub>50</sub>). (C) Virus replications in mouse lung and nasal turbinate (n = 4-5) at day3 post challenge with A/PR8 ( $10^{4}$  EID<sub>50</sub>), attPR8 ( $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub>), attPR8 4xM2e

 $(10^{6} \text{ EID}_{50})$ , Cal 4xM2e  $(10^{4} \text{ EID}_{50})$ , H3N2  $(10^{6} \text{ EID}_{50})$  and H3N2 4xM2e  $(10^{6} \text{ EID}_{50})$ . Each individual animal is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

### 3.4.2 H1N1 virus prime and heterologous boost with recombinant viruses carrying

#### 4xM2e-HA induces enhanced M2e specific IgG and differential levels of HA stalk

#### specific IgG antibodies

We determined the impact of heterologous boost in mice primed with H1N1 virus (attPR8+/-M2e) on inducing a profile of IgG antibodies for homo and hetero viruses, M2e, and HA stalk domains, in a set of five groups. The groups consisted of attPR8/attPR8, attPR8/H3N2, attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e, attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e and attPR8 M2e/Cal M2e where M2e indicates 4xM2e in the vaccine groups (Figure 20A). Intranasal prime inoculation of C57BL/6J mice with attPR8 or attPR8 M2e induced IgG antibodies to homologous A/PR8 at substantial levels and cross-reactive IgG antibodies to A/SW H3N2 and rgH5N1 reassortant viruses at lower levels (Figure 21). M2e and group 1 stalk specific IgG antibodies were induced at very low levels after prime dose attPR8 M2e, suggesting that M2e and HA stalk domains are immuno-subdominant (Figure 21). Heterosubtypic boost (attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e) induced highest levels of IgG antibodies specific for M2e followed by the heterologous boost group (attPR8 M2e/Cal M2e) (Figure 20B). Homo- and heterologous boost groups showed similar levels of IgG antibodies to A/PR8, A/Cal H1N1, and A/Viet rgH5N1 viruses (Figs. 20C, E, F). The attPR8/H3N2 and attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e vaccinated groups induced an increased level of IgG antibodies to A/SW H3N2 virus than other groups (Figure 20D). Meanwhile, the heterologous attPR8 M2e/Cal M2e group induced the highest levels of consensus group 1 stalk IgG responses (Figure 20G). Also, the group boosted with H3N2 or H3N2 M2e showed the highest IgG antibody reactivities to consensus group 2 stalk domain as expected (Figure 20H). These results suggest that a strategy of hetero

boost vaccination is more effective in inducing IgG antibodies specific for M2e and HA stalk immuno-subdominant epitopes.

The immunogenicity of hetero boost attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e was tested in one-year-old C57BL/6J mice after intranasal vaccination (Figure 22). Prime dose of attPR8 M2e induced substantial levels of IgG antibodies for A/PR8 H1N1, H3N2 (A/SW), and rgH5N1, but M2e and HA stalk IgG antibodies were detected at very low levels (Figure 22). After H3N2 M2e boost in aged C57BL/6J mice (attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e, Figure 23), IgG antibodies to M2e, A/PR8, H3N2, and rgH5N1 viruses but not to HA stalk domain were induced at increased levels despite lower levels being induced compared to those in young adult mice (Figure 20). These data implicate that priming vaccination at young ages might be required for effective induction of HA stalk IgG antibodies.



Figure 20 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, different viruses, and HA stalk domains after hetero boost with recombinant viruses in H1N1 primed

(A) Timeline strategy of hetero prime-boost intranasal immunization with recombinant viruses. C57BL/6J mice received prime vaccination with  $10^6 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of attPR8 H1N1 or attPR8 M2e H1N1 were inoculated with  $10^6 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of attPR8, attPR8 M2e, H3N2 M2e, or  $10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of Cal M2e in a 3-week interval (n = 8/each group). M2e indicates chimeric 4xM2e-HA. Serum IgG antibody responses specific for M2e peptide (B), A/PR8 virus (C), H3N2 virus (D), A/Cal virus (E), A/Viet virus (F), consensus group 1 stalk (G), and consensus group 2 stalk (H). Mouse sera were collected at 2 weeks after prime-boost immunization. attPR8/attPR8: homologous prime-boost attPR8 H1N1, attPR8/H3N2: heterosubtypic attPR8 prime and A/SW H3N2 boost, attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e: heterosubtypic prime-boost with chimeric 4xM2e-HA viruses, and attPR8 M2e/Cal M2e: heterologous H1N1 prime-boost with chimeric 4xM2e-HA viruses. M2e in the vaccine groups indicates tandem repeat 4xM2e. Each individual animal is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM.



## Figure 21 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, viruses, and HA stalk domains after prime dose immunization with attPR8 or attPR8 M2e

C57BL/6J mice (6-8 weeks, n = 13-19) were intranasally inoculated with  $10^6 \text{ EID}_{50}$  of attPR8 or attPR8 M2e. Serum IgG antibody responses at 2 weeks after prime specific for M2e (A), A/PR8 Virus (B), H3N2 virus (C), A/Cal virus (D), A/Viet virus (E), consensus group 1 stalk protein (F), and consensus group 2 stalk protein (G). Each individual mouse sera were analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01.



Figure 22 IgG antibody responses in 1-year-old mice after attPR8 or attPR8 M2e vaccination

Sera samples were collected at 2 weeks after attPR8 or attPR8 M2e immunization in 1-year-old C57BL/6J mice (n = 5). IgG antibody detection to M2e (A), A/PR8 virus (B), H3N2 virus (C), A/Viet virus (D), consensus

group 1 stalk protein (E) and consensus group 2 stalk protein (F). Each individual mouse sera were analyzed. Error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.1; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



#### Figure 23 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, different viruses, and HA stalk domains in 1 year old C57BL/6J mice after attPR8 M2e prime and H3N2 M2e boost

IgG antibody immune responses to M2e peptide (A), A/PR8 virus (B), H3N2 virus (C), A/Viet virus (D), consensus group 1 stalk protein (E), and consensus group 2 stalk protein (F). One year old C57BL/6J mice (n = 4) were inoculated with  $10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub> of attPR8 M2e and H3N2 M2e in a 3-week interval and bled at 2 weeks after boost. Each individual animal is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 3.4.3 Strain specific HAI titers were induced by heterosubtypic prime boost chimeric

#### recombinant influenza virus vaccination

Prime dose of attPR8 M2e induced A/PR8 specific hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers

at approximately 2 folds lower than attPR8 in young adult mice and 4 folds higher than that in 1-

year old mice (Figure 24A). Homologous boost with attPR8 and attPR8 M2e increased HAI titers

against A/PR8 virus by 4 folds in young adult mice whereas hetero boost with H3N2 M2e (attPR8

M2e/H3N2 M2e) induced 2 folds increases in A/PR8 HAI titers, but not by Cal M2e boost or in 1-

year old mice (Figs. 24A, B). High HAI titers against H3N2 (A/SW) were induced by hetero boost

with H3N2 or H3N2 M2e in young adult mice, which were approximately 20 folds higher than in 1-year-old mice with H3N2 M2e boost. No cross HAI titers against rgH5N1 virus were detected in young adult and aged mice after vaccination (Figure 24B).



#### Figure 24 HAI titers against hetero prime and boost viruses

(A) HAI titers against A/PR8 virus in young adult and 1-year old mouse sera after prime dose ( $10^{6}$  EID<sub>50</sub>) of attPR8 or attPR8 M2e. (B) HAI titers against A/PR8 H1N1, A/SW H3N2, and A/Viet rgH5N1 viruses after hetero boost in young adult and 1-year-old mice. Mouse sera were collected at day 14 following immunization. Group labels are the same as in the Figure 20 legend. Each individual mouse sera were analyzed (n = 8/group). Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 3.4.4 Hetero boost with recombinants 4xM2e-HA viruses in H1N1 M2e primed mice

#### improves cross protection against rgH5N1 virus

To investigate cross protective efficacy, mice were challenged with A/Viet rgH5N1 virus at a lethal dose 3 weeks after boost immunization (Figure 25A). The hetero boost groups (attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e and attPR8 M2e/Cal M2e) presented similarly least weight loss (~4.2%) whereas the homo boost groups (attPR8/attPR8 and attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e) displayed substantial weight loss, 10% and 12% respectively (Figure 25A). In an additional experimental set to determine lung viral titers, the hetero boost attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e group showed slight weight loss (~4%) by day 3 post challenge, they began to recover by day 4 when lung viral loads were reduced to a minimum of 10<sup>5</sup> folds lower than the titer in naive mice (10<sup>7</sup> ElD<sub>50</sub>/ml) after infection with rgH5N1 virus (Figs. 25B, C). Meanwhile, the homo boost attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e group manifested moderate weight loss (~9%) and lung viral loads (10<sup>3.8</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>/ml), which was 100 folds higher than hetero boost with H3N2 M2e. The attPR8/attPR8 and attPR8/H3N2 groups did not induce M2e specific IgG antibodies, and they showed more weight loss and higher lung viral titers, 10<sup>5.2</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>/ml and 10<sup>4.3</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>/ml respectively than 4xM2e-HA chimeric viruses (Figs. 25B, C), correlating the protective efficacy with M2e immunity. Hetero vaccination with attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e prevented severe weight loss and reduced viral loads in 14 months old mice by the time of challenge with rgH5N1 virus (Figure 26).

Consistent with the levels of lung viral titers, hetero prime boost attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e vaccination protected against lung inflammation as shown by the lowest levels of inflammatory cytokine IL-6 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and lung at day 4 after rgH5N1 infection (Figure 25D). The homologous prime-boost attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e and attPR8/H3N2 groups showed high levels of inflammatory IL-6 in lung while low levels in BALF (Figure 25D). The homo prime boost attPR8/attPR8 group with least protection showed higher IL-6 levels in BALF and lung than other more protective vaccine groups.

We also determined whether rapid induction of mucosal IgG antibodies specific for M2e and HA stalk domains would correlate with heterosubtypic cross protection against rgH5N1 virus (Figure 25E). The attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e group showed the highest levels of lung IgG antibodies specific for M2e and M2e-H1 stalk domains at day 4 after rgH5N1 challenge in young adult mice (Figure 25E). which was 2 and 7 folds higher respectively than those in 14 months old mice (Figure 26C). In contrast, attPR8/attPR8 and attPR8/H3N2 groups induced M2e and HA stalk IgG antibodies at non-detectable levels, similar to naïve mice after infection (Figure 25E). Three to four folds lower levels of lung IgG antibodies for M2e and HA stalk antibodies were observed in the homo attPR8 4xM2e/attPR8 4xM2e group than those in the hetero prime boost attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e group (Figure 25E). Taken together, these results indicate the effectiveness of heterologous prime-boost vaccination in conferring cross protection against rgH5N1 virus.



#### Figure 25 Hetero boost immunization with 4xM2e-HA chimeric virus enhances cross protection against A/Viet rgH5N1 virus

C57BL/6J mice were challenged with A/Viet rgH5N1 virus (reassortant A/PR8-A/Vietnam/1203/2004, 10  $LD_{50}$ , 1.6 x 10<sup>6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). (A) Body weight changes after challenge in young adult mice (n = 5/group). Group labels are the same as in the Figure 20 legend. (B-E) Young adult mice (n = 4/group) were intranasally prime boost immunized with attPR8/attPR8, attPR8/H3N2, attPR8 M2e/attPR8 M2e, and attPR8 M2e/H3N2 M2e (n = 5/group) and then challenged with A/Viet rgH5N1 virus. (B) Body weight changes for 4 days after challenge until mice were sacrificed. (C) Virus titers in lung lysates at 4 days after A/Viet challenge. (D) Inflammatory cytokine IL-6 levels in BALF or lung lysates day 4 post challenge with rgH5N1. (E) IgG antibodies specific for M2e and M2e-H1 stalk (HA2 aa1-117 from A/PR8) in lung lysates day 4 post challenge. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using one-way (C) or two-way (D, E) ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.



### Figure 26 Heterosubtypic attPR8 M2e prime H3N2 M2 boost intranasal vaccination protects one-year-old C57BL/6J mice against A/Viet rgH5N1 virus challenge

Mice (n = 5, 1-year-old) were sequentially immunized with attPR8 M2e ( $5x10^5 EID_{50}$ , 1.6 x  $10^6 EID_{50}$ ) and H3N2 M2e ( $10^6 EID_{50}$ ) with 3weeks interval prior to A/Viet rgH5N1 challenge ( $10 LD_{50}$ ). (A) Body weight changes after A/Viet rgH5N1 virus challenge for 4 days until mice were sacrificed. (B) Lung virus titers at 4 days after challenge. (C) Lung IgG antibodies specific for M2e or chimeric M2e-H1 stalk (HA2 aa1-117 from A/PR8) at day 4 after A/Viet rgH5N1 virus challenge. Naïve mouse group infected with A/Viet rgH5N1 virus is from Figure25 young naïve mice. Each individual mouse was analyzed. Error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances were determined using one-way ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01.

#### 3.4.5 Hetero boost in H3N2-primed mice with attPR8 M2e virus effectively induce M2e

#### IgG antibodies

Conversely, we determine the impact of hetero boost in H3N2-primed mice by comparing the following three prime-boost combinations, H3N2/H3N2, H3N2/attPR8, and H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e (Figure 27A). Significantly enhanced levels of IgG antibodies specific for M2e were induced in the hetero boost H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e group (Figure 27B) compared to prime dose of H3N2 M2e (Figure 28). Similar levels of IgG antibodies specific to homologous and heterosubtypic viruses such as A/PR8 (H1N1), A/SW (H3N2), and A/Phil (H3N2) were detected in all prime-boost immunized mouse groups (Figs. 27C-E).

Consensus group 1 stalk specific IgG antibodies were induced to a moderate level in the H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e group but not in the H3N2/attPR8 group (Figure 27F). IgG antibodies to consensus group 2 stalk were induced at the highest levels in the homo prime-boost H3N2/H3N2

group and substantial levels of consensus group 2 stalk IgG antibodies were similarly observed in the hetero prime-boost H3N2/attPR8 and H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e groups (Figure 27G).

Homologous strain (H3N2) specific HAI titers were induced at protective levels (~128) by prime dose of H3N2 or H3N2 4xM2e (Figure 27H). HAI titers against H3N2 virus were further enhanced by 4 folds by homo boost H3N2/H3N2 vaccination (Figs. 27H, I). Heterosubtypic attPR8 or attPR8 M2e boost immunization (H3N2/attPR8 and H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e) retained HAI titers induced by prime H3N2 dose (Figure 27H, I). Induction of HAI titers against A/PR8 might have been suppressed in H3N2 primed mice after attPR8 boost (Figure 27I). No HAI responses were observed against A/Phil from all groups (Figure 27I).



Figure 27 Intranasal heterosubtypic boost with chimeric 4xM2e-HA A/PR8 virus enhances M2e IgG responses in H3N2 primed mice

(A) Timeline for a reverse order of H3N2 prime and H1N1 boost vaccination strategy. Mice (n = 5/group) were intranasally inoculated in prime-boost regimens with H3N2/H3N2, H3N2/attPR8 or H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e (prime dose:  $5x10^5$  EID<sub>50</sub>, boost dose:  $10^6$  EID<sub>50</sub>) and immune sera were collected at 3 weeks after boost. IgG antibody responses to M2e (B), A/PR8 virus (C), A/SW H3N2 virus (D), A/Phil H3N2 virus (E), consensus group 1 stalk protein (F) and consensus group 2 stalk protein (G). HAI titers against influenza viruses were measured from immune sera after prime (H) and prime-boost (I) immunization. Each individual animal was analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



Figure 28 IgG antibodies specific for M2e, viruses, and HA stalk domains after prime vaccination with H3N2 or H3N2 M2e

Mouse sera were collected 2 weeks after intranasal single dose ( $5x10^5 \text{ EID}_{50}$ ) inoculation of H3N2 or H3N2 M2e. Total IgG antibodies specific for M2e (A), A/PR8 virus (B), H3N2 virus (C), A/Phil virus (D), consensus group 1 stalk protein (E) and consensus group 2 stalk protein (F). Each individual mouse sera were analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

#### 3.4.6 Hetero boost vaccination in H3N2-primed mice induces effective protection

#### against heterologous H3N2 virus

We evaluated whether heterosubtypic boost in H3N2 primed mice would be more effective in inducing cross-protection against A/Phil H3N2 virus challenge (Figure 29). The hetero prime-boost H3N2/attPR8 and H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e groups displayed only ~ 4% weight loss and then all mice recovered (Figure 29A). In contrast, the homo prime-boost H3N2/H3N2 group showed approximately 10% weight loss at day 2 after A/Phil infection before recovering weight to a normal level (Figure 29A). Naïve mice continued to display weight loss after A/Phil virus infection until day 5; at this point all mice were sacrificed to collect lung tissues for viral titration. Reduced lung virus titers were detected in the hetero prime-boost H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e group

after A/Phil challenge, which were ~10 folds lower than those of the homo or hetero prime-boost H3N2/H3N2 and H3N2/attPR8 groups and approximately 10<sup>5</sup> folds lower than those in naïve mice with infection (Figure 29B). Significantly higher levels of IgG antibodies specific for M2e, M2e-H1 stalk, and M2e-H3 stalk were measured in lung lysates from the hetero prime-boost H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e group (Figure 29C), likely correlating with lowest lung viral titers (Figure 29B). Despite the highest levels of group 2 stalk specific IgG responses (Figure 27G), the H3N2/H3N2 group did not show enhanced cross-protection against A/Phil virus (H3N2) (Figs. 29A, B).



#### Figure 29 H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e prime-boost vaccination provides effective lung viral control after heterologous A/Phil H3N2 virus challenge

The groups (n = 5/group) of mice immunized with H3N2/H3N2, H3N2/attPR8 or H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e were challenged with A/Phil virus (100x LD<sub>50</sub>, 1.4 x10<sup>4</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). (A) Body weight changes after A/Phil H3N2 virus challenge for 5 days until mice were sacrificed. (B) Lung virus titers at day 5 after A/Phil virus challenge. (C) Lung IgG antibodies specific for M2e, chimeric M2e-H1 stalk (HA2 aa1-117 from A/PR8), and chimeric M2e-H3 stalk (HA2 aa1-117 from A/Aichi/1968 H3N2). Each individual animal is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using one-way (B) or two-way (C) ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

#### 3.5 Discussion

Clinical data suggest that repeat seasonal influenza vaccination might not be highly effective in inducing protective antibody responses (McLean et al., 2014, Thompson et al., 2016, Leung et al., 2017, Morimoto and Takeishi, 2018, Song et al., 2020) or lead to substantial heterogeneity in vaccine effectiveness (Belongia et al., 2017). Our previous studies showed that homologous prime-boost with A/PR8 4xM2e-HA or prime dose of attenuated rgH3N2 4xM2e-HA virus vaccination could be more effective in conferring broader cross-protection in BALB/c mice than the wild type HA counterpart virus (Kim et al., 2017a, Park et al., 2021). Accordingly, we determine whether heterologous prime-boost vaccination with recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric 4xM2e-HA would induce more effective cross-protection in different genetic background C57BL/6 mice known to be less responsive to influenza vaccination than BALB/c mice (Petrovic et al., 2018). We found that heterosubtypic prime-boost provided more effective in conferring cross-protection than homologous vaccination. Hetero prime-boost with recombinant influenza viruses containing 4xM2e-HA induced high levels of IgG antibodies specific for M2e and reduced lung viral loads more effectively after heterosubtypic or heterologous virus challenge.

Prime dose vaccination induced low levels of IgG antibodies for M2e and HA stalk epitopes in 4xM2e-HA chimeric virus, suggesting their immune-subdominance (Figure 21). Boost exposure to antigenically more distant chimeric virus H3N2 4xM2e-HA effectively generated M2e specific IgG antibodies. In the attenuated A/PR8 H1N1 (4xM2e-HA) prime and antigenically different virus boost groups, the levels of M2e antibodies were correlated with lowering lung viral titers and inflammatory cytokine (IL-6) against rgH5N1 virus challenge. The contribution of M2e antibodies to lowering lung viral loads was also observed in the attenuated H3N2 4xM2e-HA/PR8 4xM2eHA group after A/Phil (H3N2) challenge. Importantly, Cal-head 4xM2e-HA boost induced higher levels of IgG binding to group 1 stalk proteins; the group 1 stalk IgG antibody levels were likely correlated with prevention against severe weight loss against rgH5N1 virus challenge as shown by the PR8-4xM2e/Cal-head 4xM2e group. These immunologic outcomes were consistent with the chimeric HA based vaccination strategy where multiple vaccinations were administered with heterosubtypic modified HA-head domains (Krammer et al., 2013, Hai et al., 2012). Consistently, a prior study demonstrating heterosubtypic immunity by sequential vaccination with live attenuated chimeric HA head-switched viruses in ferrets (Liu et al., 2019). The correlative contribution of M2e specific IgG antibodies to lowering lung viral loads was also observed in the attenuated H3N2 4xM2e-HA/PR8 4xM2e-HA group after A/Phil (H3N2) challenge. Thus, in the attenuated A/PR8 H1N1 prime and antigenically different boost groups, the combined M2e and HA stalk specific IgG levels might have contributed to cross-protection against weight loss and to clearing lung viral loads. Fc receptors (FcR) are known to be required for mediating protection by M2e and HA stalk specific antibodies (El Bakkouri et al., 2011, Kim et al., 2013a, DiLillo et al., 2016, DiLillo et al., 2014), suggesting a significant role of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) in conferring protection. Not only natural killer cells from human donors (FcyRIIIA+primary NK) but also FcyRIIIA engineered NK-92 cells and FcyRIIIA/NFAT-RE/luc2 engineered Jurkat T cells have been used as effector cells in bioassay evaluation of ADCC (Hsieh et al., 2017). We demonstrated that immune sera from the H3N2 4xM2e-HA/PR8 4xM2e-HA group were found to activate FcR in Jurkat cells via the target MDCK cells infected with A/Phil H3N2 or A/Viet rgH5N1 viruses, supporting a possible role of ADCC in mediating protection (Figure 30).



### Figure 30 Heterosubtypic sequential immunization with recombinant influenza A viruses carrying 4xM2e-HA induces ADCC activity

Mouse immune sera (n = 5) were collected 2 weeks after prime-boost immunization with H3N2/H3N2, H3N2/attPR8 and H3N2 M2e/attPR8 M2e and used to incubate on the MDCK cells infected with different influenza viruses before co-culturing with effector Jurkat cells. Luminescence as indicative of ADCC activities in each immune sera stimulating effector Jurkat cells via target MDCK cells infected with A/Phil H3N2 (A) and A/Viet rgH5N1 (B) virus; presented as fold changes. Pooled mouse sera in triplicates were analyzed. Error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM. The statistical significances were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

Repeat vaccination was shown to induce lower antibody titers than current seasonal vaccination only (Thompson et al., 2016, Sanyal et al., 2019, Leung et al., 2017) and might lead to reduced antibody-affinity maturation (Khurana et al., 2019). In addition, repeated homologous vaccination was less effective in protection against H3N2 virus than single vaccination in ferrets despite no significant differences in antibody levels (Music et al., 2019). It should be noted that compared to the heterosubtypic H3N2/H1N1 (A/PR8) vaccination, prime-boost with H3N2 virus (2013 isolate) resulted in more weight loss against A/Phil virus (1982 isolate) at days 2 to 3 post challenge, while it induced higher levels of homologous HAI titers and IgG antibodies for group 2 stalk protein and similar outcomes in lung viral loads. Similarly, higher levels of group 1 stalk IgG antibodies induced by attenuated PR8/PR8 prime-boost did not improve cross-protection against rgH5N1 virus compared to the PR8/H3N2 group, which induced near background levels of group 1 stalk specific antibodies. High levels of anti-HA stalk antibodies were reported in the elderly individuals (Nachbagauer et al., 2016), in which population influenza-related morbidity and

mortality are mostly associated. Thus, caution should be given in correlating HA stalk specific antibody levels with cross-protection. Therefore, inducing extra M2e immunity might provide a safeguard, protecting from severe disease and mortality during a pandemic to which individuals are naïve.

The elderly populations display poor responses to vaccination because of immunosenescence, limited naïve B cells and IgG repertoire (Crooke et al., 2019) ,reduced capacity to target antigenically distinct epitopes, and less somatic hypermutations (Henry et al., 2019). One year old C57BL/6 mice were less effective compared to young adult mice in inducing HAI titers, IgG antibodies to M2e and particularly to HA stalk domain. They were also poorly responsive to boost dose in the PR8 4xM2e/H3N2 4xM2e group. To overcome poor responses to low immunogenic but conserved epitopes, immunizing younger age populations with vaccines targeting M2e and HA stalk proteins would be an approach for future studies.

A strategy of heterosubtypic prime-boost with vaccines inducing strain specific HAI titers and IgG antibody responses to conserved M2e and HA stalk domains would improve the breadth of cross-protection. In the attenuated A/PR8 prime set with A/SW H3N2 boost, HAI titers against both vaccine strains were induced without significant compromise. However, in the reverse A/SW H3N2 prime and attenuated A/PR8 boost, HAI responses to A/PR8 were compromised although both strains are antigenically unrelated. This might be because attenuated A/PR8 viruses would not replicate at sufficient levels under pre-existing immunity against A/SW H3N2 virus whereas A/SW H3N2 virus could replicate both in the upper and lower respiratory tracts (Figure 19C). Hence, further studies will be needed to better understand heterosubtypic primeboost strategies. One caveat of this study is that live attenuated influenza vaccines are not generally recommended in adults and elderly populations probably due to pre-existing immunity negatively affecting vaccine effectiveness. Live attenuated vaccine platforms of head-domain switched chimeric HA-based universal influenza virus vaccine candidates were not effective inducing anti-H1 stalk IgG responses whereas AS03-adjuvanted inactivated virus vaccines were immunogenic in raising durable HA stalk specific antibodies at several folds higher levels in phase 1 studies (Bernstein et al., 2020, Nachbagauer et al., 2021). Inactivated virus platforms of recombinant virus vaccines with 4xM2e-HA were not effective in inducing M2e specific IgG antibody responses after intramuscular immunization of mice (data not shown). In contrast, previous studies reported alternative strategies of recombinant influenza viruses where the foreign epitopes (M2e, conserved NA or neutralizing epitopes of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein) were inserted in the immunodominant HA head domain, which induced epitope specific antibodies after vaccination of mice with inactivated vaccine platforms and conferred improved protection against challenge with antigenically different viruses (Kim et al., 2020, Lee et al., 2016). A universal vaccine that effectively induces both protective M2e and HA stalk immune responses remains to be developed.

#### **3.6 Acknowledgements**

This study was supported by NIH/NIAID grants AI093772 (S.M.K.), AI154656 (S.M.K.), and AI147042 (S.M.K). The following reagent was obtained from International Reagent Resource/CDC: Reassortant A/Switzerland/9715293/2013 virus (X-247 rgH3N2, FR-1366) which carries the A/PR8 backbone genes, and H3 HA and N2 NA genes from A/Switzerland/9715293/2013.

### 4 HEMAGGLUTININ VIRUS-LIKE PARTICLE IS IMMUNOGENIC AND PROVIDES HETEROLOGOUS PROTECTION AGAINST INFLUENZA VIRUS IN YOUNG ADULT AND AGED MICE

#### 4.1 Abstract

Immunosenescence and weak responses to vaccination result in high mortality and morbidity of influenza in elderly population. In this study, we investigated the immunogenicity and cross-protection of virus-like particle containing hemagglutinin from A/Puerto Rico/8/1934 H1N1 (PR8 HA VLP) in 18 months old (aged) mice in comparison with those in young adult mice. PR8 HA VLP vaccination induced homologous and cross-reactive IgG antibodies to A/PR8, A/WSN/1933 (H1N1), and A/California/2009 (H1N1) in young adult and aged mice. Lower IgG responses specific for heterologous virus and HA stalk protein antigens and hemagglutination inhibition titers were induced in aged mice in a dose dependent pattern. Young adult mice with PR8 HA VLP vaccination conferred higher efficacy of homologous protection against A/PR8 and heterologous protection against A/WSN than old age mice. Also, cross-protection against antigenically distinct A/California/2009 was observed in young adult mice but not in aged mice after PR8 HA VLP immunization and challenge. Higher doses of PR8 HA VLP were required for protection in aged mice. Efficacy of controlling lung viral replication against A/PR8 and A/WSN was significantly enhanced in aged mice by incorporation of cytokine-adjuvants (GM-CSF and IL-12) into PR8 HA VLP via protein transfer in vitro. Effects of cytokines incorporated onto HA VLP were substantial on inducing IFN- $y^+$  CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in young adult and aged mice. Induction of IgG antibodies and cross-protection by PR8 HA VLP vaccination was comparable in male and female mice. These results suggest that VLP-based influenza vaccine is immunogenic in

young and old age mice and a strategy of cytokine-adjuvanted HA VLP vaccination might provide more protective benefits in elderly population.

#### 4.2 Introduction

Influenza viruses belong to the Orthomyxoviridae and consist of eight segmented negative-sense single-stranded RNAs (Krammer et al., 2018b). Influenza A viruses are a highly transmissible agent responsible for human respiratory illness annually and causing pandemics (Harrington et al., 2021). CDC estimates that 70-85 percent of seasonal flu-related deaths occur among the people 65 years and older. Effective vaccination has been proven to be the most effective measure to prevent infectious diseases. However, vaccine effectiveness in the elderly population is lower compared to young adult age groups (Rondy et al., 2017). This phenomenon of low responses to vaccination is mainly due to their weakened immune system which is described as immunosenescence and partially due to prior influenza exposure and original antigenic sin (Tanner et al., 2021, Hodgins et al., 2019). Currently, a high dose influenza vaccine and an adjuvanted vaccine were approved in the U.S. for the people 65 years and older (CDC, 2021a). These enhanced influenza vaccines induce elevated hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers by improved immunogenicity of vaccines (CDC, 2021c).

Virus-like particles (VLPs) are self-assembled nanoparticles (20-200 µm) that closely resembles the structure of virus in sizes and shapes but lacking viral genomes (Kang et al., 2012). The nanosized VLPs are allowed to traffic into lymph nodes and enable uptake by antigenpresenting cells (APCs) (Cubas et al., 2009). VLPs are immunogenic and induce both humoral and cellular anti-viral immune responses (Crisci et al., 2012). VLPs can be generated to display diverse antigenic epitopes (Frietze et al., 2016). Vaccination of ferrets with VLPs containing influenza hemagglutinin (HA) from A/California/2009 was shown to induce more protective immunity than conventional inactivated virus vaccination (Hossain et al., 2011). These features represent VLP as a potent and safe vaccine platform especially for older adults and immunocompromised people. Expressing immunostimulatory molecules (ISMs) in VLPs would be an effective strategy to improve the immunogenicity of influenza VLPs, thus developing broader cross-protection (Kang et al., 2012).

Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and Interleukin-12 (IL-12) as endogenous immune activators were reported to enhance the immunogenicity of vaccines for Ebola, SARS-CoV-2, influenza viruses and tumor in a mouse model (Eager and Nemunaitis, 2005, Herbert et al., 2009, Suschak et al., 2018, Vernet et al., 2021). To deliver these immune activators, VLPs can be genetically modified to express GM-CSF and IL-12. However, this method of genetic approaches applied multiple recombinant baculovirus (rBV) infection to display diverse molecules and was not highly effective in enhancing immune responses to vaccine antigens (Skountzou et al., 2007).

Previous studies have shown *in vitro* incorporation into the VLP lipid membranes of ISMs such as B7-1, IL-12. ICAM-1 or GM-CSF via membrane-anchoring phosphatidylinositol (GPI) conjugates using protein transfer technology (McHugh et al., 1999, Nagarajan and Selvaraj, 2002, Poloso et al., 2002, Patel et al., 2015b), which resulted in enhancing antitumor immune responses. Also, incorporation of GPI anchored GM-CSF to VLPs was reported to improve antiviral immunity after vaccination of young adult mice (Patel et al., 2015a).

Here, influenza VLP vaccines that express HA from A/PR8 (PR8 HA VLP) were modified to display GPI anchored GM-CSF and GPI-IL-12 on the VLP surface via protein transfer. The goal of

this study was to determine whether influenza VLP vaccines with cytokines incorporated would enhance protective humoral and cellular immunity in aged mice, compared to those in young adult mice. Aged mice required higher doses of influenza VLP vaccine to induce protective immune responses than young adult mice. PR8 HA VLP (PR8 HA-Cy VLP) displaying cytokines (GM-CSF and IL-12) was conferred improved protection against homologous and heterologous influenza viruses in aged mice. PR8 HA-Cy VLP was more effective in inducing cellular immune responses although the impact of cytokine incorporation into VLP on protection was not significant in young adult mice. This study demonstrates a strategy of improving protection by adjuvantation of influenza VLP vaccines with GM-CSF and IL-12 immune activators in young adult and aged mouse models.

#### 4.3 Materials and Methods

#### 4.3.1 Preparation of influenza virus-like particles (VLPs)

VLP expressing HA protein from A/PR/8/1934 H1N1 virus (PR8 HA VLP) was prepared by Medigen, Inc. (Frederick, MD) and incorporation of cytokines including GM-CSF and IL-12 on to PR8 HA VLP (PR8 HA-Cy VLP) was performed by Metaclipse Therapeutics Corporation (Atlanta, GA). In brief, a gene encoding HA (A/PR/8/1934) was codon-optimized for expression in insect cells and cloned into pFastbac plasmid vector with influenza M1 gene for dual expression (M1+HA). Recombinant baculovirus (rBV) expressing M1 and HA was generated in insect cells by using the Bac-to-Bac expression system and transfection with M1+HA pFastbac bacmid DNA as previously described (Pushko et al., 2017, Tretyakova et al., 2016, Tretyakova et al., 2013). PR8 HA VLP was produced in Sf9 insect cells after infection with rBV expressing HA and M1. Soluble cytokines were expressed and purified from CHO-K1 cells after transfection with GM-CSF or IL- 12 expressing vectors that also contains GPI-membrane-anchoring sequence derived from CD59. The GPI-IL-12 construct was placed in a pUB6blast vector (Invitrogen), whereas GPI-GM-CSF construct was placed in a pcDNA3Neo vector (Invitrogen). Purified GPI-cytokines (GM-CSF and IL-12) were incorporated onto PR8 HA VLP by protein transfer (HA-Cy VLP) as previously described (Patel et al., 2015a). Characterization of PR8 HA VLP was performed by Coomassie blue staining of sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and incorporation of GM-CSF or IL-12 was determined by western blot analysis using anti-mouse GM-CSF or anti-mouse IL-12 p40 antibodies (BioXCell) respectively.

#### 4.3.2 Immunization and virus challenges

Young adult female, male (6-8 weeks old, Jackson Laboratories) and aged female (18month-old, NIH/NIA) BALB/c mice received sequential prime-boost intramuscular vaccination with PR8 HA VLP (HA VLP) or PR8 HA-Cy VLP (HA-Cy VLP with GM-CSF and IL-12 incorporated) in an interval of 3 weeks. Before homologous A/Puerto Rico/8/1934/H1N1 (A/PR8/34) virus challenge (2 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>3.36</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>), young adult female mice (n= 6/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1 µg of HA VLP and aged female mice (n= 5/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1 µg or 3 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (Figure 36). Young female mice (n= 4/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1 µg or 3 µg of VLP or HA-Cy VLP prior to A/WSN/1933/H1N1 (A/WSN/33) virus infection (2 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>1.06</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> or 8 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>1.66</sup> EID<sub>50</sub> respectively, Figure 37). Aged female mice (n= 3-6/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1 µg or 6 µg of VLP or HA-Cy VLP before 1.5 LD<sub>50</sub> (8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>) of A/WSN/33 virus challenge (Figure 37). Young female mice (n= 3/group) were prime-boost immunized with 6 µg of VLP or HA-Cy VLP prior to A/California/04/2009/H1N1 (A/Cal/09) virus infection (Figure 39). Young male mice (n= 3/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1  $\mu$ g of VLP or HA-Cy VLP prior to infection by 8 LD<sub>50</sub> (8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>) of A/WSN/33 virus or 2 LD<sub>50</sub> (10<sup>3.6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) of A/Cal/09 virus (Figure 41). All animal experiments in this study were approved by the Georgia State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) review boards. Mouse animal experiments including virus infection, blood and tissue collections were performed in accordance with the approved IACUC protocol (A21004) and regulations.

#### 4.3.3 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

IgG antibodies specific for the viruses were measured by ELISA with coating antigens (4 µg/ml) from inactivated A/PR8/34, A/WSN/33, A/Cal/09 H1N1 and A/Viet rgH5N1 viruses. A/PR8/34 specific IgG isotypes (IgG1 and IgG2a) were measured. HA stalk specific IgG antibodies were determined using consensus group 1 HA stalk protein as coating antigens constructed and prepared as previously reported (Chae et al., 2019). HRP (Horseradish Peroxidase) conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG, IG1, ang IgG2a (southern Biotechnology) were used as a secondary antibody. 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate (Invitrogen<sup>™</sup>) was utilized for color development. IgG antibody levels were read by BioTek ELISA plate reader at 450nm.

#### 4.3.4 Hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers

Mouse prime-boost immunized sera were treated with receptor destroying enzymes (RDE, Sigma) with 1:3 ratio and incubated at 37 °C overnight and inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes. RDE-treated serum samples were serially diluted (two-fold) and treated with the equal volume of viruses (4 hemagglutination activity units). HAI titers were measured as the highest dilution factor inhibiting the formation of buttons with 0.5% chicken red blood cells (RBC).

#### 4.3.5 Assays of lung viral titers and inflammatory cytokines

Lung lysates were obtained day 5 - 9 post infection from the lung homogenates in 1.5ml of RPMI media after centrifugation. Virus titers were determined by calculating 50% egg infectious dose (EID<sub>50</sub>) after incubation at 37°C for 3 days in the 10-day-old embryonated chicken eggs. Cytokine interleukin 6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) ELISA was performed as described previously using Ready-Set-Go kits (eBioscience, San Diego, CA).

#### 4.3.6 Intracellular cytokine staining of T cells

Lung cells were stimulated with inactivated A/PR8/33 (4 µg/ml) or A/PR8 HA peptides (CD4+ epitopes (2.5 µg/ml each peptide): SFERFEIFPKE, HNTNGVTAACSH, CPKYVRSAKLRM, KLKNSYVNKKGK, NAYVSVVTSNYNRRF, CD8+ epitopes (5 µg/ml each peptide): LYEKVKSQL, IYSTVASSL)) for 5 h at 37 °C in the presence of brefeldin A (BFA) (20 µg/mL). After stimulation, lymphocytes were stained with T cell marker antibodies for CD4 (CD4-PE/Cy5, BD Biosciences) and CD8 (CD8α-PE, Biolegend) by following a procedure of BD Cytofix/Cytoperm Plus Kit. Intracellular staining of the permeabilized lymphocytes was conducted with IFN-γ cytokine mAb (anti-mouse IFN-γ-APC/Cy7, BD Biosciences). All samples were analyzed by using LSR-II/Fortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA) and analyzed using the FlowJo software (FlowJo V10, Tree Star, Inc.).

#### 4.3.7 Statistical analysis

Two-way or one-way ANOVA were used to determine the statistical significance when comparing two different conditions. P-values of less than or equal to 0.05 were considered significant. Data analysis was performed using Prism software (GraphPad software Inc., San Diego, CA).

#### 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy vaccines are immunogenic in aged mice at a higher dose compared to young adult mice

To enhance the immunogenicity, endogenous immune activators (cytokines) such as granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interleukin-12 (IL-12) were incorporated into PR8 HA VLP via a glycosylated phosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor (Prepared by Medigen, Inc. (Frederick, MD) and Metaclipse Therapeutics Corporation (Atlanta, GA) as in described in materials and methods section, Figure 31A) (Patel et al., 2015a). A/PR8 hemagglutinin (HA) H1 and matrix M1 proteins from PR8 HA VLP expressed and purified from insect cells were characterized by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining (Figure 31B), indicating the high purity and major components HA and M1. The incorporated cytokines were confirmed by western blot analysis with anti-GM-CSF and anti-IL-12 antibodies (Figure 31C).



#### Figure 31 Preparation of PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy VLP vaccines

(A) Schematic diagram of protein transfer of GPI-anchored cytokines (GM-CSF and IL-12) onto PR8 HA VLP. (B) SDS-PAGE gel staining of PR8 HA VLP expressed in insect cells after purification, displaying HA and M1 proteins as major components. (C) Western blot analysis of incorporated GM-CSF or IL-12 in PR8 HA VLPs using anti-mouse GM-CSF antibody and anti-mouse IL-12 p40 antibody respectively. [Define PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy VLP here]PR8 HA VLP: Virus-like particle (VLP) that expresses HA from A/PR8/34, PR8 HA-Cy VLP: PR8 HA VLP incorporated with GM-CSF and IL-12.

Here we focused on investigating the homologous immunogenicity and efficacy of

A/PR8/1934 (H1N1) HA VLP (HA VLP) and PR8 HA VLP incorporated with GM-CSF and IL-12 (HA-

Cy VLP) in old aged BALB/c mice (16-18 months old age) in comparison with those in young adult

BALB/c mice. Young adult (6-8 weeks old, Figs. 32A-C) and aged (16 - 18 months old, Figs. 32D-

F) BALB/c mice were intramuscularly immunized with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP at different doses (1,

3 or 6 µg, respectively in Figure 32). After low dose (1µg) prime vaccination of each VLP, young

adult mice induced higher levels of A/PR8 specific IgG antibody response compared to those in

aged mice (Figs. 32A, D). With increasing the HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP vaccine dose to a moderate (3µg) to high (6µg) level, the aged mouse groups after prime vaccination induced substantially higher responses of IgG antibodies specific for homologous A/PR8 virus despite slightly lower than those in young adult mice (Figs. 32B, C, E, F). Boost immunization effects on enhancing IgG antibody responses were most prominent with 1 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP primed young adult age and elderly aged mice (Figs. 32A, D). Boost immunization with 3µg or 6µg of both HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP resulted in moderate increases in IgG levels specific for A/PR8 virus, where IgG levels in young adult mice (Figs. 32B, C) were still significantly higher than those in aged mice (Figs. 32E, F). There were more prominently lower levels of IgG2a isotypes in aged mice (Figs. 33E, H) than those in young adult mice (Figs. 33B, D) although both IgG1 and IgG2a antibodies were lower in aged mice (Figs. 33E-H). Moderate to high doses of HA-Cy VLP (3 or 6  $\mu$ g) immunization induced slightly increased IgG1 antibody responses to A/PR8 compared to HA VLP inoculation in both young and aged mice (Figs. 33A, C, E, G). These results suggest that HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP effectively primed the induction of A/PR8 specific IgG antibodies in aged mice in a dose dependent manner. The capacity to induce IgG antibodies to low dose HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP prime and boost vaccination was significantly compromised in aged mice compared to young adult mice.


## Figure 32 Intramuscular immunization of PR8 HA VLP and PR8 HA-Cy VLP induces IgG antibodies specific for homologous A/PR8 virus in young and aged mice

Young adult and aged BALB/c mice (n= 6/group) were immunized with 1  $\mu$ g (A, D), 3  $\mu$ g (B, E) or 6  $\mu$ g (C, F) of HA VLP (HA) or HA-Cy VLP (HA-Cy). Mouse sera were collected at 2 weeks after prime or boost immunization. IgG antibody responses to A/PR8 virus were measured in prime (p) or boost (b) immune sera. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



#### Figure 33 A/PR8 specific serum IgG isotype antibody responses after boost dose of PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP

Young adult (A-D) and aged (E-H) BALB/c mice (n= 6/group) were received boost dose of HA VLP (HA) or HA-Cy VLP (HA-Cy). IgG1 and IgG2a antibody responses to A/PR8 2 weeks after 3 µg (A, B, E, F) or 6 µg (C, D, G, H) of each VLP inoculation. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

### 4.4.2 Aged mice induce low levels of cross-reactive IgG antibody responses after HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccination

Sera of boost immunization with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP were analyzed for cross reactivity against heterologous viruses, A/WSN/1934 (H1N1) and A/California/2009 (H1N1) in young (Figure 34A-G) and aged mice (Figure 34H-M). Boost sera from aged mice displayed significantly lower levels (~3 folds) of IgG antibodies specific for A/WSN/1934 (H1N1) (Figure 34H, K) and A/California/2009 (H1N1) (Figure 34I, L) than those from young adult mice after immunization with 3  $\mu$ g (Figure 34A-C, H-J) or 6  $\mu$ g (Figure 34E-G, K-M) of each VLP (Figure 34A, B and Figure 34E, F respectively). With a higher dose (6  $\mu$ g) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP boost sera from young adult and aged mice showed increased levels of IgG antibody reactivity to A/WSN (Figure 34E, K) than with a 3 µg each VLP (Figure 34A, H). We observed a similar pattern of cross-reactive IgG antibodies recognizing A/California/2009 (H1N1) but at significantly lower levels than those recognizing A/WSN in both young adult and elderly aged mice, probably due to antigenic distance (Figure 34B, F, I, L). Approximately 2-fold higher IgG antibodies to group 1 stalk were induced from young adult mice than aged mice after boost dose (both 3 and 6 µg) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (Figure 34C, G compared to Figure 34J, M). These results suggest that elderly aged mice have more limited capacity to induce cross reactive IgG antibody responses to heterologous viruses than young adult mice.



#### Figure 34 IgG antibody reactivities to A/WSN, A/Cal and group 1 stalk domain induced by vaccination with PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP in young and aged mice

Immune sera were collected at 2 weeks after boost immunization with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP from young adult (A-G) and aged (H-M) Balb/c mice (n= 6/group). HA VLP (HA) or HA-Cy VLP (HA-Cy) with vaccine dose 3  $\mu$ g (A-C, H-J) or 6  $\mu$ g (E-G, K-M) were inoculated intramuscularly in two doses at an interval of 3 weeks. IgG antibody responses to A/WSN (A, E, H, K), A/Cal (B, F, I, L), and group 1 stalk domain (C, G, J, M). Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 4.4.3 HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP induces hemagglutination inhibition activity against

#### homologous at higher levels in young adult than those in aged mice

To determine hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers, sera from young adult and aged mice were collected after boost immunization with 1, 3 or 6 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (Figure 35). HAI activity was observed in all doses of immune sera against homologous A/PR8 but not against heterologous viruses including A/WSN and A/Cal. Although both age groups with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP immunization showed significantly increased HAI activity than the naive group, young adult mice showed 20-fold higher HAI titers than aged mice after 1 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP immunization (Figure 35A). With higher doses of immunization (3 or 6 µg), 8-16 folds increased HAI titer was observed from aged mice (Figs. 35B, C). These results support that high dose vaccination is required for aged mice.



#### Figure 35 Serum hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers against homologous and heterologous viruses

HAI titers against the viruses (A/PR8, A/WSN, and A/Cal) were determined in sera from young adult and aged mice (n= 6/group) at 2 weeks after boost immunization with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP. (A-C) 1  $\mu$ g, 3  $\mu$ g or 6  $\mu$ g of each VLP were administered respectively. Each individual mouse is analyzed. The statistical significances were determined using two-way ANOVA and indicated in \*, P < 0.1; \*\*\*, P < 0.001. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 4.4.4 A low dose HA VLP confers homologous protection in young adult mice

#### whereas higher dose HA VLP is required for protection in aged mice

To determine the protection efficacy, young adult BALB/c mice were challenged with a lethal dose of A/PR8 at 3 or 4 weeks after HA VLP low dose (1 µg) boost immunization. Vaccinated mice did not lose body weight meanwhile the naïve group reached humane end point (20%) after A/PR8 challenge (Figure 36A). Also, at day 5 after A/PR8 challenge, lung virus titers were determined by measuring 50 % egg infectious dose (EID<sub>50</sub>) from the HA VLP vaccinated and naïve young adult groups (Figure 36B). No virus was detected from HA VLP young adult group in contrast to the naïve group displaying high lung virus titers (7.4 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml). Similarly, the aged

BALB/c mice immunized with low dose HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (1 µg) were challenged with a lethal dose of A/PR8 at 4 weeks after boost. The aged mouse group with low dose of HA VLP vaccination showed severe weight loss (~20%) with 80% survival rates whereas HA-Cy vaccinated group lost less body weight (~10%) and survived at 100%. Unvaccinated mice did not survive after infection (Figure 36C, D). For further assessment, the aged BALB/c mouse groups that were vaccinated with 3-fold higher dose (3 µg) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP were challenged with a lethal dose of A/PR8. No body weight loss was observed in both HA VLP and HA-Cy groups (Figure 36E). HA VLP vaccination displayed lower lung virus titers (2.4 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml, Figure 36F) compared to the unvaccinated naïve group showing 1,000 folds higher titers (7.4 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml). Notably, no virus was detected from the HA-Cy VLP aged mice group (Figure 36F). All together, these results suggest that a lower dose HA VLP can confer homologous protection in young mice whereas higher dose HA VLP is required for protection in aged mice. Also, HA-Cy VLP can improve the protection by more effectively controlling the viral replication in the lung.



Figure 36 Aged mice need a higher dose of PR8 HA-Cy VLP to induce protection against homologous A/PR8 virus than young adult mice

Young adult mice (n= 6/group, A, B) were prime-boost immunized with a low dose (1  $\mu$ g) of HA VLP prior to A/PR8 virus infection (2 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>3.36</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). (A) Body weight changes and (B) lung virus titer at day 5 after A/PR8 challenge. Aged BALB/c mice (n= 5/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1  $\mu$ g (C, D) or 3  $\mu$ g (E, F) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP. (C, E) Weight changes, (D) survival rate and (F) lung virus titer at day 6 after A/PR8 virus (2 LD<sub>50</sub>) challenge. Naïve: Naïve mice with infection. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 4.4.5 HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccine even at low dose provides heterologous

#### cross-protection against A/WSN in young adult mice

We determined whether HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP would induce cross-protection against A/WSN/1933. At 3 weeks after low dose (1 µg HA VLP prime and boost vaccination), young adult BALB/c mice were challenged with a lethal dose of A/WSN (Figure 37A). HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccinated mice did not lose body weight after infection while the naive control group showed severe body weight loss and did not survive (Figure 37A). In an additional set to further test cross-protection, the mice vaccinated with 3 µg of prime-boost HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP were challenged with 4 folds higher dose of A/WSN. The HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP immune mice were well cross protected against A/WSN without displaying weight loss and lung virus titers were below the limit of detection (Figure 37B) at day 8 after challenge. In addition, lower inflammatory cytokine such as IL-6 was detected from the lung of vaccinated groups with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (3 µg) compared to naïve mice after A/WSN infection (Figure 38A). These results suggest that HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccine even at low dose can provide heterologous cross-protection against A/WSN in young adult mice.



#### Figure 37 Aged mice require a higher dose of PR8 HA-Cy VLP to provide crossprotection against A/WSN virus than young adult mice

Young female adult BALB/c mice (n= 4/group) were prime-boost immunized with 1  $\mu$ g (A) and 3  $\mu$ g (B) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP before heterologous virus challenge. (A) Body weight changes after A/WSN infection (2 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>1.06</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) in a low dose (1  $\mu$ g) of each VLP vaccine groups. (B) Weight changes and lung virus titer at day 8 after A/WSN (8 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>1.66</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) challenge in higher dose (3  $\mu$ g) of each VLP vaccine groups. (C, D) Aged BALB/c (n= 3-6/group) mice received prime-boost immunization with 1  $\mu$ g (C) or 6  $\mu$ g (D) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP before A/WSN infection (1.5 LD<sub>50</sub>, 8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>). Body weight changes and lung virus titers at day 9 (D) after A/WSN (1.5 LD<sub>50</sub>, 8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>) challenge. Naïve: Naïve mice with infection. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test and indicated in \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

#### 4.4.6 Aged mice require a higher dose HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccine to induce

#### heterologous cross-protection

To determine the efficacy of cross-protection in aged BALB/c mice, HA VLP low dose (1 µg) boosted mice were challenged with A/WSN (Figure 37C). At day 7 after challenge, all mouse groups including HA VLP, HA-Cy VLP and naïve lost body weight (18%, 14% and 25% loss respectively, Figure 37C). PR8 HA-Cy VLP immunized mice displayed approximately 100-fold lower lung virus titer (3.7 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml) than PR8 HA VLP group (6 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml). Both

immunized groups showed reduced lung virus titer compared to naive control group (8 log<sub>10</sub>EID<sub>50</sub>/ml) at day 7 after challenge (Figure 37C). To determine the effect of higher dose vaccines, aged BALB/c mice prime-boost immunized with 6 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP were challenged with a lethal dose of A/WSN. Weight loss was not observed from the vaccinated groups with 6 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP while naïve mice lost 11% body weight by day 9 after infection (Figure 37D). Since HA VLP or HA-Cy immunized aged mice did not show weight loss, we determined lung viral titers. Approximately 300-fold lower lung virus titer was detected from the HA VLP immunized mice ( $3.9 \log_{10} EID_{50}/ml$ ) than the naïve group ( $6.4 \log_{10} EID_{50}/ml$ ) and no virus was detectable in HA-Cy VLP group (Figure 37D). As in young mice (Figure 38A), reduced inflammatory cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6 were detected from the lung of vaccinated groups with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (3 µg) compared to naïve mice after A/WSN infection (Figure 38B). Intracellular cytokine staining data displayed significantly increased levels of IFN-y secreting CD4 T cells (Figure 38C) and CD8 T cells (Figure 38D) upon stimulation with HA peptides or inactivated A/PR8 virus in lung cells from HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (3  $\mu$ g) boosted both young and aged mice compared to unvaccinated naïve mice. Moreover, elevated IFN-y secreting CD4 T (Figure 38C) cells and CD8 T cells (Figure 38D) were observed in HA-Cy VLP boosted group compared to HA VLP vaccine group in all cases. Taken together, these results indicate that T cell immunity induced by HA VLP and HA-Cy VLP. Also, aged mice require a higher dose HA VLP vaccine to induce heterologous cross-protection against A/WSN virus and HA-Cy VLP might contribute on enhanced cross-protection in aged mice.



Figure 38 PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP vaccination reduced inflammatory cytokines and induced T cell responses in young and aged mice

Inflammatory cytokines and T cell responses were determined in lung tissues collected day 5 post challenge from young adult and aged BALB/c mice (n= 6/group) that were prime-boost immunized with 3  $\mu$ g of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP. (A) Inflammatory IL-6 in lung lysates from young mice after A/WSN challenge (8 LD<sub>50</sub>, 10<sup>1.66</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>). (B) Inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6 in lung lysate from aged mice after A/WSN challenge (1.5 LD<sub>50</sub>, 8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>). IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD4+ T cells (C) or CD8+ T cells (D) specific for HA peptides and A/PR8 after intracellular staining were gated and quantified by flow cytometry from lung cells at day 5 after challenge by A/WSN (young adult mice: 10<sup>1.66</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>, aged mice: 8.7 EID<sub>50</sub>). Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM. The statistical significances were determined using One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test and indicated in \*, P < 0.1; \*\*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

#### 4.4.7 PR8 HA VLP vaccine provides heterologous cross-protection against

#### antigenically distant A/California/2009 virus in young adult mice

To test cross-protection against an antigenically distant virus, young adult mice boosted

with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (6 µg each) were challenged with a lethal dose of A/California/2009 at

3 weeks after boost (Figure 39). The young adult HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP immune mice displayed

100% survival rate and less weight loss (15%) than the naïve group (>25%) that did not survive

after A/Cal challenge. Collectively, these data suggest that HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP can provide survival protection against antigenically distant A/Cal in young adult mice.



#### Figure 39 PR8 HA VLP vaccination induces survival protection against heterologous A/Cal virus in young mice

(A) Body weight changes and (B) survival rate after challenge with A/Cal virus (2  $LD_{50}$ , 10<sup>3.6</sup> EID<sub>50</sub>) from young adult mice (n= 3/group) immunized with 6 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 4.4.8 Male BALB/c mice induce comparable immune responses and cross-

#### protection after PR8 HA VLP vaccination

Gender is an important biological parameter to be considered in determining the vaccine effectiveness. Virus specific IgG antibody responses in immune sera from young adult male BALB/c mice (n= 6/group) prime-boost immunized with HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (1 µg each) were determined in comparison with those from young adult female BALB/c mice (Figure 40). The levels of A/PR8 specific IgG antibodies at 2 weeks after prime immunization (Figure 40A) and A/PR8 specific IgG, IgG1, or IgG2a antibody responses after boost vaccination (Figs. 40B-D respectively) of male mice were comparable with those of female mice. As induced in female mice, a similar pattern in the levels of IgG antibody responses specific for A/WSN (Figure 40E), A/Cal (Figure 40F) or group 1 HA stalk domain (Figure 40G) were observed in young adult male mice. HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP (1  $\mu$ g each) boosted male mice were protected against A/WSN while the naïve group did not survive (Figure 41A). When the mice groups were infected with A/Cal (Figure 41B), significantly enhanced protection was observed in the immunized mice with 1  $\mu$ g of each VLP (11% body weight loss) compared to the naive group (17% body weight loss). Taken together, these results suggest that male BALB/c mice induced comparable immune responses and cross-protection after HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP vaccination as observed in female mice.



Figure 40 Comparable levels of serum IgG antibody responses are induced in female and male young adult mice after PR8 HA VLP immunization

BALB/C mice (n= 6/group) of young female (f) and male (m) were immunized with prime-boost doses (1  $\mu$ g) of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP at an interval of 3 weeks. IgG antibody responses in mouse prime (A) and boost sera (B-G) were measured by ELISA at 2 weeks after each immunization. IgG (A, B), IgG1 (C), and IgG2a (D) antibody responses to A/PR8. IgG antibodies to A/WSN (E), A/Cal (F) and group 1 stalk domain (G). Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



## Figure 41 Male young adult mice vaccinated with PR8 HA VLP or PR8 HA-Cy VLP are protected against heterologous A/WSN or A/Cal virus challenge

Body weight changes after challenge with (A) A/WSN (8  $LD_{50}$ , 8.7  $EID_{50}$ ) or (B) A/Cal virus (2  $LD_{50}$ , 10<sup>3.6</sup>  $EID_{50}$ ) in young adult male mice (n= 3/group) immunized with 1 µg of HA VLP or HA-Cy VLP. Each individual mouse is analyzed. Error bars indicate mean ± SEM.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Prior clinical trials in healthy adults reported acceptable safety and immunogenicity results of influenza HA VLP vaccines (2009 H1N1, H5N1, H7N9) produced in insect cells, comparable to conventional influenza vaccines (Pillet et al., 2019, Lopez-Macias et al., 2011, Landry et al., 2010, Fries et al., 2013), supporting VLP as a potential vaccine platform. In this study to better understand immune responses to vaccination in elderly, we compared dose-dependent immunogenicity and efficacy against homologous and heterologous influenza viruses in young adult and aged mouse models. The aged mice required higher doses to induce IgG antibodies for homologous viral antigens but displayed low capacity to generate IgG antibodies for heterologous viruses and HA stalk proteins, compared to young adult mice. The immunogenicity and efficacy of HA VLP were comparable in female and male mice. To enhance vaccine efficacy in aged mice, the adjuvant effects of cytokines (GM-CSF, IL-12) incorporated onto HA VLP (HA-Cy VLP) were investigated. Cytokine adjuvant effects of HA-Cy VLP were prominent on inducing T

cell responses in young and aged mice, and on lowering lung viral titers in aged mice after vaccination and challenge.

Intramuscular vaccination with HA VLP (A/Cal/09, 10 µg) was previously shown to confer protection against homologous A/Cal virus and partial protection against heterologous A/WSN/33 in young adult female BALB/c mice (Quan et al., 2010). High dose (10 or 40 μg) of PR8 HA VLP repetitive intranasal immunization induced protection against homologous (A/PR8/34) and heterologous (A/WSN) viruses (Quan et al., 2007). These previous reports are consistent with the results from this study demonstrating high IgG antibodies and HAI titers by low dose (1  $\mu$ g) PR8 HA VLP in young adult mice. In contrast, higher doses (3 or 6  $\mu$ g) of PR8 HA VLP were required to induce substantial HAI titers in aged mice, which were still lower than those in young adult mice. This result supports the current vaccine strategy that high dose influenza vaccines (4-fold higher dose than standard vaccine) are recommended for adults ages 65 and older (Li et al., 2021). A/WSN/33 is antigenically closer to A/PR8/34 (87.1 % amino acid sequence homology in HA1) compared to A/Cal/09 (76.5% amino acid sequence homology), suggesting that antigenic distance is correlating with the levels of cross-reactive IgG antibodies. Immunological impairment in aged mice was more prominent in generating IgG antibodies for heterologous viral antigens (A/WSN, A/Cal) and immune-subdominant HA stalk proteins compared to young adult mice. This is in line with the aging immunosenescence and waning immune system, severely limiting the B cell repertoire diversity in the elderly population at greater risk of influenza infection compared to young individuals (Nikolich-Zugich, 2018, Reber et al., 2012). Moreover, reduced affinity maturation of antibody via somatic hypermutation (SHM) caused by the defects in germinal

centers from elderly population has been described (Dunn-Walters et al., 2003, Frasca and Blomberg, 2009).

With a low dose  $(1 \mu g)$  of PR8 HA VLP immunization, young adult mice induced protection preventing weight loss against homologous A/PR8/34 virus challenge, while aged mice displayed severe weight loss (~18%). For enhanced protection without weight loss, aged mice required a higher dose (3  $\mu$ g) HA VLP which was still not capable of clearing lung viral titers. These results of homologous protection appear to be strongly correlated with HAI activity titers in immunized mouse sera (Figure 35). The young adult group showed high HAI responses to homologous A/PR8/34 virus even with low dose (1  $\mu$ g) of PR8 HA VLP whereas higher doses (3  $\mu$ g or 6  $\mu$ g) were required to elicit sufficient HAI titers since 1 µg PR8 HA VLP vaccination in aged mice HAI titers induced very low HAI titers. Vaccinated young adult mice with PR8 HA VLP (1 or 3  $\mu$ g) showed 100% protection against A/WSN/33 virus and survival protection against A/Cal/09 virus. Aged mice with 1 ug HA VLP were not protected against A/WSN/33 virus and protection of lowering lung viral titers by several hundred-folds was observed in aged mice with a higher does (6 μg). Aged mice were not protected against A/Cal/09 virus (data not shown). Both young adult and aged mice had negative HAI titers to heterologous A/WSN/33 and A/Cal/09 viruses, suggesting that heterologous protection was mediated by non-neutralizing immunity. Consistent, seroconversion rates post vaccination for elderly were less than 30% while young adults showed 50-75% seroconversion rates (Crooke et al., 2019). The declined vaccine-induced humoral responses are attributed to the reduction of neutralizing and HAI activities of antibodies in elderly individuals (Sasaki et al., 2011).

Use of GM-CSF as adjuvant such as DNA vaccine and antigen targeting was reported to promote antibody avidity maturation (Lai et al., 2007) and cross-priming (Chiodoni et al., 1999, Skountzou et al., 2007). IL-12 activates dendritic cells, macrophages, T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells, and cytotoxic CD8 T cell responses (Fallon et al., 2014, Jaffee, 1999, Trinchieri and Scott, 1999, Vagliani et al., 1996, Trinchieri, 1994). We wanted to test a hypothesis that incorporation of GM-CSF and IL-12 onto PR8 HA VLP (HA-Cy VLP) would overcome the weak immune system in an aged mouse model. In young adult mice, the impact of different doses of HA-Cy VLP vaccination was not significant on inducing humoral responses such as IgG and HAI titers, and on cross-protection against A/Cal virus although the HA-Cy VLP group induced higher levels of IgG antibodies for A/WSN and IFN-y+ CD4 and CD8 T cell responses. PR8 HA VLP exhibited sufficient immunogenicity and protection, clearing lung viral replication against A/PR8 virus and A/WSN virus in young adult mice. In contrast the aged mice with HA-Cy VLP vaccination were more effective in preventing weight loss against homologous A/PR8 virus challenge, and in lowering lung viral titers after homo (A/PR8) and hetero (A/WSN) virus challenge as well as in inducing higher levels of INF-y+ CD4 and CD8 T cell responses. Nonetheless, there were no significant increases in IgG antibodies and HAI titers in the HA-Cy VLP group compared to the HA VLP group in aged mice, suggesting that cytokines incorporated onto HA VLP exhibit adjuvant effects on enhancing cellular T cell responses. Induction of IFN-γ<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells was critical in lung protection and host survival (Green et al., 2013), supporting a possible role of T cell immunity in cross-protection. In addition, HA stalk antibodies and cytotoxic CD8 T cells induced by VLP vaccination might have contributed to protection against influenza virus (Hemann et al., 2013, Jang and Ross, 2021). Particularly, there have been several studies to develop universal influenza

vaccines by targeting the conserved HA stalk domains (Nachbagauer et al., 2021, Margine et al., 2013, Mullarkey et al., 2016). However, HA stalk specific antibodies are rarely induced by inactivated influenza virus vaccination (Krammer and Palese, 2013). We found that HA VLP vaccination was effective in inducing HA stalk specific IgG antibodies in young adult mice but not in aged mice. Thus, it is also possible that HA stalk specific IgG antibodies induced in young adult mice might have contributed to more effective cross-protection in your adult mice than aged mice. Taken altogether, a strategy of cytokine-adjuvanted HA VLP vaccination might provide a potential vaccine platform for elderly population.

#### **5 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION**

# 5.1 Enhanced cross-protection by a single intranasal dose of recombinant influenza virus vaccine inducing M2e and HA immunity

Highly conserved M2e is a promising target as universal influenza vaccine and M2e-based protective immunity has been reported in numerous previous studies (Lee et al., 2015a, Deng et al., 2015). However, M2e is a poor immunogen and M2e immunity standalone provides relatively weak broad cross-protection due to non-neutralizing immune mechanisms (Lee et al., 2016b). To enhance the immunogenicity of M2e, multiple strategies have been introduced, which include M2e presenting VLP (Kim et al., 2013b, Kim et al., 2018), toll-like receptor (TLR) (Mastalerz-Migas et al., 2015b, Miller et al., 2020), gold nanoparticles, liposomes and immune stimulating complexes including cholera toxin subunit (Calzas and Chevalier, 2019). Clinical trials for M2ebased vaccine safety and efficacy were carried out. An M2e-flagellin fusion vaccine was immunogenic in 96% vaccine recipients in phase I trials after low prime-boost dose but showed adverse effects with high doses that might be due to the toxicity of the flagellin adjuvant (Lee et al., 2014b, Turley et al., 2011, Taylor et al., 2011). Another clinical trial utilized ACAM-FLU-A (M2e epitopes fused to hepatitis B core protein) and reported the induction of M2e-specific antibodies in a phase I clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier No. NCT00819013) (reviewed in (Zheng et al., 2014)). The major objective of my dissertation projects was to test whether extra M2e immunity in addition to homologous virus neutralizing antibodies would enhance broad cross-protection in a mouse model after single dose intranasal immunization with recombinant influenza virus vaccines expressing chimeric 4xM2e-HA molecules.

Previous studies investigated M2e-induced protective immunity and secondary long term immune impacts using a VLP vaccine platform (M2e-VLP) in comparison with HA-based vaccines (Lee et al., 2016b, Schotsaert et al., 2013, Schotsaert et al., 2016). M2e vaccine-induced immunity provides infection-permissive protection against sublethal doses of heterosubtypic influenza viruses whereas HA-based trimeric soluble HA protein (Schotsaert et al., 2016), whole inactive virus (Schotsaert et al., 2013), and split vaccines (Lee et al., 2016b) were highly effective in inducing strain-specific homologous protection but not antigenically different influenza viruses. These studies clearly demonstrated the immunological benefits of M2e-based vaccines conferring survival protection and often preventing severe morbidity against heterologous viruses compared to HA-based seasonal vaccination ineffective in inducing cross-protection. M2e-based immunity was reported to induce cross-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells contributing to crossprotection (Lee et al., 2016b). The M2e immune mice that were protected against primary lethal challenge infections developed strong long-term immunity against heterosubtypic viruses during secondary infections (Lee et al., 2016b, Schotsaert et al., 2013, Schotsaert et al., 2016). In contrast, the HA-based vaccinated mice that were completely protected against homologous

virus were highly susceptible to secondary heterosubtypic virus infections, mimicking pandemics (Lee et al., 2016b, Schotsaert et al., 2013, Schotsaert et al., 2016). As an alternative vaccination strategy, VLP expressing five tandem repeat M2e (M2e5x VLP) showed prominently enhanced cross-protection against a lethal dose of heterosubtypic influenza virus when it is supplemented to licensed split influenza vaccine compared to split vaccine only (Kim et al., 2014). Split vaccine induced strain specific but highly effective homologous protection while M2e4x VLP provided cross-protection against different subtypes of influenza viruses, despite weak protection accompanied with body weight loss in a mouse model (Lee et al., 2016b). Therefore, M2e immunity has limitation as a sole vaccine antigen although M2e-based vaccination confers relatively weak cross-protection.

Moreover, homologous serum hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers and neutralizing antibodies induced by HA-based vaccines against homologous influenza virus should be considered in developing universal vaccines and effective vaccination strategies translatable to humans. Vaccination strategies inducing both M2e immunity and neutralizing HAI antibodies provided scientific rationales for my projects 1 and 2 of testing recombinant 4xM2e-HA influenza virus vaccines.

In chapter 1, I have investigated the enhanced efficacy of cross-protection by single intranasal immunization with recombinant live influenza virus vaccine that expresses chimeric HA with an insertion of four tandem repeats of M2e domains in its N-terminus (4xM2e-HA). Sufficient M2e specific antibodies were induced in BALB/c mice even with an intranasal single dose of recombinant H3N2 subtype influenza virus that carries 4xM2e-HA (rgH3N2 4xM2e). The impact of M2e protective immunity on inducing enhanced cross-protection was prominent after

104

challenge with different subtypes of influenza viruses including H1N1, H3N2, H5N1, H7N9 and H9N2. These results are consistent with other animal studies (mice or ferrets) describing that M2e can induce broad permissive cross-protection against different subtypes of influenza viruses (Tao et al., 2017, Ingrole et al., 2021, Deng et al., 2015, Mezhenskaya et al., 2019).

#### 5.2 Improvement of cross-protection by inducing both HA and M2e immunities with

#### heterologous prime-boost immunization with recombinant influenza virus vaccines

As seasonal influenza vaccinations are annually recommended in 6 months ages and older individuals, the effects of repeated vaccination need to be investigated further. A study performed in 2014 (McLean et al., 2014) described a reduced vaccine effectiveness in the group where had vaccinated over the prior five years compared to those individuals not receiving vaccine previously or those who received only the previous year's vaccine. This result implies that vaccination history might affect vaccine effectiveness. Similar observations were reported in another study (Smith et al., 1999) and this phenomenon was explained as "an antigenic distant theory". When the vaccine components have small antigenic differences between current and last season's vaccines, current seasonal vaccination may augment and stimulate preexisting memory B cells induced by previous season vaccination or infection. As a result, the immune response to current vaccine antigens can be interfered (antibody interference) (Murray, 2015). Consistent with these previous studies, in the chapter 2 of my project 2, I found that enhanced cross-protection was induced by heterologous prime-boost immunization with recombinant live influenza H1N1 and H3N2 subtype viruses expressing 4xM2e in their chimeric HA molecules. Enhanced cross-protection by heterologous prime-boost with recombinant influenza virus

vaccines was found to be correlated with increased cross-protective IgG antibodies specific for M2e and HA stalk domains compared to homologous prime-boost immunization in C57BL/6 mice.

In both project 1 and project 2, M2e epitopes were conveyed in live attenuated influenza virus (LAIV) platform to overcome the drawbacks of M2e alone weak immunogenicity and efficacy. LAIV mimicking natural infection is one of primary influenza vaccine types and believed to have a greater potential to induce cross-protective humoral and cellular immune responses in animals and in young children (Ambrose et al., 2011, Carter and Curran, 2011). I also observed cross-reactive IgG antibodies after rgH3N2 (4xM2e) or attPR8 (4xM2e) live influenza virus immunization. The cross-reactive antibodies have been reported to contribute to protection against heterologous virus challenges in animal models (Dong et al., 2018, Nachbagauer et al., 2017a) and in clinical investigations(Mandelboim et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2018).

Although vaccination is particularly important for vulnerable older adults, the influenza vaccine efficacy is significantly less in the elderly due to immunosenescence than in younger adults. In project 2, C57BL/6 mice at 1-year-old age received heterosubtypic prime-boost immunization with live attenuated influenza vaccines (LAIV) including attPR8 4xM2e and H3N2 4xM2e showed partial protection against A/Viet rgH5N1 virus infection and displayed reduced lgG antibody responses to vaccine antigens compared to young adult mice. Since LAIV is still a live virus, it is recommended only for healthy people 2-49 years of age (CDC, 2021c). Also, LAIV has some limitations with variable vaccine efficacy in individuals who already have been exposed to influenza virus partially due to their preexisting antibodies (Lopez and Legge, 2020). Clinical study has investigated the effectiveness of the LAIV during 2014-2015 influenza season (Matrajt et al., 2020) that is wide discrepancies in vaccine effectiveness (VE) between studies. The

research group explained the causes of different VE using mathematical models and suggested antigenic distances (AD) between the vaccina strain, pre-existing immunity, and the challenge strains as the main factors. In brief, VE would be low if the antigenic distances are small between the HA of vaccine strains and prior HA strains responsible for pre-existing immunity. This is consistent with the Original Antigenic Sin (OAS) theory (Zhang et al., 2019, Adalja and Henderson, 2010). Replication of LAIV in the upper respiratory tracts for inducing immune response would be limited by pre-existing immunity if the vaccine strain and pre-immunity are antigenically similar. Generally, VE of LAIV is higher in younger population who is relatively naïve individuals and in naive animal models. The efficacy of LAIV have shown discrepancies between in animal models and clinical studies. LAIV elicits superior efficacy compared to inactivated influenza vaccine (IIV) in animal model while clinical reports showed less efficacy in LAIV (Chung et al., 2019, Chen et al., 2010, Roy et al., 2020b, Roy et al., 2020a). It is explained by the impact of preexisting immunity that reduce LAIV efficacy (Roy et al., 2020b). Therefore, LAIV vaccination need to be improved to induce enhanced effectiveness of vaccines. A ferret study (Nachbagauer et al., 2017b) reported heterologous vaccination strategy using chimeric HA vaccines, demonstrating higher protective immunity against pandemic H1N1 virus challenge from LAIV-spilt sequential immunizations compared to IIV-IIV immunization, which was not replicated in phase 1 clinical studies using similar vaccination strategies (Bernstein et al., 2020).

Intramuscular injection of inactivated vaccine is commonly used for influenza seasonal vaccination. In project 1, intranasal inoculation of single dose live H3N2 4xM2e induced a significant level of M2e specific IgG antibodies that contributed to enhanced cross-protection in BALB/c mice. However, inactivated H3N2 4xM2e failed to induce detectable M2e specific IgG

antibody responses after single dose intramuscular immunization and did not provide improved cross-protection even after second boost compared to the control inactivated virus with wild type HA (data not shown). No improved cross-protection might be due to the low levels of IgG antibodies for M2e and the induction of other non-M2e immunity such as conserved HA stalk and NA. A strategy of recombinant influenza viruses expressing conserved M2e epitopes at the N-terminus of HA would not be effective in inactivated vaccine platforms.

In contrast, previous studies reported alternative strategies of recombinant influenza viruses where the foreign epitopes (M2e, conserved NA or neutralizing epitopes of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein) inserted in the immunodominant HA head domain of influenza viruses that induced epitope specific antibodies in inactivated vaccine platforms and conferred improved protection against challenge with antigenically different viruses (Kim et al., 2020, Lee et al., 2016a). Locations of foreign epitopes inserted into the chimeric HA might be attributed to inducing immune responses to the inserted region of HA in either LAIV or inactivated vaccine platforms. Structurally, the HA head domain is highly immunogenic whereas the N-terminus is more flexible that could be conjugated as large as 246 amino acids with retaining the HA functionality. However, the HA head domain only allows less than 18 amino acids to maintain the HA functionality. Therefore, different strategies should be considered in engineering recombinant influenza viruses to improve the vaccine efficacy, depending on the employment of vaccine platforms.

For future studies to induce cross-protective immune responses, another conserved domain, supplementation of HA stem immunity can be considered. While HA head domain is highly immunogenic but hypervariable, HA stem domain is immune subdominant but conserved within the same HA group (Yassine et al., 2018, Ekiert et al., 2011). The HA stem possesses neutralizing epitopes that allow to induce cross-protective IgG antibodies against different subtypes of influenza virus (Thrane et al., 2020). In a previous study using nanotechnology (Deng et al., 2018) have described vaccine efficacy of double-layered protein nanoparticles incorporated with both HA stalk domains (from A/PR8 H1 or A/Aichi H3) and M2e (Uni4C13) in BALB/c mice. Enhanced cross-protection mainly induced by ADCC (antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity) and ADCP (antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis) and similar findings were described using chimeric conjugated protein vaccine of thermostable H1 HA stem and M2e repeat (M2e-H1stem) (Jeeva *et al.*, in preparation). In addition, improved cross-protective vaccine efficacy was observed in young and aged BALB/c mice immunized with VLPs displaying multi- consensus epitopes of NA subtypes and 5xM2e (Kim *et al.*, under review).

#### 5.3 Influenza vaccination for the elderly

In chapter 3, virus-like particle (VLP) was used as vaccine platform to induce protective immune responses in old aged (18-month-old) BALB/c mice. The safety and immunogenic features of VLP represent attractive applicability particularly for immunocompromised or elderly people. Currently, multiple VLP-based vaccines are available for clinical trials or commercial uses. VLP-based vaccines for human papillomavirus, hepatitis B virus, and malaria have been approved by U.S. food and drug administration (FDA). And other VLP-based vaccines are under clinical trials against variety of viruses including seasonal influenza (phase 3, trial No.: NCT03301051, plantderived quadrivalent VLP and NCT04120194, protein nanoparticle), pandemic influenza (phase 2), RSV (phase 3), human immunodeficiency virus, Ebola, and COVID-19 (phase 1) as reviewed in (Nooraei et al., 2021). From the project 3 studies to investigate protective immune responses to HA VLP vaccination in aged mice, I found that aged mice required higher doses of PR8 HA VLP vaccine than young adult mice to provide protective responses to homologous and heterologous viruses. This is consistent with a current influenza vaccine strategy that older people  $\geq$  65 years are suggested to receive high-dose vaccine such as Fluzone® High-Dose Quadrivalent licensed inactivated influenza vaccine that contains influenza A and B strains (60 µg of each hemagglutinin). Adjuvanted inactivated influenza vaccine, FLUAD Quadrivalent is approved only for 65 years and older in U.S. in November 2015 at 18 years later of the approval in Italy (CDC, 2021a). This vaccine contains MF59 which is an oil-in-water emulsion of squalene oil. The mechanism of this adjuvant is not fully understood but it triggers immunostimulation and significantly enhance the immunogenicity (Li et al., 2021). However, there is still some gaps to be improved due to the shortcomings during the vaccine preparation that utilizes eggs. Egg adaptation mutation might affect the vaccine effectiveness and egg proteins in the vaccine ingredients can cause allergic responses. HA VLP contains lipid bilayer membranes as in the enveloped influenza viruses and thus was reported to be easily amenable for incorporating GPIanchored cytokine adjuvants (Patel et al., 2015b, Patel et al., 2015a). Therefore, we selected a VLP vaccine platform and tested the impacts of cytokine molecular adjuvants (GM-CSF and IL-12) incorporated onto PR8 HA VLP aged (PR8 HA-Cy VLP) in BALB/c mice. PR8 HA-Cy VLP was able to enhance protective efficacy by reducing lung virus titers in aged mice. These results from the project 3 studies on HA VLP with cytokine adjuvants provide new insights into developing effective vaccination in aged population.

#### 5.4 A new platform of mRNA-based next generation influenza vaccines

As a future direction for developing effective vaccination strategies, recently, the success of mRNA vaccines against COVID-19 has shown the potential as a next generation influenza vaccine platform. One of advantages of mRNA vaccine over current vaccines is that it can be produced rapidly (6-8 weeks) compared to current influenza vaccines which takes 6 to 9 months. This allows rapid update of genome sequence for effective vaccine formulations (Meurens, 2020). Also, its cost-effective synthetic format provide safety which does not require complications of cell- or egg-based production. The mRNA vaccine is an inherently unstable molecule and easily degraded by nucleases (Wadhwa et al., 2020). Lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) provide a promising vehicle that enables delivery of nucleic acids of mRNA into cells effectively by receptor-mediated endocytosis as it is worked well and proven for COIVD-19 mRNA vaccines (Hou et al., 2021, Schoenmaker et al., 2021). Numerous relevant preclinical data have been reported. In 2012, Kramps' group (Petsch et al., 2012) firstly demonstrated protective efficacy of mRNA vaccine against infectious disease (influenza) using animal models. In addition, multiple clinical trials have been initiated for influenza mRNA vaccine development. Currently, influenza HA-based mRNA vaccines (phase 1 or 2, Moderna, mRNA-1010, Sanofi/Translate Bio, MRT-5400, MRT-5401, and Pfizer, PF-07252220) are in clinical trials (ClinicalTrials.gov) and the clinical findings of SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine that induced protective immune response in the elderly (>80 years) (Collier et al., 2021) suggest the potential of mRNA vaccine for influenza virus.

#### **6 REFERENCES**

- ADALJA, A. A. & HENDERSON, D. A. 2010. Original antigenic sin and pandemic (H1N1) 2009. Emerg Infect Dis, 16, 1028-9.
- AMBROSE, C. S., LEVIN, M. J. & BELSHE, R. B. 2011. The relative efficacy of trivalent live attenuated and inactivated influenza vaccines in children and adults. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*, 5, 67-75.
- BANGARU, S., LANG, S., SCHOTSAERT, M., VANDERVEN, H. A., ZHU, X., KOSE, N., BOMBARDI, R.,
  FINN, J. A., KENT, S. J., GILCHUK, P., GILCHUK, I., TURNER, H. L., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., LI,
  S., WARD, A. B., WILSON, I. A. & CROWE, J. E., JR. 2019. A Site of Vulnerability on the
  Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin Head Domain Trimer Interface. *Cell*, 177, 1136-1152 e18.
- BELONGIA, E. A., SKOWRONSKI, D. M., MCLEAN, H. Q., CHAMBERS, C., SUNDARAM, M. E. & DE SERRES, G. 2017. Repeated annual influenza vaccination and vaccine effectiveness: review of evidence. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 16, 1-14.
- BERNSTEIN, D. I., GUPTILL, J., NAFICY, A., NACHBAGAUER, R., BERLANDA-SCORZA, F., FESER, J., WILSON, P. C., SOLORZANO, A., VAN DER WIELEN, M., WALTER, E. B., ALBRECHT, R. A., BUSCHLE, K. N., CHEN, Y. Q., CLAEYS, C., DICKEY, M., DUGAN, H. L., ERMLER, M. E., FREEMAN, D., GAO, M., GAST, C., GUTHMILLER, J. J., HAI, R., HENRY, C., LAN, L. Y., MCNEAL, M., PALM, A. E., SHAW, D. G., STAMPER, C. T., SUN, W., SUTTON, V., TEPORA, M. E., WAHID, R., WENZEL, H., WOHLBOLD, T. J., INNIS, B. L., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., PALESE, P. & KRAMMER, F. 2020. Immunogenicity of chimeric haemagglutinin-based, universal influenza virus vaccine candidates: interim results of a randomised, placebocontrolled, phase 1 clinical trial. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 20, 80-91.
- BESSA, J., SCHMITZ, N., HINTON, H. J., SCHWARZ, K., JEGERLEHNER, A. & BACHMANN, M. F. 2008. Efficient induction of mucosal and systemic immune responses by virus-like particles administered intranasally: implications for vaccine design. *Eur J Immunol*, 38, 114-26.
- BEYER, W. E., DE BRUIJN, I. A., PALACHE, A. M., WESTENDORP, R. G. & OSTERHAUS, A. D. 1999.
   Protection against influenza after annually repeated vaccination: a meta-analysis of serologic and field studies. *Arch Intern Med*, 159, 182-8.
- CALZAS, C. & CHEVALIER, C. 2019. Innovative Mucosal Vaccine Formulations Against Influenza A Virus Infections. *Front Immunol*, 10, 1605.
- CARTER, N. J. & CURRAN, M. P. 2011. Live attenuated influenza vaccine (FluMist(R); Fluenz): a review of its use in the prevention of seasonal influenza in children and adults. *Drugs*, 71, 1591-622.
- CASADO, I., DOMINGUEZ, A., TOLEDO, D., CHAMORRO, J., ASTRAY, J., EGURROLA, M., FERNANDEZ-SIERRA, M. A., MARTIN, V., MORALES-SUAREZ-VARELA, M., GODOY, P., CASTILLA, J. & PROJECT, P. I. W. G. 2018. Repeated influenza vaccination for preventing severe and fatal influenza infection in older adults: a multicentre case-control study. *CMAJ*, 190, E3-E12.

CDC. 2021a. Adjuvanted Flu Vaccine [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/prevent/adjuvant.htm [Accessed].

- CDC. 2021b. Flu & People 65 Years and Older [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/65over.htm [Accessed].
- CDC. 2021c. Live, attenuated influenza vaccine [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/vis-</u> <u>statements/flulive.html#:~:text=Live%2C%20attenuated%20influenza%20vaccine%20(ca</u> <u>lled,protection%20to%20develop%20after%20vaccination</u>. [Accessed].
- CDC. 2021d. People 65 Years and Older Need a Flu Shot [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/freeresources/seniors/seniors-vaccination-factsheet-final.pdf</u> [Accessed].
- CDC. 2021e. Seasonal Flu Vaccine Effectiveness Studies [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/vaccines-work/effectiveness-studies.htm</u> [Accessed].
- CHAE, W., KIM, P., HWANG, B. J. & SEONG, B. L. 2019. Universal monoclonal antibody-based influenza hemagglutinin quantitative enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *Vaccine*, 37, 1457-1466.
- CHEN, C. J., ERMLER, M. E., TAN, G. S., KRAMMER, F., PALESE, P. & HAI, R. 2016. Influenza A Viruses Expressing Intra- or Intergroup Chimeric Hemagglutinins. *J Virol*, 90, 3789-93.
- CHEN, G. L., LAMIRANDE, E. W., JIN, H., KEMBLE, G. & SUBBARAO, K. 2010. Safety, immunogencity, and efficacy of a cold-adapted A/Ann Arbor/6/60 (H2N2) vaccine in mice and ferrets. *Virology*, 398, 109-14.
- CHEN, Y. Q., WOHLBOLD, T. J., ZHENG, N. Y., HUANG, M., HUANG, Y., NEU, K. E., LEE, J., WAN, H., ROJAS, K. T., KIRKPATRICK, E., HENRY, C., PALM, A. E., STAMPER, C. T., LAN, L. Y., TOPHAM, D. J., TREANOR, J., WRAMMERT, J., AHMED, R., EICHELBERGER, M. C., GEORGIOU, G., KRAMMER, F. & WILSON, P. C. 2018. Influenza Infection in Humans Induces Broadly Cross-Reactive and Protective Neuraminidase-Reactive Antibodies. *Cell*, 173, 417-429 e10.
- CHIODONI, C., PAGLIA, P., STOPPACCIARO, A., RODOLFO, M., PARENZA, M. & COLOMBO, M. P. 1999. Dendritic cells infiltrating tumors cotransduced with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and CD40 ligand genes take up and present endogenous tumor-associated antigens, and prime naive mice for a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response. *J Exp Med*, 190, 125-33.
- CHUNG, J. R., FLANNERY, B., AMBROSE, C. S., BEGUE, R. E., CASPARD, H., DEMARCUS, L., FOWLKES, A. L., KERSELLIUS, G., STEFFENS, A., FRY, A. M., INFLUENZA CLINICAL INVESTIGATION FOR CHILDREN STUDY, T., INFLUENZA INCIDENCE SURVEILLANCE, P. & NETWORK, U. S. I. V. E. 2019. Live Attenuated and Inactivated Influenza Vaccine Effectiveness. *Pediatrics*, 143.
- CIABATTINI, A., NARDINI, C., SANTORO, F., GARAGNANI, P., FRANCESCHI, C. & MEDAGLINI, D. 2018. Vaccination in the elderly: The challenge of immune changes with aging. *Semin Immunol*, 40, 83-94.
- COLLIER, D. A., FERREIRA, I., KOTAGIRI, P., DATIR, R. P., LIM, E. Y., TOUIZER, E., MENG, B., ABDULLAHI, A., COLLABORATION, C.-N. B. C.-., ELMER, A., KINGSTON, N., GRAVES, B., LE GRESLEY, E., CAPUTO, D., BERGAMASCHI, L., SMITH, K. G. C., BRADLEY, J. R., CERON-GUTIERREZ, L., CORTES-ACEVEDO, P., BARCENAS-MORALES, G., LINTERMAN, M. A., MCCOY, L. E., DAVIS, C., THOMSON, E., LYONS, P. A., MCKINNEY, E., DOFFINGER, R.,

WILLS, M. & GUPTA, R. K. 2021. Age-related immune response heterogeneity to SARS-CoV-2 vaccine BNT162b2. *Nature*, 596, 417-422.

- CORTHESY, B. 2013. Multi-faceted functions of secretory IgA at mucosal surfaces. *Front Immunol*, 4, 185.
- CRISCI, E., BARCENA, J. & MONTOYA, M. 2012. Virus-like particles: the new frontier of vaccines for animal viral infections. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 148, 211-25.
- CROOKE, S. N., OVSYANNIKOVA, I. G., POLAND, G. A. & KENNEDY, R. B. 2019. Immunosenescence and human vaccine immune responses. *Immun Ageing*, 16, 25.
- CUBAS, R., ZHANG, S., KWON, S., SEVICK-MURACA, E. M., LI, M., CHEN, C. & YAO, Q. 2009. Virus-like particle (VLP) lymphatic trafficking and immune response generation after immunization by different routes. *J Immunother*, 32, 118-28.
- DE BRUIJN, I. A., REMARQUE, E. J., JOL-VAN DER ZIJDE, C. M., VAN TOL, M. J., WESTENDORP, R.
   G. & KNOOK, D. L. 1999. Quality and quantity of the humoral immune response in healthy elderly and young subjects after annually repeated influenza vaccination. J Infect Dis, 179, 31-6.
- DE FILETTE, M., MARTENS, W., ROOSE, K., DEROO, T., VERVALLE, F., BENTAHIR, M., VANDEKERCKHOVE, J., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2008. An influenza A vaccine based on tetrameric ectodomain of matrix protein 2. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 11382-7.
- DE FILETTE, M., MIN JOU, W., BIRKETT, A., LYONS, K., SCHULTZ, B., TONKYRO, A., RESCH, S. & FIERS, W. 2005. Universal influenza A vaccine: optimization of M2-based constructs. *Virology*, 337, 149-61.
- DE FILETTE, M., RAMNE, A., BIRKETT, A., LYCKE, N., LOWENADLER, B., MIN JOU, W., SAELENS, X.
   & FIERS, W. 2006. The universal influenza vaccine M2e-HBc administered intranasally in combination with the adjuvant CTA1-DD provides complete protection. *Vaccine*, 24, 544-51.
- DENG, L., CHO, K. J., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2015. M2e-Based Universal Influenza A Vaccines. *Vaccines (Basel)*, **3**, 105-36.
- DENG, L., MOHAN, T., CHANG, T. Z., GONZALEZ, G. X., WANG, Y., KWON, Y. M., KANG, S. M., COMPANS, R. W., CHAMPION, J. A. & WANG, B. Z. 2018. Double-layered protein nanoparticles induce broad protection against divergent influenza A viruses. *Nat Commun*, 9, 359.
- DILILLO, D. J., PALESE, P., WILSON, P. C. & RAVETCH, J. V. 2016. Broadly neutralizing antiinfluenza antibodies require Fc receptor engagement for in vivo protection. *J Clin Invest*, 126, 605-10.
- DILILLO, D. J., TAN, G. S., PALESE, P. & RAVETCH, J. V. 2014. Broadly neutralizing hemagglutinin stalk-specific antibodies require FcgammaR interactions for protection against influenza virus in vivo. *Nat Med*, 20, 143-51.
- DONG, W., BHIDE, Y., SICCA, F., MEIJERHOF, T., GUILFOYLE, K., ENGELHARDT, O. G., BOON, L., DE HAAN, C. A. M., CARNELL, G., TEMPERTON, N., DE VRIES-IDEMA, J., KELVIN, D. & HUCKRIEDE, A. 2018. Cross-Protective Immune Responses Induced by Sequential Influenza Virus Infection and by Sequential Vaccination With Inactivated Influenza Vaccines. *Front Immunol*, 9, 2312.
- DOU, D., REVOL, R., OSTBYE, H., WANG, H. & DANIELS, R. 2018. Influenza A Virus Cell Entry, Replication, Virion Assembly and Movement. *Front Immunol*, 9, 1581.

- DU, R., CUI, Q. & RONG, L. 2021. Flu Universal Vaccines: New Tricks on an Old Virus. *Virol Sin*, 36, 13-24.
- DUNN-WALTERS, D. K., BANERJEE, M. & MEHR, R. 2003. Effects of age on antibody affinity maturation. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31, 447-8.
- DUNNING, A. J., DIAZGRANADOS, C. A., VOLOSHEN, T., HU, B., LANDOLFI, V. A. & TALBOT, H. K. 2016. Correlates of Protection against Influenza in the Elderly: Results from an Influenza Vaccine Efficacy Trial. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 23, 228-35.
- EAGER, R. & NEMUNAITIS, J. 2005. GM-CSF gene-transduced tumor vaccines. *Mol Ther*, 12, 18-27.
- EKIERT, D. C., FRIESEN, R. H., BHABHA, G., KWAKS, T., JONGENEELEN, M., YU, W., OPHORST, C., COX, F., KORSE, H. J., BRANDENBURG, B., VOGELS, R., BRAKENHOFF, J. P., KOMPIER, R., KOLDIJK, M. H., CORNELISSEN, L. A., POON, L. L., PEIRIS, M., KOUDSTAAL, W., WILSON, I.
  A. & GOUDSMIT, J. 2011. A highly conserved neutralizing epitope on group 2 influenza A viruses. *Science*, 333, 843-50.
- EL BAKKOURI, K., DESCAMPS, F., DE FILETTE, M., SMET, A., FESTJENS, E., BIRKETT, A., VAN ROOIJEN, N., VERBEEK, S., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2011. Universal vaccine based on ectodomain of matrix protein 2 of influenza A: Fc receptors and alveolar macrophages mediate protection. *J Immunol*, 186, 1022-31.
- ELIASSON, D. G., OMOKANYE, A., SCHON, K., WENZEL, U. A., BERNASCONI, V., BEMARK, M.,
  KOLPE, A., EL BAKKOURI, K., YSENBAERT, T., DENG, L., FIERS, W., SAELENS, X. & LYCKE, N.
  2018. M2e-tetramer-specific memory CD4 T cells are broadly protective against influenza infection. *Mucosal Immunol*, 11, 273-289.
- FALLON, J., TIGHE, R., KRADJIAN, G., GUZMAN, W., BERNHARDT, A., NEUTEBOOM, B., LAN, Y., SABZEVARI, H., SCHLOM, J. & GREINER, J. W. 2014. The immunocytokine NHS-IL12 as a potential cancer therapeutic. *Oncotarget*, **5**, 1869-84.
- FAN, J., LIANG, X., HORTON, M. S., PERRY, H. C., CITRON, M. P., HEIDECKER, G. J., FU, T. M., JOYCE, J., PRZYSIECKI, C. T., KELLER, P. M., GARSKY, V. M., IONESCU, R., RIPPEON, Y., SHI, L., CHASTAIN, M. A., CONDRA, J. H., DAVIES, M. E., LIAO, J., EMINI, E. A. & SHIVER, J. W. 2004. Preclinical study of influenza virus A M2 peptide conjugate vaccines in mice, ferrets, and rhesus monkeys. *Vaccine*, 22, 2993-3003.
- FENG, J., ZHANG, M., MOZDZANOWSKA, K., ZHARIKOVA, D., HOFF, H., WUNNER, W., COUCH, R.
  B. & GERHARD, W. 2006. Influenza A virus infection engenders a poor antibody response against the ectodomain of matrix protein 2. *Virol J*, 3, 102.
- FRASCA, D. & BLOMBERG, B. B. 2009. Effects of aging on B cell function. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 21, 425-30.
- FRIES, L. F., SMITH, G. E. & GLENN, G. M. 2013. A recombinant viruslike particle influenza A (H7N9) vaccine. *N Engl J Med*, 369, 2564-6.
- FRIETZE, K. M., PEABODY, D. S. & CHACKERIAN, B. 2016. Engineering virus-like particles as vaccine platforms. *Curr Opin Virol*, 18, 44-9.
- GARCIA-SASTRE, A. & PALESE, P. 1995. Influenza virus vectors. *Biologicals*, 23, 171-8.
- GOODWIN, K., VIBOUD, C. & SIMONSEN, L. 2006. Antibody response to influenza vaccination in the elderly: a quantitative review. *Vaccine*, 24, 1159-69.
- GRAVEL, C., LI, C., WANG, J., HASHEM, A. M., JAENTSCHKE, B., XU, K. W., LORBETSKIE, B., GINGRAS, G., AUBIN, Y., VAN DOMSELAAR, G., GIRARD, M., HE, R. & LI, X. 2010.

Qualitative and quantitative analyses of virtually all subtypes of influenza A and B viral neuraminidases using antibodies targeting the universally conserved sequences. *Vaccine*, 28, 5774-84.

- GREEN, A. M., DIFAZIO, R. & FLYNN, J. L. 2013. IFN-gamma from CD4 T cells is essential for host survival and enhances CD8 T cell function during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *J Immunol*, 190, 270-7.
- GUO, H., SANTIAGO, F., LAMBERT, K., TAKIMOTO, T. & TOPHAM, D. J. 2011. T cell-mediated protection against lethal 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus infection in a mouse model. *J Virol*, 85, 448-55.
- HAI, R., KRAMMER, F., TAN, G. S., PICA, N., EGGINK, D., MAAMARY, J., MARGINE, I., ALBRECHT,
   R. A. & PALESE, P. 2012. Influenza viruses expressing chimeric hemagglutinins: globular head and stalk domains derived from different subtypes. J Virol, 86, 5774-81.
- HARRINGTON, W. N., KACKOS, C. M. & WEBBY, R. J. 2021. The evolution and future of influenza pandemic preparedness. *Exp Mol Med*, 53, 737-749.
- HASHEMI, H., POUYANFARD, S., BANDEHPOUR, M., NOROOZBABAEI, Z., KAZEMI, B., SAELENS,
   X. & MOKHTARI-AZAD, T. 2012. Immunization with M2e-displaying T7 bacteriophage nanoparticles protects against influenza A virus challenge. *PLoS One*, 7, e45765.
- HATZIIOANNOU, T., DELAHAYE, E., MARTIN, F., RUSSELL, S. J. & COSSET, F. L. 1999. Retroviral display of functional binding domains fused to the amino terminus of influenza hemagglutinin. *Hum Gene Ther*, 10, 1533-44.
- HE, W., WANG, W., HAN, H., WANG, L., ZHANG, G. & GAO, B. 2013. Molecular basis of liveattenuated influenza virus. *PLoS One*, **8**, e60413.
- HEMANN, E. A., KANG, S. M. & LEGGE, K. L. 2013. Protective CD8 T cell-mediated immunity against influenza A virus infection following influenza virus-like particle vaccination. J Immunol, 191, 2486-94.
- HENRY, C., ZHENG, N. Y., HUANG, M., CABANOV, A., ROJAS, K. T., KAUR, K., ANDREWS, S. F., PALM, A. E., CHEN, Y. Q., LI, Y., HOSKOVA, K., UTSET, H. A., VIEIRA, M. C., WRAMMERT, J., AHMED, R., HOLDEN-WILTSE, J., TOPHAM, D. J., TREANOR, J. J., ERTL, H. C., SCHMADER, K. E., COBEY, S., KRAMMER, F., HENSLEY, S. E., GREENBERG, H., HE, X. S. & WILSON, P. C. 2019. Influenza Virus Vaccination Elicits Poorly Adapted B Cell Responses in Elderly Individuals. *Cell Host Microbe*, 25, 357-366 e6.
- HERBERT, A. S., HEFFRON, L., SUNDICK, R. & ROBERTS, P. C. 2009. Incorporation of membranebound, mammalian-derived immunomodulatory proteins into influenza whole virus vaccines boosts immunogenicity and protection against lethal challenge. *Virol J*, 6, 42.
- HESSEL, A., SAVIDIS-DACHO, H., COULIBALY, S., PORTSMOUTH, D., KREIL, T. R., CROWE, B. A., SCHWENDINGER, M. G., PILZ, A., BARRETT, P. N., FALKNER, F. G. & SCHAFER, B. 2014.
   MVA vectors expressing conserved influenza proteins protect mice against lethal challenge with H5N1, H9N2 and H7N1 viruses. *PLoS One*, 9, e88340.
- HODGINS, B., PILLET, S., LANDRY, N. & WARD, B. J. 2019. Prime-pull vaccination with a plantderived virus-like particle influenza vaccine elicits a broad immune response and protects aged mice from death and frailty after challenge. *Immun Ageing*, 16, 27.
- HOSSAIN, M. J., BOURGEOIS, M., QUAN, F. S., LIPATOV, A. S., SONG, J. M., CHEN, L. M., COMPANS, R. W., YORK, I., KANG, S. M. & DONIS, R. O. 2011. Virus-like particle vaccine

containing hemagglutinin confers protection against 2009 H1N1 pandemic influenza. *Clin Vaccine Immunol,* 18, 2010-7.

- HOU, X., ZAKS, T., LANGER, R. & DONG, Y. 2021. Lipid nanoparticles for mRNA delivery. *Nat Rev Mater*, 1-17.
- HSIEH, Y. T., AGGARWAL, P., CIRELLI, D., GU, L., SUROWY, T. & MOZIER, N. M. 2017. Characterization of FcgammaRIIIA effector cells used in in vitro ADCC bioassay: Comparison of primary NK cells with engineered NK-92 and Jurkat T cells. *J Immunol Methods*, 441, 56-66.
- HUTCHINSON, E. C., CHARLES, P. D., HESTER, S. S., THOMAS, B., TRUDGIAN, D., MARTINEZ-ALONSO, M. & FODOR, E. 2014. Conserved and host-specific features of influenza virion architecture. *Nat Commun*, *5*, 4816.
- IMPAGLIAZZO, A., MILDER, F., KUIPERS, H., WAGNER, M. V., ZHU, X., HOFFMAN, R. M., VAN MEERSBERGEN, R., HUIZINGH, J., WANNINGEN, P., VERSPUIJ, J., DE MAN, M., DING, Z., APETRI, A., KUKRER, B., SNEEKES-VRIESE, E., TOMKIEWICZ, D., LAURSEN, N. S., LEE, P. S., ZAKRZEWSKA, A., DEKKING, L., TOLBOOM, J., TETTERO, L., VAN MEERTEN, S., YU, W., KOUDSTAAL, W., GOUDSMIT, J., WARD, A. B., MEIJBERG, W., WILSON, I. A. & RADOSEVIC, K. 2015. A stable trimeric influenza hemagglutinin stem as a broadly protective immunogen. *Science*, 349, 1301-6.
- INGROLE, R. S. J., TAO, W., JOSHI, G. & GILL, H. S. 2021. M2e conjugated gold nanoparticle influenza vaccine displays thermal stability at elevated temperatures and confers protection to ferrets. *Vaccine*, 39, 4800-4809.
- ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., KORENKOV, D., SMOLONOGINA, T., TRETIAK, T., DONINA, S., REKSTIN, A., NAYKHIN, A., SHCHERBIK, S., PEARCE, N., CHEN, L. M., BOUSSE, T. & RUDENKO, L. 2017. Comparative studies of infectivity, immunogenicity and cross-protective efficacy of live attenuated influenza vaccines containing nucleoprotein from cold-adapted or wild-type influenza virus in a mouse model. *Virology*, 500, 209-217.
- IULIANO, A. D., ROGUSKI, K. M., CHANG, H. H., MUSCATELLO, D. J., PALEKAR, R., TEMPIA, S., COHEN, C., GRAN, J. M., SCHANZER, D., COWLING, B. J., WU, P., KYNCL, J., ANG, L. W., PARK, M., REDLBERGER-FRITZ, M., YU, H., ESPENHAIN, L., KRISHNAN, A., EMUKULE, G., VAN ASTEN, L., PEREIRA DA SILVA, S., AUNGKULANON, S., BUCHHOLZ, U., WIDDOWSON, M. A., BRESEE, J. S. & GLOBAL SEASONAL INFLUENZA-ASSOCIATED MORTALITY COLLABORATOR, N. 2018. Estimates of global seasonal influenza-associated respiratory mortality: a modelling study. *Lancet*, 391, 1285-1300.
- JAFFEE, E. M. 1999. Immunotherapy of cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 886, 67-72.
- JANG, H. & ROSS, T. M. 2021. Hemagglutination Inhibition (HAI) antibody landscapes after vaccination with H7Nx virus like particles. *PLoS One*, 16, e0246613.
- JANG, Y. H. & SEONG, B. L. 2014. Options and obstacles for designing a universal influenza vaccine. *Viruses*, 6, 3159-80.
- JEGERLEHNER, A., SCHMITZ, N., STORNI, T. & BACHMANN, M. F. 2004. Influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of M2: weak protection mediated via antibodydependent NK cell activity. *J Immunol*, 172, 5598-605.
- JUNG, Y. J., LEE, Y. N., KIM, K. H., LEE, Y., JEEVA, S., PARK, B. R. & KANG, S. M. 2020. Recombinant Live Attenuated Influenza Virus Expressing Conserved G-Protein Domain in

a Chimeric Hemagglutinin Molecule Induces G-Specific Antibodies and Confers Protection against Respiratory Syncytial Virus. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.

- KANG, S. M., KIM, M. C. & COMPANS, R. W. 2012. Virus-like particles as universal influenza vaccines. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 11, 995-1007.
- KEITEL, W. A., CATE, T. R., COUCH, R. B., HUGGINS, L. L. & HESS, K. R. 1997. Efficacy of repeated annual immunization with inactivated influenza virus vaccines over a five year period. *Vaccine*, 15, 1114-22.
- KEREN, G., SEGEV, S., MORAG, A., ZAKAY-RONES, Z., BARZILAI, A. & RUBINSTEIN, E. 1988. Failure of influenza vaccination in the aged. *J Med Virol*, 25, 85-9.
- KHURANA, S., HAHN, M., COYLE, E. M., KING, L. R., LIN, T. L., TREANOR, J., SANT, A. & GOLDING,
   H. 2019. Repeat vaccination reduces antibody affinity maturation across different influenza vaccine platforms in humans. *Nat Commun*, 10, 3338.
- KIM, K. H., JUNG, Y. J., LEE, Y., PARK, B. R., OH, J., LEE, Y. N., KIM, M. C., JEEVA, S. & KANG, S. M. 2020. Cross protection by inactivated recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric hemagglutinin conjugates with a conserved neuraminidase or M2 ectodomain epitope. *Virology*, 550, 51-60.
- KIM, K. H., KWON, Y. M., LEE, Y. T., KIM, M. C., HWANG, H. S., KO, E. J., LEE, Y., CHOI, H. J. & KANG, S. M. 2018. Virus-Like Particles Are a Superior Platform for Presenting M2e Epitopes to Prime Humoral and Cellular Immunity against Influenza Virus. *Vaccines* (*Basel*), 6.
- KIM, M. C., LEE, J. S., KWON, Y. M., O, E., LEE, Y. J., CHOI, J. G., WANG, B. Z., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2013a. Multiple heterologous M2 extracellular domains presented on viruslike particles confer broader and stronger M2 immunity than live influenza A virus infection. *Antiviral Res*, 99, 328-35.
- KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. N., KIM, Y. J., CHOI, H. J., KIM, K. H., LEE, Y. J. & KANG, S. M. 2017a. Immunogenicity and efficacy of replication-competent recombinant influenza virus carrying multimeric M2 extracellular domains in a chimeric hemagglutinin conjugate. *Antiviral Res*, 148, 43-52.
- KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. N., KO, E. J., LEE, J. S., KWON, Y. M., HWANG, H. S., SONG, J. M., SONG, B. M., LEE, Y. J., CHOI, J. G., KANG, H. M., QUAN, F. S., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2014. Supplementation of influenza split vaccines with conserved M2 ectodomains overcomes strain specificity and provides long-term cross protection. *Mol Ther*, 22, 1364-1374.
- KIM, M. C., SONG, J. M., O, E., KWON, Y. M., LEE, Y. J., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2013b. Virus-like particles containing multiple M2 extracellular domains confer improved crossprotection against various subtypes of influenza virus. *Mol Ther*, 21, 485-92.
- KIM, Y. J., KO, E. J., KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. N., KIM, K. H., JUNG, Y. J. & KANG, S. M. 2017b. Roles of antibodies to influenza A virus hemagglutinin, neuraminidase, and M2e in conferring cross protection. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 493, 393-398.
- KO, E. J., LEE, Y., LEE, Y. T., KIM, Y. J., KIM, K. H. & KANG, S. M. 2018. MPL and CpG combination adjuvants promote homologous and heterosubtypic cross protection of inactivated split influenza virus vaccine. *Antiviral Res*, 156, 107-115.
- KOLPE, A., SCHEPENS, B., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2017. M2-based influenza vaccines: recent advances and clinical potential. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 16, 123-136.

- KOTOMINA, T., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., KIM, K. H., PARK, B. R., JUNG, Y. J., LEE, Y., MEZHENSKAYA, D., MATYUSHENKO, V., KANG, S. M. & RUDENKO, L. 2020. Generation and Characterization of Universal Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Candidates Containing Multiple M2e Epitopes. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.
- KOTOMINA, T., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., MATYUSHENKO, V., KIM, K. H., LEE, Y., JUNG, Y. J., KANG, S.
   M. & RUDENKO, L. 2019. Recombinant live attenuated influenza vaccine viruses carrying CD8 T-cell epitopes of respiratory syncytial virus protect mice against both pathogens without inflammatory disease. *Antiviral Res*, 168, 9-17.
- KRAMMER, F., GARCIA-SASTRE, A. & PALESE, P. 2018a. Is It Possible to Develop a "Universal" Influenza Virus Vaccine? Potential Target Antigens and Critical Aspects for a Universal Influenza Vaccine. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 10.
- KRAMMER, F. & PALESE, P. 2013. Influenza virus hemagglutinin stalk-based antibodies and vaccines. *Curr Opin Virol*, **3**, 521-30.
- KRAMMER, F. & PALESE, P. 2019. Universal Influenza Virus Vaccines That Target the Conserved Hemagglutinin Stalk and Conserved Sites in the Head Domain. *J Infect Dis*, 219, S62-S67.
- KRAMMER, F., PICA, N., HAI, R., MARGINE, I. & PALESE, P. 2013. Chimeric hemagglutinin influenza virus vaccine constructs elicit broadly protective stalk-specific antibodies. J Virol, 87, 6542-50.
- KRAMMER, F., SMITH, G. J. D., FOUCHIER, R. A. M., PEIRIS, M., KEDZIERSKA, K., DOHERTY, P. C., PALESE, P., SHAW, M. L., TREANOR, J., WEBSTER, R. G. & GARCIA-SASTRE, A. 2018b. Influenza. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, **4**, **3**.
- LAI, L., VODROS, D., KOZLOWSKI, P. A., MONTEFIORI, D. C., WILSON, R. L., AKERSTROM, V. L., CHENNAREDDI, L., YU, T., KANNANGANAT, S., OFIELU, L., VILLINGER, F., WYATT, L. S., MOSS, B., AMARA, R. R. & ROBINSON, H. L. 2007. GM-CSF DNA: an adjuvant for higher avidity IgG, rectal IgA, and increased protection against the acute phase of a SHIV-89.6P challenge by a DNA/MVA immunodeficiency virus vaccine. *Virology*, 369, 153-67.
- LAMBERT, N. D., OVSYANNIKOVA, I. G., PANKRATZ, V. S., JACOBSON, R. M. & POLAND, G. A. 2012. Understanding the immune response to seasonal influenza vaccination in older adults: a systems biology approach. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 11, 985-94.
- LANDRY, N., WARD, B. J., TREPANIER, S., MONTOMOLI, E., DARGIS, M., LAPINI, G. & VEZINA, L. P. 2010. Preclinical and clinical development of plant-made virus-like particle vaccine against avian H5N1 influenza. *PLoS One*, 5, e15559.
- LEE, V. J., HO, Z. J. M., GOH, E. H., CAMPBELL, H., COHEN, C., COZZA, V., FITZNER, J., JARA, J., KRISHNAN, A., BRESEE, J. & DISEASE, W. H. O. W. G. O. I. B. O. 2018. Advances in measuring influenza burden of disease. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*, 12, 3-9.
- LEE, Y. N., HWANG, H. S., KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. T., KIM, Y. J., LEE, F. E. & KANG, S. M. 2016a. Protection against respiratory syncytial virus by inactivated influenza virus carrying a fusion protein neutralizing epitope in a chimeric hemagglutinin. *Nanomedicine*, 12, 759-770.
- LEE, Y. N., KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. T., KIM, Y. J. & KANG, S. M. 2015a. Mechanisms of Crossprotection by Influenza Virus M2-based Vaccines. *Immune Netw*, 15, 213-21.
- LEE, Y. N., LEE, Y. T., KIM, M. C., GEWIRTZ, A. T. & KANG, S. M. 2016b. A Novel Vaccination Strategy Mediating the Induction of Lung-Resident Memory CD8 T Cells Confers

Heterosubtypic Immunity against Future Pandemic Influenza Virus. *J Immunol,* 196, 2637-45.

- LEE, Y. N., LEE, Y. T., KIM, M. C., HWANG, H. S., LEE, J. S., KIM, K. H. & KANG, S. M. 2014a. Fc receptor is not required for inducing antibodies but plays a critical role in conferring protection after influenza M2 vaccination. *Immunology*, 143, 300-9.
- LEE, Y. N., SUK HWANG, H., KIM, M. C., LEE, Y. T., CHO, M. K., KWON, Y. M., SEOK LEE, J., PLEMPER, R. K. & KANG, S. M. 2015b. Recombinant influenza virus carrying the conserved domain of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein confers protection against RSV without inflammatory disease. *Virology*, 476, 217-225.
- LEE, Y. T., KIM, K. H., KO, E. J., LEE, Y. N., KIM, M. C., KWON, Y. M., TANG, Y., CHO, M. K., LEE, Y. J. & KANG, S. M. 2014b. New vaccines against influenza virus. *Clin Exp Vaccine Res*, 3, 12-28.
- LEUNG, V. K. Y., CAROLAN, L. A., WORTH, L. J., HARPER, S. A., PECK, H., TILMANIS, D., LAURIE, K. L., SLAVIN, M. A. & SULLIVAN, S. G. 2017. Influenza vaccination responses: Evaluating impact of repeat vaccination among health care workers. *Vaccine*, 35, 2558-2568.
- LI, A. P. Y., COHEN, C. A., LEUNG, N. H. L., FANG, V. J., GANGAPPA, S., SAMBHARA, S., LEVINE, M. Z., IULIANO, A. D., PERERA, R., IP, D. K. M., PEIRIS, J. S. M., THOMPSON, M. G., COWLING, B. J. & VALKENBURG, S. A. 2021. Immunogenicity of standard, high-dose, MF59-adjuvanted, and recombinant-HA seasonal influenza vaccination in older adults. NPJ Vaccines, 6, 25.
- LIANG, R., SWANSON, J. M. J., MADSEN, J. J., HONG, M., DEGRADO, W. F. & VOTH, G. A. 2016. Acid activation mechanism of the influenza A M2 proton channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, E6955-E6964.
- LIAO, H. Y., WANG, S. C., KO, Y. A., LIN, K. I., MA, C., CHENG, T. R. & WONG, C. H. 2020. Chimeric hemagglutinin vaccine elicits broadly protective CD4 and CD8 T cell responses against multiple influenza strains and subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117, 17757-17763.
- LIU, W., ZOU, P., DING, J., LU, Y. & CHEN, Y. H. 2005. Sequence comparison between the extracellular domain of M2 protein human and avian influenza A virus provides new information for bivalent influenza vaccine design. *Microbes Infect*, **7**, 171-7.
- LIU, W. C., NACHBAGAUER, R., STADLBAUER, D., SOLORZANO, A., BERLANDA-SCORZA, F., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., PALESE, P., KRAMMER, F. & ALBRECHT, R. A. 2019. Sequential Immunization With Live-Attenuated Chimeric Hemagglutinin-Based Vaccines Confers Heterosubtypic Immunity Against Influenza A Viruses in a Preclinical Ferret Model. Front Immunol, 10, 756.
- LONG, J. S., MISTRY, B., HASLAM, S. M. & BARCLAY, W. S. 2019. Host and viral determinants of influenza A virus species specificity. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, **17**, 67-81.
- LOPEZ-MACIAS, C., FERAT-OSORIO, E., TENORIO-CALVO, A., ISIBASI, A., TALAVERA, J., ARTEAGA-RUIZ, O., ARRIAGA-PIZANO, L., HICKMAN, S. P., ALLENDE, M., LENHARD, K., PINCUS, S., CONNOLLY, K., RAGHUNANDAN, R., SMITH, G. & GLENN, G. 2011. Safety and immunogenicity of a virus-like particle pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 vaccine in a blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of adults in Mexico. *Vaccine*, 29, 7826-34.
- LOPEZ, C. E. & LEGGE, K. L. 2020. Influenza A Virus Vaccination: Immunity, Protection, and Recent Advances Toward A Universal Vaccine. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.

- MANDELBOIM, M., BROMBERG, M., SHERBANY, H., ZUCKER, I., YAARY, K., BASSAL, R., DICHTIAR, R., COHEN, D., SHOHAT, T., MENDELSON, E. & GREEN, M. S. 2014. Significant cross reactive antibodies to influenza virus in adults and children during a period of marked antigenic drift. *BMC Infect Dis*, 14, 346.
- MARGINE, I., KRAMMER, F., HAI, R., HEATON, N. S., TAN, G. S., ANDREWS, S. A., RUNSTADLER, J.
   A., WILSON, P. C., ALBRECHT, R. A., GARCIA-SASTRE, A. & PALESE, P. 2013.
   Hemagglutinin stalk-based universal vaccine constructs protect against group 2 influenza A viruses. J Virol, 87, 10435-46.
- MASTALERZ-MIGAS, A., BUJNOWSKA-FEDAK, M. & BRYDAK, L. B. 2015a. Immune efficacy of first and repeat trivalent influenza vaccine in healthy subjects and hemodialysis patients. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 836, 47-54.
- MASTALERZ-MIGAS, A., POKORSKI, M., KILIS-PSTRUSINSKA, K., DOSKOCZ, K., SAPILAK, B. J. & BRYDAK, L. B. 2015b. Cytokines and toll-like receptors in the immune response to influenza vaccination. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 836, 35-40.
- MATRAJT, L., HALLORAN, M. E. & ANTIA, R. 2020. Successes and Failures of the Live-attenuated Influenza Vaccine: Can We Do Better? *Clin Infect Dis*, 70, 1029-1037.
- MCAULEY, J. L., GILBERTSON, B. P., TRIFKOVIC, S., BROWN, L. E. & MCKIMM-BRESCHKIN, J. L. 2019. Influenza Virus Neuraminidase Structure and Functions. *Front Microbiol*, 10, 39.
- MCHUGH, R. S., NAGARAJAN, S., WANG, Y. C., SELL, K. W. & SELVARAJ, P. 1999. Protein transfer of glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-B7-1 into tumor cell membranes: a novel approach to tumor immunotherapy. *Cancer Res*, 59, 2433-7.
- MCLEAN, H. Q., THOMPSON, M. G., SUNDARAM, M. E., MEECE, J. K., MCCLURE, D. L., FRIEDRICH, T. C. & BELONGIA, E. A. 2014. Impact of repeated vaccination on vaccine effectiveness against influenza A(H3N2) and B during 8 seasons. *Clin Infect Dis*, 59, 1375-85.
- MCMAHON, M., KIRKPATRICK, E., STADLBAUER, D., STROHMEIER, S., BOUVIER, N. M. & KRAMMER, F. 2019. Mucosal Immunity against Neuraminidase Prevents Influenza B Virus Transmission in Guinea Pigs. *mBio*, 10.
- MEURENS, F. 2020. Flu RNA Vaccine: A Game Changer? Vaccines (Basel), 8.
- MEZHENSKAYA, D., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., KOTOMINA, T., MATYUSHENKO, V., KIM, M. C., BHATNAGAR, N., KIM, K. H., KANG, S. M. & RUDENKO, L. 2021a. A Strategy to Elicit M2e-Specific Antibodies Using a Recombinant H7N9 Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Expressing Multiple M2e Tandem Repeats. *Biomedicines*, 9.
- MEZHENSKAYA, D., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., MATYUSHENKO, V., DONINA, S., REKSTIN, A., SIVAK, K., YAKOVLEV, K., KATELNIKOVA, A., KRYSHEN, K., MAKAROV, V. & RUDENKO, L. 2021b. Universal Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Candidates Expressing Multiple M2e Epitopes Protect Ferrets against a High-Dose Heterologous Virus Challenge. *Viruses*, 13.
- MEZHENSKAYA, D., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I. & RUDENKO, L. 2019. M2e-based universal influenza vaccines: a historical overview and new approaches to development. *J Biomed Sci*, 26, 76.
- MILLER, S. M., CYBULSKI, V., WHITACRE, M., BESS, L. S., LIVESAY, M. T., WALSH, L., BURKHART, D., BAZIN, H. G. & EVANS, J. T. 2020. Novel Lipidated Imidazoquinoline TLR7/8 Adjuvants Elicit Influenza-Specific Th1 Immune Responses and Protect Against Heterologous H3N2 Influenza Challenge in Mice. *Front Immunol*, 11, 406.

- MOHN, K. G., SMITH, I., SJURSEN, H. & COX, R. J. 2018. Immune responses after live attenuated influenza vaccination. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*, 14, 571-578.
- MONTO, A. S., PETRIE, J. G., CROSS, R. T., JOHNSON, E., LIU, M., ZHONG, W., LEVINE, M., KATZ, J. M. & OHMIT, S. E. 2015. Antibody to Influenza Virus Neuraminidase: An Independent Correlate of Protection. *J Infect Dis*, 212, 1191-9.
- MORIMOTO, N. & TAKEISHI, K. 2018. Change in the efficacy of influenza vaccination after repeated inoculation under antigenic mismatch: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Vaccine*, 36, 949-957.
- MULLARKEY, C. E., BAILEY, M. J., GOLUBEVA, D. A., TAN, G. S., NACHBAGAUER, R., HE, W., NOVAKOWSKI, K. E., BOWDISH, D. M., MILLER, M. S. & PALESE, P. 2016. Broadly Neutralizing Hemagglutinin Stalk-Specific Antibodies Induce Potent Phagocytosis of Immune Complexes by Neutrophils in an Fc-Dependent Manner. *mBio*, 7.
- MURRAY, T. 2015. Repeated flu shots may blunt effectiveness. CMAJ, 187, E180.
- MUSIC, N., TZENG, W. P., LIAINI GROSS, F., LEVINE, M. Z., XU, X., SHIEH, W. J., TUMPEY, T. M., KATZ, J. M. & YORK, I. A. 2019. Repeated vaccination against matched H3N2 influenza virus gives less protection than single vaccination in ferrets. *NPJ Vaccines*, 4, 28.
- NACHBAGAUER, R., CHOI, A., HIRSH, A., MARGINE, I., IIDA, S., BARRERA, A., FERRES, M.,
  ALBRECHT, R. A., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., BOUVIER, N. M., ITO, K., MEDINA, R. A., PALESE, P.
  & KRAMMER, F. 2017a. Defining the antibody cross-reactome directed against the influenza virus surface glycoproteins. *Nat Immunol*, 18, 464-473.
- NACHBAGAUER, R., CHOI, A., IZIKSON, R., COX, M. M., PALESE, P. & KRAMMER, F. 2016. Age Dependence and Isotype Specificity of Influenza Virus Hemagglutinin Stalk-Reactive Antibodies in Humans. *mBio*, 7, e01996-15.
- NACHBAGAUER, R., FESER, J., NAFICY, A., BERNSTEIN, D. I., GUPTILL, J., WALTER, E. B., BERLANDA-SCORZA, F., STADLBAUER, D., WILSON, P. C., AYDILLO, T., BEHZADI, M. A., BHAVSAR, D., BLISS, C., CAPUANO, C., CARRENO, J. M., CHROMIKOVA, V., CLAEYS, C., COUGHLAN, L., FREYN, A. W., GAST, C., JAVIER, A., JIANG, K., MARIOTTINI, C., MCMAHON, M., MCNEAL, M., SOLORZANO, A., STROHMEIER, S., SUN, W., VAN DER WIELEN, M., INNIS, B. L., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., PALESE, P. & KRAMMER, F. 2021. A chimeric hemagglutinin-based universal influenza virus vaccine approach induces broad and long-lasting immunity in a randomized, placebo-controlled phase I trial. *Nat Med*, 27, 106-114.
- NACHBAGAUER, R., LIU, W. C., CHOI, A., WOHLBOLD, T. J., ATLAS, T., RAJENDRAN, M.,
   SOLORZANO, A., BERLANDA-SCORZA, F., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., PALESE, P., ALBRECHT, R. A.
   & KRAMMER, F. 2017b. A universal influenza virus vaccine candidate confers protection against pandemic H1N1 infection in preclinical ferret studies. *NPJ Vaccines*, 2, 26.
- NACHBAGAUER, R., MILLER, M. S., HAI, R., RYDER, A. B., ROSE, J. K., PALESE, P., GARCIA-SASTRE, A., KRAMMER, F. & ALBRECHT, R. A. 2015. Hemagglutinin Stalk Immunity Reduces Influenza Virus Replication and Transmission in Ferrets. *J Virol*, 90, 3268-73.
- NACHBAGAUER, R. & PALESE, P. 2020. Is a Universal Influenza Virus Vaccine Possible? *Annu Rev Med*, 71, 315-327.
- NAGARAJAN, S. & SELVARAJ, P. 2002. Glycolipid-anchored IL-12 expressed on tumor cell surface induces antitumor immune response. *Cancer Res*, 62, 2869-74.
- NEIRYNCK, S., DEROO, T., SAELENS, X., VANLANDSCHOOT, P., JOU, W. M. & FIERS, W. 1999. A universal influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of the M2 protein. *Nat Med*, 5, 1157-63.
- NEUMANN, G., WATANABE, T., ITO, H., WATANABE, S., GOTO, H., GAO, P., HUGHES, M., PEREZ, D. R., DONIS, R., HOFFMANN, E., HOBOM, G. & KAWAOKA, Y. 1999. Generation of influenza A viruses entirely from cloned cDNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 9345-50.
- NICKOL, M. E. & KINDRACHUK, J. 2019. A year of terror and a century of reflection: perspectives on the great influenza pandemic of 1918-1919. *BMC Infect Dis*, 19, 117.
- NIKOLICH-ZUGICH, J. 2018. The twilight of immunity: emerging concepts in aging of the immune system. *Nat Immunol*, 19, 10-19.
- NOBUSAWA, E. & SATO, K. 2006. Comparison of the mutation rates of human influenza A and B viruses. *J Virol*, 80, 3675-8.
- NOORAEI, S., BAHRULOLUM, H., HOSEINI, Z. S., KATALANI, C., HAJIZADE, A., EASTON, A. J. & AHMADIAN, G. 2021. Virus-like particles: preparation, immunogenicity and their roles as nanovaccines and drug nanocarriers. *J Nanobiotechnology*, **19**, **59**.
- O'NEILL, E., KRAUSS, S. L., RIBERDY, J. M., WEBSTER, R. G. & WOODLAND, D. L. 2000. Heterologous protection against lethal A/HongKong/156/97 (H5N1) influenza virus infection in C57BL/6 mice. *J Gen Virol*, 81, 2689-2696.
- OBERDAN LEO, A. C., PETER L STERN 2011. Vaccine immunology. Understanding Modern Vaccines:Perspectives in Vaccinology, 1, 35.
- PARK, B. R., KIM, K. H., KOTOMINA, T., KIM, M. C., KWON, Y. M., JEEVA, S., JUNG, Y. J., BHATNAGAR, N., ISAKOVA-SIVAK, I., MEZHENSKAYA, D., RUDENKO, L., WANG, B. Z. & KANG, S. M. 2021. Broad cross protection by recombinant live attenuated influenza H3N2 seasonal virus expressing conserved M2 extracellular domain in a chimeric hemagglutinin. *Sci Rep*, 11, 4151.
- PATEL, J. M., KIM, M. C., VARTABEDIAN, V. F., LEE, Y. N., HE, S., SONG, J. M., CHOI, H. J., YAMANAKA, S., AMARAM, N., LUKACHER, A., MONTEMAGNO, C. D., COMPANS, R. W., KANG, S. M. & SELVARAJ, P. 2015a. Protein transfer-mediated surface engineering to adjuvantate virus-like nanoparticles for enhanced anti-viral immune responses. *Nanomedicine*, 11, 1097-107.
- PATEL, J. M., VARTABEDIAN, V. F., KIM, M. C., HE, S., KANG, S. M. & SELVARAJ, P. 2015b. Influenza virus-like particles engineered by protein transfer with tumor-associated antigens induces protective antitumor immunity. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 112, 1102-10.
- PETROVIC, R., BUFAN, B., ARSENOVIC-RANIN, N., ZIVKOVIC, I., MINIC, R., RADOJEVIC, K. & LEPOSAVIC, G. 2018. Mouse strain and sex as determinants of immune response to trivalent influenza vaccine. *Life Sci*, 207, 117-126.
- PETSCH, B., SCHNEE, M., VOGEL, A. B., LANGE, E., HOFFMANN, B., VOSS, D., SCHLAKE, T., THESS, A., KALLEN, K. J., STITZ, L. & KRAMPS, T. 2012. Protective efficacy of in vitro synthesized, specific mRNA vaccines against influenza A virus infection. *Nat Biotechnol*, 30, 1210-6.
- PILLET, S., COUILLARD, J., TREPANIER, S., POULIN, J. F., YASSINE-DIAB, B., GUY, B., WARD, B. J. & LANDRY, N. 2019. Immunogenicity and safety of a quadrivalent plant-derived virus like particle influenza vaccine candidate-Two randomized Phase II clinical trials in 18 to 49 and >/=50 years old adults. *PLoS One*, 14, e0216533.

- POLOSO, N. J., NAGARAJAN, S., MEJIA-ONETA, J. M. & SELVARAJ, P. 2002. GPI-anchoring of GM-CSF results in active membrane-bound and partially shed cytokine. *Mol Immunol*, 38, 803-16.
- PUSHKO, P., TRETYAKOVA, I., HIDAJAT, R., ZSAK, A., CHRZASTEK, K., TUMPEY, T. M. & KAPCZYNSKI, D. R. 2017. Virus-like particles displaying H5, H7, H9 hemagglutinins and N1 neuraminidase elicit protective immunity to heterologous avian influenza viruses in chickens. *Virology*, 501, 176-182.
- QUAN, F. S., COMPANS, R. W., NGUYEN, H. H. & KANG, S. M. 2008. Induction of heterosubtypic immunity to influenza virus by intranasal immunization. *J Virol*, 82, 1350-9.
- QUAN, F. S., HUANG, C., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2007. Virus-like particle vaccine induces protective immunity against homologous and heterologous strains of influenza virus. *J Virol*, 81, 3514-24.
- QUAN, F. S., VUNNAVA, A., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2010. Virus-like particle vaccine protects against 2009 H1N1 pandemic influenza virus in mice. *PLoS One*, **5**, e9161.
- QUAN, F. S., YOO, D. G., SONG, J. M., CLEMENTS, J. D., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2009. Kinetics of immune responses to influenza virus-like particles and dose-dependence of protection with a single vaccination. *J Virol*, 83, 4489-97.
- RANJEVA, S., SUBRAMANIAN, R., FANG, V. J., LEUNG, G. M., IP, D. K. M., PERERA, R., PEIRIS, J. S.
   M., COWLING, B. J. & COBEY, S. 2019. Age-specific differences in the dynamics of protective immunity to influenza. *Nat Commun*, 10, 1660.
- REBER, A. J., CHIRKOVA, T., KIM, J. H., CAO, W., BIBER, R., SHAY, D. K. & SAMBHARA, S. 2012. Immunosenescence and Challenges of Vaccination against Influenza in the Aging Population. *Aging Dis*, **3**, 68-90.
- RONDY, M., EL OMEIRI, N., THOMPSON, M. G., LEVEQUE, A., MOREN, A. & SULLIVAN, S. G. 2017. Effectiveness of influenza vaccines in preventing severe influenza illness among adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of test-negative design case-control studies. J Infect, 75, 381-394.
- ROY, S., WILLIAMS, C. M., PARDO, J., WIJESUNDARA, D. K. & FURUYA, Y. 2020a. Impact of Pre-Existing Immunity on Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccine-Induced Cross-Protective Immunity. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.
- ROY, S., WILLIAMS, C. M., WIJESUNDARA, D. K. & FURUYA, Y. 2020b. Impact of Pre-Existing Immunity to Influenza on Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine (LAIV) Immunogenicity. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.
- SAELENS, X. 2019. The Role of Matrix Protein 2 Ectodomain in the Development of Universal Influenza Vaccines. J Infect Dis, 219, S68-S74.
- SANDBULTE, M. R., WESTGEEST, K. B., GAO, J., XU, X., KLIMOV, A. I., RUSSELL, C. A., BURKE, D. F., SMITH, D. J., FOUCHIER, R. A. & EICHELBERGER, M. C. 2011. Discordant antigenic drift of neuraminidase and hemagglutinin in H1N1 and H3N2 influenza viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 20748-53.
- SANYAL, M., HOLMES, T. H., MAECKER, H. T., ALBRECHT, R. A., DEKKER, C. L., HE, X. S. & GREENBERG, H. B. 2019. Diminished B-Cell Response After Repeat Influenza Vaccination. *J Infect Dis*, 219, 1586-1595.
- SASAKI, S., SULLIVAN, M., NARVAEZ, C. F., HOLMES, T. H., FURMAN, D., ZHENG, N. Y., NISHTALA, M., WRAMMERT, J., SMITH, K., JAMES, J. A., DEKKER, C. L., DAVIS, M. M., WILSON, P. C.,

GREENBERG, H. B. & HE, X. S. 2011. Limited efficacy of inactivated influenza vaccine in elderly individuals is associated with decreased production of vaccine-specific antibodies. *J Clin Invest*, 121, 3109-19.

- SCHEPENS, B., DE VLIEGER, D. & SAELENS, X. 2018. Vaccine options for influenza: thinking small. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 53, 22-29.
- SCHOENMAKER, L., WITZIGMANN, D., KULKARNI, J. A., VERBEKE, R., KERSTEN, G., JISKOOT, W. & CROMMELIN, D. J. A. 2021. mRNA-lipid nanoparticle COVID-19 vaccines: Structure and stability. *Int J Pharm*, 601, 120586.
- SCHOTSAERT, M., YSENBAERT, T., NEYT, K., IBANEZ, L. I., BOGAERT, P., SCHEPENS, B., LAMBRECHT, B. N., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2013. Natural and long-lasting cellular immune responses against influenza in the M2e-immune host. *Mucosal Immunol*, 6, 276-87.
- SCHOTSAERT, M., YSENBAERT, T., SMET, A., SCHEPENS, B., VANDERSCHAEGHE, D., STEGALKINA, S., VOGEL, T. U., CALLEWAERT, N., FIERS, W. & SAELENS, X. 2016. Long-Lasting Cross-Protection Against Influenza A by Neuraminidase and M2e-based immunization strategies. *Sci Rep*, 6, 24402.
- SHAO, W., LI, X., GORAYA, M. U., WANG, S. & CHEN, J. L. 2017. Evolution of Influenza A Virus by Mutation and Re-Assortment. *Int J Mol Sci*, 18.
- SHIM, E., BROWN, S. T., DEPASSE, J., NOWALK, M. P., RAVIOTTA, J. M., SMITH, K. J. & ZIMMERMAN, R. K. 2016. Cost Effectiveness of Influenza Vaccine for U.S. Children: Live Attenuated and Inactivated Influenza Vaccine. *Am J Prev Med*, 51, 309-17.
- SKOUNTZOU, I., QUAN, F. S., GANGADHARA, S., YE, L., VZOROV, A., SELVARAJ, P., JACOB, J., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2007. Incorporation of glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored granulocyte- macrophage colony-stimulating factor or CD40 ligand enhances immunogenicity of chimeric simian immunodeficiency virus-like particles. J Virol, 81, 1083-94.
- SMITH, D. J., FORREST, S., ACKLEY, D. H. & PERELSON, A. S. 1999. Variable efficacy of repeated annual influenza vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 14001-6.
- SONG, J. M., VAN ROOIJEN, N., BOZJA, J., COMPANS, R. W. & KANG, S. M. 2011. Vaccination inducing broad and improved cross protection against multiple subtypes of influenza A virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 757-61.
- SONG, J. Y., NOH, J. Y., LEE, J. S., WIE, S. H., KIM, Y. K., LEE, J., JEONG, H. W., KIM, S. W., LEE, S. H., PARK, K. H., CHOI, W. S., CHEONG, H. J. & KIM, W. J. 2020. Effectiveness of repeated influenza vaccination among the elderly population with high annual vaccine uptake rates during the three consecutive A/H3N2 epidemics. *Vaccine*, 38, 318-322.
- SRIDHAR, S., BROKSTAD, K. A. & COX, R. J. 2015. Influenza Vaccination Strategies: Comparing Inactivated and Live Attenuated Influenza Vaccines. *Vaccines (Basel)*, **3**, 373-89.
- STADLBAUER, D., ZHU, X., MCMAHON, M., TURNER, J. S., WOHLBOLD, T. J., SCHMITZ, A. J.,
  STROHMEIER, S., YU, W., NACHBAGAUER, R., MUDD, P. A., WILSON, I. A., ELLEBEDY, A.
  H. & KRAMMER, F. 2019. Broadly protective human antibodies that target the active site of influenza virus neuraminidase. *Science*, 366, 499-504.
- SUBBARAO, K. & MATSUOKA, Y. 2013. The prospects and challenges of universal vaccines for influenza. *Trends in microbiology*, 21, 350-8.

- SUN, W., ZHENG, A., MILLER, R., KRAMMER, F. & PALESE, P. 2019. An Inactivated Influenza Virus Vaccine Approach to Targeting the Conserved Hemagglutinin Stalk and M2e Domains. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 7.
- SUSCHAK, J. J., BAGLEY, K., SHOEMAKER, C. J., SIX, C., KWILAS, S., DUPUY, L. C. & SCHMALJOHN, C. S. 2018. The Genetic Adjuvants Interleukin-12 and Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor Enhance the Immunogenicity of an Ebola Virus Deoxyribonucleic Acid Vaccine in Mice. J Infect Dis, 218, S519-S527.
- SUTTON, T. C., CHAKRABORTY, S., MALLAJOSYULA, V. V. A., LAMIRANDE, E. W., GANTI, K., BOCK, K. W., MOORE, I. N., VARADARAJAN, R. & SUBBARAO, K. 2017. Protective efficacy of influenza group 2 hemagglutinin stem-fragment immunogen vaccines. *NPJ Vaccines*, 2, 35.
- TANNER, A. R., DOREY, R. B., BRENDISH, N. J. & CLARK, T. W. 2021. Influenza vaccination: protecting the most vulnerable. *Eur Respir Rev*, 30.
- TAO, W., HURST, B. L., SHAKYA, A. K., UDDIN, M. J., INGROLE, R. S., HERNANDEZ-SANABRIA, M., ARYA, R. P., BIMLER, L., PAUST, S., TARBET, E. B. & GILL, H. S. 2017. Consensus M2e peptide conjugated to gold nanoparticles confers protection against H1N1, H3N2 and H5N1 influenza A viruses. *Antiviral Res*, 141, 62-72.
- TAUBENBERGER, J. K., KASH, J. C. & MORENS, D. M. 2019. The 1918 influenza pandemic: 100 years of questions answered and unanswered. *Sci Transl Med*, 11.
- TAYLOR, D. N., TREANOR, J. J., STROUT, C., JOHNSON, C., FITZGERALD, T., KAVITA, U., OZER, K., TUSSEY, L. & SHAW, A. 2011. Induction of a potent immune response in the elderly using the TLR-5 agonist, flagellin, with a recombinant hemagglutinin influenza-flagellin fusion vaccine (VAX125, STF2.HA1 SI). Vaccine, 29, 4897-902.
- THOMPSON, M. G., NALEWAY, A., FRY, A. M., BALL, S., SPENCER, S. M., REYNOLDS, S., BOZEMAN, S., LEVINE, M., KATZ, J. M. & GAGLANI, M. 2016. Effects of Repeated Annual Inactivated Influenza Vaccination among Healthcare Personnel on Serum Hemagglutinin Inhibition Antibody Response to A/Perth/16/2009 (H3N2)-like virus during 2010-11. Vaccine, 34, 981-8.
- THOMPSON, W. W., SHAY, D. K., WEINTRAUB, E., BRAMMER, L., COX, N., ANDERSON, L. J. & FUKUDA, K. 2003. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *JAMA*, 289, 179-86.
- THRANE, S., AVES, K. L., UDDBACK, I. E. M., JANITZEK, C. M., HAN, J., YANG, Y. R., WARD, A. B., THEANDER, T. G., NIELSEN, M. A., SALANTI, A., THOMSEN, A. R., CHRISTENSEN, J. P. & SANDER, A. F. 2020. A Vaccine Displaying a Trimeric Influenza-A HA Stem Protein on Capsid-Like Particles Elicits Potent and Long-Lasting Protection in Mice. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 8.
- TONG, S., ZHU, X., LI, Y., SHI, M., ZHANG, J., BOURGEOIS, M., YANG, H., CHEN, X., RECUENCO, S., GOMEZ, J., CHEN, L. M., JOHNSON, A., TAO, Y., DREYFUS, C., YU, W., MCBRIDE, R., CARNEY, P. J., GILBERT, A. T., CHANG, J., GUO, Z., DAVIS, C. T., PAULSON, J. C., STEVENS, J., RUPPRECHT, C. E., HOLMES, E. C., WILSON, I. A. & DONIS, R. O. 2013. New world bats harbor diverse influenza A viruses. *PLoS Pathog*, 9, e1003657.
- TRETYAKOVA, I., HIDAJAT, R., HAMILTON, G., HORN, N., NICKOLS, B., PRATHER, R. O., TUMPEY,
   T. M. & PUSHKO, P. 2016. Preparation of quadri-subtype influenza virus-like particles using bovine immunodeficiency virus gag protein. *Virology*, 487, 163-71.

- TRETYAKOVA, I., PEARCE, M. B., FLORESE, R., TUMPEY, T. M. & PUSHKO, P. 2013. Intranasal vaccination with H5, H7 and H9 hemagglutinins co-localized in a virus-like particle protects ferrets from multiple avian influenza viruses. *Virology*, 442, 67-73.
- TRINCHIERI, G. 1994. Interleukin-12: a cytokine produced by antigen-presenting cells with immunoregulatory functions in the generation of T-helper cells type 1 and cytotoxic lymphocytes. *Blood*, 84, 4008-27.
- TRINCHIERI, G. & SCOTT, P. 1999. Interleukin-12: basic principles and clinical applications. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 238, 57-78.
- TURLEY, C. B., RUPP, R. E., JOHNSON, C., TAYLOR, D. N., WOLFSON, J., TUSSEY, L., KAVITA, U., STANBERRY, L. & SHAW, A. 2011. Safety and immunogenicity of a recombinant M2eflagellin influenza vaccine (STF2.4xM2e) in healthy adults. *Vaccine*, 29, 5145-52.
- VAGLIANI, M., RODOLFO, M., CAVALLO, F., PARENZA, M., MELANI, C., PARMIANI, G., FORNI, G.
   & COLOMBO, M. P. 1996. Interleukin 12 potentiates the curative effect of a vaccine based on interleukin 2-transduced tumor cells. *Cancer Res*, 56, 467-70.
- VANDERVEN, H. A. & KENT, S. J. 2020. The protective potential of Fc-mediated antibody functions against influenza virus and other viral pathogens. *Immunol Cell Biol*, 98, 253-263.
- VERNET, R., CHARRIER, E., COSSET, E., FIEVRE, S., TOMASELLO, U., GROGG, J. & MACH, N. 2021. Local Sustained GM-CSF Delivery by Genetically Engineered Encapsulated Cells Enhanced Both Cellular and Humoral SARS-CoV-2 Spike-Specific Immune Response in an Experimental Murine Spike DNA Vaccination Model. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 9.
- WADHWA, A., ALJABBARI, A., LOKRAS, A., FOGED, C. & THAKUR, A. 2020. Opportunities and Challenges in the Delivery of mRNA-based Vaccines. *Pharmaceutics*, 12.
- WALZ, L., KAYS, S. K., ZIMMER, G. & VON MESSLING, V. 2018. Neuraminidase-Inhibiting Antibody Titers Correlate with Protection from Heterologous Influenza Virus Strains of the Same Neuraminidase Subtype. *J Virol*, 92.
- WANG, B. Z., GILL, H. S., KANG, S. M., WANG, L., WANG, Y. C., VASSILIEVA, E. V. & COMPANS, R.
   W. 2012. Enhanced influenza virus-like particle vaccines containing the extracellular domain of matrix protein 2 and a Toll-like receptor ligand. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 19, 1119-25.
- WANG, L., HESS, A., CHANG, T. Z., WANG, Y. C., CHAMPION, J. A., COMPANS, R. W. & WANG, B.
   Z. 2014. Nanoclusters self-assembled from conformation-stabilized influenza M2e as broadly cross-protective influenza vaccines. *Nanomedicine*, 10, 473-82.
- WISE, H. M., HUTCHINSON, E. C., JAGGER, B. W., STUART, A. D., KANG, Z. H., ROBB, N., SCHWARTZMAN, L. M., KASH, J. C., FODOR, E., FIRTH, A. E., GOG, J. R., TAUBENBERGER, J. K. & DIGARD, P. 2012. Identification of a novel splice variant form of the influenza A virus M2 ion channel with an antigenically distinct ectodomain. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1002998.
- WU, F., HUANG, J. H., YUAN, X. Y., HUANG, W. S. & CHEN, Y. H. 2007. Characterization of immunity induced by M2e of influenza virus. *Vaccine*, 25, 8868-73.
- WU, N. C. & WILSON, I. A. 2020. Influenza Hemagglutinin Structures and Antibody Recognition. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med,* 10.
- YASSINE, H. M., BOYINGTON, J. C., MCTAMNEY, P. M., WEI, C. J., KANEKIYO, M., KONG, W. P., GALLAGHER, J. R., WANG, L., ZHANG, Y., JOYCE, M. G., LINGWOOD, D., MOIN, S. M.,

ANDERSEN, H., OKUNO, Y., RAO, S. S., HARRIS, A. K., KWONG, P. D., MASCOLA, J. R., NABEL, G. J. & GRAHAM, B. S. 2015. Hemagglutinin-stem nanoparticles generate heterosubtypic influenza protection. *Nat Med*, 21, 1065-70.

- YASSINE, H. M., MCTAMNEY, P. M., BOYINGTON, J. C., RUCKWARDT, T. J., CRANK, M. C., SMATTI, M. K., LEDGERWOOD, J. E. & GRAHAM, B. S. 2018. Use of Hemagglutinin Stem Probes Demonstrate Prevalence of Broadly Reactive Group 1 Influenza Antibodies in Human Sera. Sci Rep, 8, 8628.
- ZEBEDEE, S. L. & LAMB, R. A. 1988. Influenza A virus M2 protein: monoclonal antibody restriction of virus growth and detection of M2 in virions. *J Virol*, 62, 2762-72.
- ZHANG, A., STACEY, H. D., MULLARKEY, C. E. & MILLER, M. S. 2019. Original Antigenic Sin: How First Exposure Shapes Lifelong Anti-Influenza Virus Immune Responses. J Immunol, 202, 335-340.
- ZHENG, M., LUO, J. & CHEN, Z. 2014. Development of universal influenza vaccines based on influenza virus M and NP genes. *Infection*, 42, 251-62.
- ZHONG, W., REED, C., BLAIR, P. J., KATZ, J. M. & HANCOCK, K. 2014. Serum antibody response to matrix protein 2 following natural infection with 2009 pandemic influenza A(H1N1) virus in humans. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 209, 986-94.
- ZHOU, D., WU, T. L., LASARO, M. O., LATIMER, B. P., PARZYCH, E. M., BIAN, A., LI, Y., LI, H., ERIKSON, J., XIANG, Z. & ERTL, H. C. 2010. A universal influenza A vaccine based on adenovirus expressing matrix-2 ectodomain and nucleoprotein protects mice from lethal challenge. *Mol Ther*, 18, 2182-9.
- ZIMMERMAN, R. K., NOWALK, M. P., CHUNG, J., JACKSON, M. L., JACKSON, L. A., PETRIE, J. G., MONTO, A. S., MCLEAN, H. Q., BELONGIA, E. A., GAGLANI, M., MURTHY, K., FRY, A. M., FLANNERY, B., INVESTIGATORS, U. S. F. V. & INVESTIGATORS, U. S. F. V. 2016. 2014-2015 Influenza Vaccine Effectiveness in the United States by Vaccine Type. *Clin Infect Dis*, 63, 1564-1573.

## 7 VITAE

# **BO RYOUNG PARK**

Georgia State University Institute for Biomedical Sciences e-mail: bpark9@student.gsu.edu

### **Positions and Employment**

2017-2021	Georgia State University, Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.
	Research Assistant

- 2013-2017 **Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.** Research Assistant, Department of Physics
- 2007-2013 Yonsei University Health System, College of Dentistry, Seoul, KOREA Research and Teaching Assistant
- 2012-2013 International Journal of Oral Biology (IJOB), Seoul, KOREA Editorial Assistant
- 2005-2007 **Ab Frontier Co., Ltd (Lab Frontier), Seoul, KOREA** Research Scientist, Antibody QC team
- 2003-2005 **Ewha Women's University, Seoul, KOREA** Teaching Assistant, Department of Science Education

### **Education**

2017-2021	Georgia State University, Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.
	PhD, Translational Biomedical Sciences

- 2003-2005 **Ewha Women's University, Seoul, KOREA** MS, Department of Genetics in Life Sciences
- 1999-2003Ewha Women's University, Seoul, KOREABS, BBA, Double major in Biological Sciences and Business Administration

#### Honors and Awards

- 2018 Student Travel Award: 37th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Virology
- 2010 Best Employee Award: Yonsei University Health System, College of Dentistry
- 2010 Research Poster Presentation Award: Yonsei University, College of Dentistry
- 2003-2005 Student Assistant Scholarships from Ewha Women's University

# **Presentation**

- 2021 Poster Presentation at the American Society for Virology, Online
- 2020 Poster Presentation at the Georgia Bio, Online
- 2019 Poster Presentation at the American Society for Virology, Minnesota, MI, U.S.A
- 2018 Poster Presentation at the International Society for Vaccines, Atlanta, GA, U.S.A Poster Presentation at the American Society for Virology, College Park, MD, U.S.A
- 2017 Invited Oral Presentation at the Yonsei University, College of Dentistry, Seoul, Korea
- 2010 Poster Presentation at the Gordon Research Conference, Denver, U.S.A.
- 2010 Poster Presentation at the Yonsei Dental Symposium, Seoul, Korea

## Professional Memberships

2018-2021 American Society For Virology (ASV)

2007-2013 The Korean Academy of Oral Biology (membership)

2003 Women Into Science and Engineering (WISE)

## **Publications**

- Park BR, Kim KH, Kotomina T, Kim MC, Kwon YM, Jeeva S, Jung YJ, Bhatnagar N, Isakova-Sivak I, Mezhenskaya D, Rudenko L, Wang BZ, Kang SM. 2021. Broad cross protection by recombinant live attenuated influenza H3N2 seasonal virus expressing conserved M2 extracellular domain in a chimeric hemagglutinin. Sci Rep 11:4151.
- 2. Park BR , Jeeva S, Kim KH, Kwon YM, Oh J, Kim MC, Shin CH, Seong BL, Kang SM. 2021. Enhanced cross protection by hetero prime boost vaccination with recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric hemagglutinin-M2e epitopes. (2021, Under revision).
- **3. Park BR,** Chung H, Kim KH, Jeeva S, Bhatnagar N, Kang SM. 2021. Virus-like particles carrying influenza hemagglutinin is immunogenic and provide cross protection in young and aged mice (in preparation for submission)

(Papers published prior to PhD studies)

- **4. Park BR\*,** Coates J\*, Le D, Simsek E, Chaudhry W, Kim M. 2018. Antibiotic-induced population fluctuations and stochastic clearance of bacteria. Elife 7. (\*equal contribution)
- **5. Park BR\*,** Iyer S\*, Kim M. 2016. Absolute quantitative measurement of transcriptional kinetic parameters in vivo. Nucleic Acids Res 44:e142. (\*equal contribution)
- Park BR, Yang YM, Choi BJ, Kim MS, Shin DM. 2013. Activation of G Proteins by Aluminum Fluoride Enhances RANKL-Mediated Osteoclastogenesis. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 17:427-33.
- 7. Kim KH, Bhatnagar N, Jeeva S, Oh J, Park BR, Shin CH, Wang BZ, Kang SM. 2021. Immunogenicity and Neutralizing Activity Comparison of SARS-CoV-2 Spike Full-Length and Subunit Domain Proteins in Young Adult and Old-Aged Mice. Vaccines (Basel) 9.
- Kotomina T, Isakova-Sivak I, Kim KH, Park BR, Jung YJ, Lee Y, Mezhenskaya D, Matyushenko V, Kang SM, Rudenko L. 2020. Generation and Characterization of Universal Live-Attenuated Influenza Vaccine Candidates Containing Multiple M2e Epitopes. Vaccines (Basel) 8.

- 9. Kim KH, Jung YJ, Lee Y, **Park BR**, Oh J, Lee YN, Kim MC, Jeeva S, Kang SM. 2020. Cross protection by inactivated recombinant influenza viruses containing chimeric hemagglutinin conjugates with a conserved neuraminidase or M2 ectodomain epitope. Virology 550:51-60.
- Jung YJ, Lee YN, Kim KH, Lee Y, Jeeva S, Park BR, Kang SM. 2020. Recombinant Live Attenuated Influenza Virus Expressing Conserved G-Protein Domain in a Chimeric Hemagglutinin Molecule Induces G-Specific Antibodies and Confers Protection against Respiratory Syncytial Virus. Vaccines (Basel) 8.
- 11. Kang HJ, Chu KB, Lee DH, Lee SH, **Park BR**, Kim MC, Kang SM, Quan FS. 2019. Influenza M2 viruslike particle vaccination enhances protection in combination with avian influenza HA VLPs. PLoS One 14:e0216871.
- 12. Iyer S, Le D, **Park BR**, Kim M. 2018. Distinct mechanisms coordinate transcription and translation under carbon and nitrogen starvation in Escherichia coli. Nat Microbiol 3:741-748.
- 13. Phaiboun A, Zhang Y, **Park B**, Kim M. 2015. Survival kinetics of starving bacteria is biphasic and density-dependent. PLoS Comput Biol 11:e1004198.
- 14. Park KH, **Park B**, Yoon DS, Kwon SH, Shin DM, Lee JW, Lee HG, Shim JH, Park JH, Lee JM. 2013. Zinc inhibits osteoclast differentiation by suppression of Ca2+-Calcineurin-NFATc1 signaling pathway. Cell Commun Signal 11:74.
- 15. Choi YH, Lee SN, Aoyagi H, Yamasaki Y, Yoo JY, **Park B**, Shin DM, Yoon HG, Yoon JH. 2011. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase/ribosomal S6 protein kinase 1 cascade phosphorylates cAMP response element-binding protein to induce MUC5B gene expression via D-prostanoid receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 286:34199-214.
- 16. Song KJ, **Park B**, Kim SY, & Park KS. 2010. Molecular characterization of anionic defensin-like peptide in immune response of silkworm, Bombyx mori L. (Lepidoptera). Genes Genom 32:447-453.
- Hong JH, Hong JY, **Park B**, Lee SI, Seo JT, Kim KE, Sohn MH, Shin DM. 2008. Chitinase activates protease-activated receptor-2 in human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:530-5.